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Ease of purchase, 
responsible choices, services 
and products as you wish. 
With Wulff you will succeed!

THE 2020'S 
RESPONSIBLE WULFF     
WULFF – A BETTER WORLD ONE WORKPLACE AT A TIME 
What is the perfect working day and what do you need for it? How can you 
make more responsible choices, and how many small and big decisions affect 
you?

From Wulff you will find answers and supplies. We enable you to work in 
environments where businesses, entrepreneurs and employees operate. Each of 
us can influence to our day-to-day choices about the future and world we are 
building. That is why we are making more and more environmentally friendly 
and sustainable products available to our customers.

Nowadays, there is also a lot of work done outside of traditional offices: digi-
talisation gives a lot of options while working mobile puts demands on the work 
and the environment. We work at the office, at home, maybe while relaxing at 
a summer cottage dock, in a café, on the train, on the park bench, moving from 
place to place and meeting people. The workspace of the future may even be 
just the right mindset to do the work.

We offer the most broadest range of products in the industry that makes a work-
place work. What would you like? We offer our customers workplace prod-
ucts, catering solutions, facility management products and cleaning supplies, 
office and IT supplies, ergonomics, first aid, printing solutions, data management 
services and innovative products for worksites. Customers can also acquire inter-
national fair services from Wulff. In addition to Finland, Wulff Group operates in 
Sweden, Norway and Denmark. Check out our products and services at wulff.fi. 

 Let’s go for a perfect work day!
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Our customer Varma tells 



Wulff Annual Report 2019    5

Everyone at pension insurance company Varma can make a real difference with their choices, 
as the MiniBar at Varma´s corporate headquarters is increasingly green.

COLOURING THE WORK DAY 
WITH GREEN MINIBAR

The purchaser of office supplies at Varma 
is Tuula Koivu. She can tell from her 
experience, that Wulff and Varma have a 
20-year history of cooperation. The Min-
iBar for office supplies has been in use in 
Varma for as long as Koivu remembers 
and she has a career of 37 years.

Wulff's Office Supplies cabinet, MiniBar, 
works like it´s namesake in a hotel: the 
auto-fill service insures that employees al-
ways find shelves filled with, for example, 
office, IT, café and property maintenance 
products ready to use. MiniBar enables 
the company to focus on its core business 
and save costs and time.

Tuula Koivu is excited about to make 
Varma's MiniBar even greener.

“Varma has always been at the forefront 
of the wave in terms of green values. 
When we discover something new in 
ecological development, we immediately 
take it into account. In 2016, we intro-
duced the Green Office system to the 
company. Here at the top of a coal pile, 
I think it is natural for us to think about our 
carbon footprint, ” she laughs, referring 
to the location of Varma's headquarters 
in the carbon storage area of the former 
Salmisaari power plant in Helsinki.

Wulff´s  
Eko-Bag, for recycling 
of office supplies, is  
in well use at Varma. 

"I am very pleased that Wulff has more 
and more environmentally friendly 
products, which also can be found in 
the selection more easily. We have also 
looked at our operations in terms of car-
bon footprint and emissions: products are 
brought to us in one shipment, to avoid 
multiple transport times.”

For those in need of office supplies, it is 
easy to make a concrete, eco-friendly 
choice, as green products are labeled 
with shelf speakers that remind one of the 
ecological choice.
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Buyer Tuula Koivu (right)  
presents Varma headquarters
MiniBar to Wulff's Key  
Account Manager
Niina Satomäki (left).

 I am pleased
that Wulff now has 
even more
environmental
friendly products.
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PENSION INSURENCE COMPANY VARMA
• Varma is a pension insurer of Finnish work, a responsible investor and
 a pioneer in work ability management.
• There are more than 500 Varma employees.
• Climate change mitigation is a key responsibility objective for Varma.
 The aim is to modify the investment portfolio in accordance with the
 Paris Climate Convention. For example, the carbon footprint of equity   
 investments has become lighter 17% in three years.
• Varma owned properties reduce emissions by 17%
 over three years. The rental apartments use green electricity.
• Varma's Salmisaari office has received Green Office and BREEAM
 certifications. The office has its own solar power plant and green
 electricity. The garage has a charging capacity for about 240 electric
 and hybrid cars.

Niina has 
brought a nice touch 
to the collaboration 
with her personality! 
She can also
advise and suggest 
suitable products.

A NEAT POINT FOR WORKPLACE 
PRODUCTS IN A SMALL SPACE 
Wulff's Key Account Manager, Niina 
Satomäki, who has been in charge of 
Varma's MiniBar for six years, receives 
a special thank-you from Tuula: ”Niina 
in her personality has brought a nice 
touch to the collaboration! She can also 
advise and suggest suitable products 
for our range.” The MiniBar is ideal for 
every business. For example, at Varma's 
office, there is a 500-head user base for 
office products, so one would imagine 
that it would mean some kind of storage 
room full of supplies. However, the Varma 
MiniBar is neatly and practically fit on a 
couple of walls.

THE MINIBAR FITS EVERY BUSINESS 
PREMISES 
MiniBar products are designed to stream-
line everyday work - if you are looking for 
a new pen, you will find it. Larger and less 
frequently needed products are ordered 
electronically from Wulff. An Eko-Bag for 
recycling Wulff's office supplies is also 
in use at Varma. With the Green Office, 
there is also a replacement shelf for good 
shape office supplies.

Tuula and Niina agree that sustainable 
products are no longer just an option. 
The change in environmental thinking has 
clearly strengthened during Koivu's career 
and transparency has become increas-
ingly important in the product world. 
“Young people are somehow so aware 
of things. They may wonder, how can we 
have products or goods that they think are 
unecological.” Wulff's MiniBar has been 
around for years, but the green MiniBar 
was started at Varma. From there, Niina 
has duplicated the idea for her other 
clients.

At Varma, they want to increase the use 
of responsible products. “Why not to 
switch to green products if we can make 
that choice? It is often thought to be 
expensive, but since you can think more 
carefully about the range and eliminate 
unnecessary choices, it doesn't add much 
to the cost. ”

“At Varma, with office supplies it 
is easy to do a concrete environ-
mentally friendly act, as green 
products are pointed out with 
shelf speakers that remind one  
of ecological choices.

Wulff Better 
Products
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 It is a privilege to lead a 
company with good values. 
My own promise for 2020 is to 
develop Wulff 's operations plus 
my own responsibility in different 
situations. Better world is some-
thing we make together: when 
individuals, companies and 
communities choose better. 
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BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE WORKING LIFE

Elina Pienimäki 
CEO
Wulff Group Plc

In the fall 2019, I started as a CEO in a 
both familiar and renewed company; 
Wulff. The change was easy to spot after 
my two years of absence. I am proud for 
the development that Wulff has achieved. 
We are clearly heading towards the 
better world. 

The best values are those that are natu-
rally part of our daily routine. At Wulff, 
responsibility, environmental-friendly 
and sustainable thinking have constantly 
a greater impact on our choices and 
actions. I hear it in the ways we talk, I 
see it in the development of the product 
range and services and also in our sales 
figures. An increasing share of our prod-
ucts are responsible and eco-labeled. A 
good example of sustainable develop-
ment in practise are our customers, who 
have MiniBars with 100% responsible 
and sustainable products. MiniBar is 

one of the most popular ways to handle 
purchasing and availability of workplace 
products for employees. That is why it's 
great to see the change: customers de-
manding 100% green MiniBars.

POSITIVE RESULTS
Thank you to our customers for growing 
with us. The year 2019 ended with posi-
tive results. It's great that both our turnover 
and our operating profit increased. The 
numbers tell story of right choices and 
strong will to operate in the line with our 
strategy: it also proves us that our partners 
and customers believe that it is possible 
to make world better – one workplace 
at a time. In addition to developing our 
product and service portfolio, one of our  
most significant responsibility actions was 
to build our own solar power station to 
Finland. It is located on the roof of our 
headquarters is Kilo, Espoo. At 2020 
we will participate combating climate 
change also by compensating all our 
personnel’s carbon footprint by planting 
trees. 

CEO’s Review

WULFF´S OBJECTIVES

Net Sales: 
approx. 5-10% 
annual growth

Operating Profit:  
increasing comparable 

operating profit-%

Dividend: 
increasing 

dividend/share
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Net sales 
2019

EUR 56.3 million 

Operating 
profit 
2019

 EUR 1.7 million 

Dividend 
2019

EUR 0.11 
per share

RENEWABLE OR CHALLENGING 
MARKET?
Operating environment and the field 
for workplace products and services is 
strongly renewing, and demand for tra-
ditional office supplies is not expected to 
grow. Wulff's choice is not just about fo-
cusing on the emerging market, but to be 
active in creating new market itself. We 
are especially investing in new product 
groups and services as well as industry’s 
best customer and personnel experience. 
To support growth we are looking for op-
portunities to do acquisitions in line with 
our strategy. In 2019, we updated our 
medium and long-term financial goals: 
we look for an average of 5-10% a year 
revenue growth and growing compara-
ble the operating profit margin. Our goal
is also an increase in dividend  per share.

COMPETITIVENESS COMES FROM THE 
CHOICES WE MAKE AND ACTIONS 
WE DO
In a changing world, flexibility, courage 
to do experiments and the ability to inno-
vate are important qualities for a success-
ful company. What the company does 
and how it works can change dramatical-
ly and quickly. What things are important 
to keep as they are?

The answer is the company´s reason to 
exist, the significance. When the signif-
icance is strong, it is possible to evolve 
operations around it constantly. I believe 
our competitiveness will be strengthened 
still for these very reasons. We have 
always been ready to receive ideas and 
feedback and try something new, and 
at the same time, we firmly adhere to our 
mission. We will continue to develop our 
operations in Wulff Better Products, Wulff 
Lab and Wulff Digital projects. First two of 
the above will bring new products to our 
product portfolio, especially responsible 
products and services. Digital ability and 
a better customer experience is being 
developed in the Wulff Digital project. 
Wulff Academy is for developing your 
own skills and enabling every person to 
prosper; we are investing to training and 
coaching to have the best and most com-
mitted professionals working for Wulff.  

GOOD ENERGY AND DEVELOPING 
RESPONSIBILITY
2020 will be a good year for Wulff: de-
veloping both responsibility and growth. I 
believe that with good people and skilled 
professionals we will grow profitably. 
2020 is also a great year because of 
our anniversary! Wulff turns 130 years 

at the fall. Not too many companies 
can say that they have survived World 
War and Great Depression. Wulff can. 
We are celebrating our history, today 
and tomorrow with our customers and 
partners. Thank you for all of you; our 
customers, our partners, our personnel. 

Let's build more sustainable working 
life, together!
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THOMAS WULFF, PAPER STORE 
AND FAMILY 
It all started with good ideas and a small 
paper shop. Young, well-mannered 
man with enthusiasm and responsibility. 
Gained knowledge and experience from 
his unckle´s, Mr. Edlund's Publishing & 
Bookstore, Thomas Wulff plans carefully 
how to run the paper shop and gives 
the day-to-day business responsibility to 
his wife Augusta. Although today there 
are several hundred Wulff people, we 
are easily recognized as Wulff family. 
Providing the best customer experience 
is important to each of us, and it feels, 
shows and is part of everything we do.

The 130-year-old tells:

 HOW THE SPIRIT OF WULFF 
WAS BORN

The atmosphere is one of the most precious and delicate items to keep in life changes. 
Wulff's good mood, Wulff spirit, has been successfully transported with people for 130 years, 

decade to decade. How do we do that?

It all started with a paper shop
Announcement August 23, 1890 in  
Uusi Suometar newspaper.

See you at Wulff's Corner 
The Wulff Corner, Wulffin kulma, of the early 20th 
century was known until the 1960s as a meeting 
place for celebrities. Do you recognize the place 
from Esplanade Street in Helsinki?

Wulff turns 130 years on 23.8.2020. Welcome to celebrate with us! See wulff.fi for more information. For more of our fascinating history, read our 
Wulff Stories blog (in Finnish) by Wulff's own historian and Wulffinkulma.fi webshop host Sari Suonpää at wulff.fi.

SIX MARKS AND TEN PENNIES
From the start, it is clear to Thomas Wulff 
that to be able to provide the best service 
and quality products to its customers, the 
company has to make results. Wulff has 
always pursued profitable growth - and 
succeeded, too. This is how it has been 
able to take care both the customers, staff 
and partners; and invest in development. 
The first day sales at Wulff's paper store in 
August 1890 is six marks and ten pennies, 
four months later, on Christmas Eve, sales 
were already over 100 marks. Succes-
fulness gives us opportunities to build 
future success and to offer our customers 
something new.

ORA E LABORA
Pray and work - Ora e labora - was 
Thomas Wulff's favorite statement. It tells 
of the commitment that Thomas Wulff 
had for his company and which he suc-
cessfully passed on. We Wulff people  
have strong common values. We are 
not just working, we are building a more 
sustainable working life. 130 years ago 
entrepreneurship and value-based 
commitment was condensed into a Latin 
utterance, today we at Wulff say:  
A better world - one workplace at a 
time.
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Wulff sees 
responsibility thinking as 
the most significant change 
in its operating environ- 
ment and an opportunity 
to build competitiveness.
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A RENEWABLE OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

In the Nordic countries, trade demand 
follows the general economic trend. Fin-
land's GDP is projected to grow by about 
1% in 2020. The market in which Wulff 
operates was long known as the office 
supplies market. As the world and ways 
of working have changed, it has become 
necessary to reform the terminology 
in the industry, and Wulff uses the term 
workplace products and services. As the 
business field evolves, purchasing needs 
and habits will evolve. The traditional 
office supplies market has been in decline 
for a long time, with digital replacements 
for pens, paper and notebooks, for exam-
ple. As the nature of work changes and 
companies compete for the best and most 
productive talent, much greater emphasis 
will be placed, among other things, on 
improved work ergonomics, comfort and 
safety.

Wulff estimates that the size of the market 
(EUR/ year) has remained roughly the 
same for several years. The field’s annual 
market size is approximately EUR 400 
million in Finland, EUR 700 million in Swe-
den, EUR 450 million in Norway and 

EUR 400 million in Denmark. The Nordic 
market is very uniform in terms of number 
of customers, purchasing behaviour and 
demand for products. 

The field’s market has been traditionally 
very fragmented. Entering the market 
is easy and that is why many small com-
panies are operating in the field. Several 
companies enter and leave the market 
every year. In recent years, the industry 
has also seen a few takeovers. 

Wulff believes that the future of the indus-
try will be in the hands of companies like 
itself and bigger players. Wulff estimates 
that the consolidation development will 
be intense and company takeovers will 
continue in the future. 

The marketplace competes for the sale 
and manufacture of workplace products, 
office and IT supplies, sales promotion 
products and ergonomics, first aid and 
wellbeing products. Wulff's operating 
environment is broader than the traditional 
arena, because Group also serves to 
international exhibition and trade fair ser-
vices and building products and services.

Megatrends also affect Wulff's 
operations (Sitra 2020)

Population
aging and

diversify

Environment
as a resource or
improving the state 
of the enviroment?

Work and
consumption
change

Technology
blends in 

everything
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In the future, responsibility before profitability 
creates profitability. 

Wulff’s main operating areas are Finland, 
Sweden, Norway, and Denmark. In 
Finland, the Group is the industry mar-
ket leader and strong innovator. For the 
Scandinavian market leadership Wulff 
faces competition from international cor-
porate giants, e.g. Staples and Lyreco.

Wulff’s competitors consist of unlisted 
small and medium-sized companies 
in all market sectors. The Group has 
approximately ten significant competi-
tors in Finland. Wulff Oy Ab’s Contract 
Customer concept faces competition from 
Staples (before Oy Lindell Ab), Lyreco 
(before Officeday Finland Oy), and RCK 
Finland (former Paperipalvelu). In the 
Scandinavian contract customer market, 
Wulff Supplies faces competition from 
Staples and Lyreco. Wulff’s expertise 
sales companies compete of the market 
share with for example Canncolor Group 
and Oy Rahmqvist Ab. 

Wulff Entre is the Group’s international 
trade show expert providing premium 
exhibition services around the world. Ex-
hibitions are seasonal, therefore the ma-
jority of sales is generated in the second 
and last quarter of the year. In addition, 

Wulff Entre’s sales and operations is 
influenced by trade show frequency, as 
many international exhibitions only occur 
every two or sometimes three years. Wulff 
Entre’s competitors are international event 
production and marketing agencies, 
exhibition producers, trade show service 
houses, and stand builders, mainly locat-
ed in Scandinavia, Holland, Poland and 
Germany.

FOR COMPANIES, ENTREPRENEURS, 
AND COMMUNITIES
The products sold by Wulff are used 
throughout the year. Demand is contin-
uous and seasonal, for example in the 
areas of data storing solutions, cafeteria 
and catering, facility management, toner 
cartridges, paper and cleaning products. 
Demand is influenced by the general 
economic situation. For example, as 
large companies hire more white-collar 
workers, consumption will increase. Some 
products have a very long life cycle, for 
example ergonomic products can last for 
decades. Sales of promotional and gift 
items have traditionally been seasonal, 
with emphasis on the second and fourth 
quarters of the year. Nowadays, gifts 
and promotional items are increasingly 

an integral part of corporate marketing 
communications and are an important 
part of communicating company values. 
Intangible gifts are also becoming more  
popular, which is why traditional business 
Christmas and summer gift items will no 
longer appear in the same season as 
previously.

The significant change in consumerism 
seen in the Nordic economy in recent 
decades also affects how Wulff sees the 
opportunity to build success and growth. 
It is estimated that entrepreneurship will 
become more widespread and that 
more and more will be self-employed 
in the future, selling their own expertise. 
The trend is already visible, for example, 
with the rise of "light entrepreneurship". It 
is important for Wulff to be a flexible and 
agile company that responds to market 
changes and has the courage and ca-
pacity to innovate and provide services 
to companies of all sizes.

RESPONSIBLE GROWTH
Wulff's most important change in the 
operating environment is the growing im-
portance of responsibility thinking and val-
ue-based partner selection. The company 

builds its future growth and competitiveness 
around responsible, ethical and environ-
mentally friendly products and services.

Wulff's goal is to develop its own opera-
tions, customer operations and the indus-
try itself. It wants to influence the operating 
environment and values. For example, in 
terms of technological progress, the world 
has changed more in the last 30 years 
than in the previous 300 years. You can 
expect bigger and faster digital leaps. 
Those who are able to take advantage of 
development and are leading the change 
succeed in the industry.

SIGNIFICANCE BUILDS 
COMPETITIVENESS
When competing only with the price, you 
have already lost the competition. Rele-
vance plays an important role: companies 
want to partner with organizations with 
which they share the values with. Products 
and services have to do more than solve 
everyday problems. Their footprint on the 
world and society, such as their impact on 
the environment, are important criteria for 
decision-making. Future success is also built 
at Wulff through continuous development of 
customer experience and own operations.
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Time is valuable for 
the companies, entrepreneurs 
and experts: developing and 
taking care of your core 
business is the focus area. 
Focusing on the important 
issues is easy when you have 
Wulff as a partner. 
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WULFF – A BETTER WORLD ONE 
WORKPLACE AT A TIME
Our daily decisions matter: they have an 
impact to the future. What kind of world 
are we building together? Wulff’s goal is 
to build sustainable working life, together 
with its customers ja cooperation partners. 
What we need for the more sustainable 
future? Lots of small and big, an most 
importantly, continuously better acts for 
better world. We believe it is possible to 
create a better world, one choice and 
one workplace at a time. 

Nowadays, it is more often that work 
effects significantly to our holistic wellbe-
ing. We also are to work more versatile 
and flexible ways. Employers strive for 
enabling meaningful and rewarding 
workdays. That is why companies are 
willing to invest in working environments, 
conditions and equipments. Company 
statements and opinions concerning im-
portant issues are required. What is your 
company standing for? Wulff has made 
a choice to be and act more and more 
responsible. 

STRATEGY AND BUSINESS

RESPONSIBILITY LEADING THE WAY
To act more responsible way is possible 
when you have the right information and 
key performance indicators. Wulff has in-
vested for providing information, develop-
ing key performance indicators and open 
and active communication. Customers 
need to be aware of the impact of their 
procurements and actions. For example 
Wulff’s Contract Customers receive exact 
information of their product and service 
assortment and how it has developed. 
Key performance indicators for devel-
oping the product range are actions for 
reducing carbon dioxide emissions and 
the share and growth of the number of 
responsible and environmental friendly 
workplace products. Wulff’s logistic part-
ner in Finland is Posti and all the emissions 
are compensated. However, Wulff feels 
that it is not enough to only compensate: 
it is important to actively advise and show 
the way to operate as low-emission as 
possible. 

Wulff Group operates in Finland, Sweden,  
Norway and Denmark. The local headquarters are 
in Espoo, Finland;  Oslo, Norway, and Nyköping, 
Sweden. The heart of logistics are in Akaa, Finland 

and Ljungby, Sweden in Scandinavia. Wulff receives 
good feedback from customers that they will be met 

there,where they do their work, all over Finland.
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WULFF 
BETTER PRODUCTS

New category to greener 
more sustainable products 

and solutions. Solutions that 
have a positive effect on 

people, the environment and 
the world. 

WULFF ACADEMY

Wulff Academy ensures that 
all Wulff’s employees have 
the skills and know-how that 
the company needs to be the 

industry pioneer and best 
sales company in the Nordic 

countries. 

Asiakaskokemuksen kehit-
täminen ja laadun paran-

taminen Wulffin digitaalista 
kyvykkyyttä lisäämällä. 

New channels to 
increase customer 

awareness and Wulff’s 
reputation, reach new and 

potential customers.  

WULFF MARKETING 
& COMMUNICATIONS

Developing customer 
experience and quality 
by increasing Wulff’s 
digital capabilities.  

WULFF DIGITALWULFF LAB

Wulff Lab tracks, 
innovates and develops 

new products for Wulff to-
gether with customers and 

suppliers.

WULFF’S STRATEGY PROJECTS

BUILDING RESPONSIBILITY WITH 
STRAGEGY PROJECTS 
Wulff’s product and service assortment is 
strongly developing to be more respon-
sible. Wulff Better Products and Wulff Lab 
projects guarantee that Wulff will bring 
even more environmentally friendly and 
sustainable products to customers. Ethics, 
responsibility, and impact on the envi-
ronment are important selection criteria 
for products and services now and in the 
future. In addition to functional qualities, 
people want the products to do good. In 
developing the product and service range, 
it is taken into account that the growth of 
mobile work and working in new environ-
ments will increase, and information work 
and work done by experts will continue to 
account for an ever-increasing part of all 
labour. Information work strains the body 

and mind in different ways compared to 
physical labour. The population is ageing 
and people will continue to work even 
older and longer. 

Responsibility and thinking environmental 
friendly have a significant role at Wulff’s 
strategy projects: Wulff  Academy includes 
orientation and training programs and key 
performance indicators for daily opera-
tions. These programs and KPI:s guarantee 
that personnel has the required expertise 
now and in the future. Wulff Digital Project 
builds the digital competence and pioneer 
position. All above, with committed per-
sonnel and strong mission and a common 
goal, we build the best customer expe-
rience with the mission to make a better 
world. 

STRIVING FOR THE PERFECT 
WORKDAY 
What do you need for a perfect work-
day? An environment that is more com-
fortable, healthier, safer, more enjoyable, 
more active and more diverse. Regardless 
of where you work. For example, good 
lighting and indoor air, the opportunity to 
work ergonomically and without strain-
ing the body, and using the best tools 
and equipment needed in information 
work from printing solutions to pencils, 
notebooks and usb sticks to your liking, 
headphones for open offices, sustainable 
coffee mugs, or personal back support. 
A lot of new, a lot of familiar. With Wulff, 
you can make the everyday a bit smooth-
er - feel and do well at work and enjoy 
easy purchases. 

Wulff is developing its services the way 
its customers see is important. Good 
example of listening to customers is 
Canon Business Center, company Wulff 
acquired in 2018. Canon Business Center 
provides printing, large-format printing, ICT 
outsourcing services and data outsourcing 
services at metropolitan area in Finland. 
Printing as service is popular nowadays, 
owning equipment is not. The amount of 
information work is growing all the time; 
so is the need for document and data 
management services.

Also Wulff Catering, which was piloted 
two years ago, is a good example of 
Wulff making the customer’s wishes true. 
Coffee products have long been a part of 
Wulff's product range and coffee is one 
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of Wulff's best-selling products. In addition 
to snacks, fresh and high-quality offerings 
are wanted. Wulff now offers its customers 
high quality and domestic conference 
and meeting services in the capital region 
through Wulff Catering. As a partner at 
Wulff Catering, we have a caterer that 
serves with Chef Rôtisseur -level. 

MULTICHANNEL PARTNER
Wulff brings to market new, innovative 
solutions, services and product areas as 
well as individual products, up to date. 
It is also very effective operator when 
the basic office and workplace products 
are needed. With Wulff’s solutions it is 
possible to create more sustainability, 
work more cost-effective way and add 
efficiency to procurement. Wulff offers its 
customers the opportunity to do business 
in the most convenient channel for them, 
whether it is a customer-specific service 
model, personal meetings, an online 
webshop or a store. 

COMPLEMENTARY SERVICE MODELS 
The Contract Customer concept makes 
it easier for customers to make regular 
purchases, while Expertise Sales offers lo-
cal and personal service to companies of 
all sizes. Common to the both concepts is 
the idea of offering the company’s com-
petence to customers. Comprehensive 
service promotes customer satisfaction 
and continuation of customer relation-
ships. One of today’s most important 
business channels is the internet. Contract 
Customers are served more widely on the 
internet with customized solutions and the 

use of web services is constantly growing. 
Especially micro, small, and medium size 
companies are served online with the 
webshop Wulffinkulma.fi that has reached 
new customers continuously. Possibilities 
brought about by digitalization are in an 
important role when we develop tomor-
row’s operations. 

The customers are served personally by 
approx. 200 business-to-business sales 
professionals and also at Wulff's stores 
in Helsinki, Turku and Lahti. In addition to 
versatile customer specific services, the 
Group serves its customers online with the 
webshop wulffinkulma.fi. 

EFFICIENT DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL 
FOR HIGH QUALITY SERVICES AND 
PRODUCTS
Wulff Group is a significant partner for its 
cooperation companies. The Group is a 
desired distribution channel for suppliers’ 
new products and solutions. Through the 
nationwide organizations, for example 
novelties can be launched to the custom-
ers quickly and personally. The growing 
Group is able to provide its customers 
with an even wider range of services and 
price advantages. The Group constantly 
gathers feedback and information from 
companies, as well as from the people 
who use the products and services daily. 
In addition to being used to develop 
Wulff’s own operations, the feedback is 
used by Wulff’s suppliers: usually the best 
ideas for development and new products 
come from customers. 

CONTRACT CUSTOMERS 
 

Wulff Contract Customers: workplace products as service 

(WulffNet, MiniBar and Cabinet Service) 

Wulff Stores: workplace products for small and medium size companies 

and consumers (Helsinki, Turku, Lahti) 

Wulffinkulma.fi: workplace products webshop for small and micro compa-

nies as well as consumers 

WIP Wulff: personilized products, special products, tailored solutions and 

f.ex. business card service 

Wulff Entre: international fair services; project management and design 

Canon Business Center metropolitan area: printing, large-format printing, 

ICT outsourcing services and data outsourcing services 

Wulff Catering: meeting and event catering, hand made Finnish tastes in 

metropolitan area 

EXPERTISE SALES 
 

Wulff Care: first aid solutions, products and training 

Wulff Ergonomics: workplace ergonomics and solutions and services for  

workplace well-being 

Wulff Innovations: innovations and novelties for easier every day life 

Wulff Naxor: professional solutions for post-treatment of paper and unique

products for worksites and real estates
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Wulff makes a 
better choice when 
possible
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Responsibility is part of Wulff's strategy. 
It is reflected in our actions and decisions. 
One of the most significant improvements 
in our own operations in 2019 was the 
establishment of a solar power plant 
onthe roof of our headquarters in Kilo, 
Espoo.  The power plant produces about 
90 MWh of electricity annually. 
 
In the spring of 2020, Wulff employees 
will once again be able to leave a green 
mark on the planet. Wulff staff will be 
planting trees with Savotta Forestry 
Association in Northern Savonia. With the 
tree planting act we will neutralize the 
annual carbon footprint of all Wulff 
workers.
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NETWORKING IS A PART OF 
BUSINESS 
InterACTION is an important network 
for Wulff Group and the leading whole-
saler association in the field. All member 
companies are leading companies in 
their native countries. The members of 
InterACTION meet regularly to coordi-
nate joint purchases and share knowl-
edge and skills in sales, marketing, and 
logistics. For example, InterACTION 
companies exchange information about 
bestselling products in different countries. 
Wulff benefits directly from the market 
and product information it receives. The 
joint purchasing organization has its own 
international brand called Q-Connect. 
The high-quality Q-Connect products are 
also included in Wulff Group’s product 
range. Number of Q-Connect products in 
Wulff's assortment is growing continiously 
because of the increasing demand and 
popularity of the products among Wulff's 
customers. 

MARKET SITUATION AND FUTURE 
OUTLOOK
Wulff is the most significant Nordic player 
in its field. Its aim is to lead the way, 
renew the field and be at the forefront 
of change. Wulff believes that the role 
of values and sustainability will come 

  Mission
We make the world a better place, 
one workplace at a time.

  Customer promise
We help companies create better 
working environments and working 
days.

  Goal
A perfect workday.

WULFF’S 
STRATEGY

to have an increasingly important part 
in sourcing decisions and companies’ 
business partner selections in the future. 
With its new strategy, Wulff will build its 
competitiveness and make sure that it can 
offer customers what they want: solutions 
for making the everyday work life smooth-
er and the world better one workplace 
at a time. The market traditionally under-
stood as the office supplies changes and 
develops rapidly. Competition is tough in 
the traditional market and the new market 
has a lot of opportunities. Wulff believes 
that the future is bright due to the strong, 
constantly developing new strategy, its 
active customer and partner networks, 
and its professional, committed personnel. 
The Group has an ongoing readiness to 
carry out new strategic acquisitions. As 
a listed company, Wulff is in a good posi-
tion to be a more active player than its 
competitors in business acquisitions.

The developing economic situation ena-
bles Wulff’s business to develop positive-
ly. Wulff estimates that the comparable 
operating profit of 2020 will increase 
from 2019. In the industry, it is typical that 
the result and cash flow are generated in 
the last quarter.

WULFF STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS

OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCY

SALES 
EXCELLENCE

MULTI- 
CHANNEL

CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE
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Wulff as a partner 
in workplace products 
procurement, customer 
can grow their own 
responsibility.
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RESPONSIBLE WULFF

Wulff 's operations
lean on the following

values:

Customer orientation

Effectiveness

Entrepreneurship

CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY
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At the heart of responsible business 
Wulff has a customer.

Is your company already using 
Wulff's popular Eko-Bag? 

Wulff Eko-Bag makes recycling 
easy! With Wulff Recycling Eko-
Bag customers can recycle prod-
ucts made from different materials. 
When the bag is full, the pick-up 

is ordered from Posti and products 
are forwarded for recycling and 
reuse. Wulff Eko-Bag is free of 
charge service for customers!
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SOCIETAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Do good with returnable 
recycling boxes 

With the help of returnable 
recycling boxes, the recycling and 
returning of toner color cartridges, 

soft drink bottles, batteries and 
waste from electric and electronic 

equipment (WEEE) is managed 
quickly and easily.  Wulff’s 

recycling boxes are a free service!

The Group's financial success enables 
responsible and sustainable develop-
ment of business.  Wulff's goal in all its 
operating countries is to add value to its 
stakeholders: customers, suppliers and 
employees. For its shareholders, Wulff 
creates value e.g. through dividends and 
share value increase. Wulff’s goal is to 
pay its shareholders dividends of 50% of 
the net result. The Board of Directors has 
proposed to the Annual General Meet-
ing to be held on April 2, 2020, that a 
dividend of EUR 0.11 per share be paid. 
In 2019 the Group paid interests of EUR 
0.2 million to their financial institutions.

A RESPONSIBLE AGENT
Wulff feels that it is important to have a 
positive impact on the environment and 
organisations it is working with. Wulff 
works with a variety of people: sales 
people beginning their career to people 
with a long career. The need for personal 
training for each employee will be evalu-
ated separately. For example, for working 
in sales, you get a huge amount of good 
knowledge in studies, and the best way to 
learn a job is by doing it.

Wulff has received a lot of praise 
from students, colleges, interns and the 
employment center for giving the op-
portunity to gain hands-on experience 
on genuine customer situations. Wulff 
also considers important to maintain and 
develop working life skills - the company 
offers opportunities also for those who 
are thinking about a new profession, for 
work experimenters, for people in need of 
coaching and for rehabilitation. We work 
with many educational institutions and 
offer a working life experience for people 
from different backgrounds and living in 
different states of life, such as trainees 
from educational institutions.

MOTIVATED STAFF
Every Wulff employee takes responsibility 
for their activities in a holistic way and 
also ensures that their own partners and 
contacts operate to Wulff standards.

As a sales company, Wulff’s key resource 
is its skilled and committed personnel. 
Growth is always created by healthy, 
professional, and motivated personnel. 
Wulff’s personnel are trained actively. In 
addition to sales skills and their own pro-
fessional expertise and company values, 
the staff coaching themes are profes-
sional conveyance and active feedback 
The aim at Wulff is to make a positive 
influence on every customer encounter 
and develop every Wulff employee even 
better at leading themselves and their 
own work. Everyone's expertise and skills 

are needed in serving the customers in 
a best possible way. On average, there 
were 12 training and coaching days in 
2019 per person. In addition to coaching 
and training the well-being of the staff is 
taken care of by organizing recreational 
activities and campaigns as well as offer-
ing a variety free or company-sponsored 
sports and cultural opportunities.
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Sales support
43%

Sales
57% Women

48%
Men
52%

Over 60-
year old 

6%

51-60-
year old 

30%

41-50
year old 

32%

36-40-
year old 

12% 

30-35-
year old 

13% 

Under  30-
 year old

7% 
Norway

8%

Sweden
25% Finland

67%

Lorem ipsum

CAREER AT WULFF
Wulff offers its employees good oppor-
tunities to grow and develop at their own 
work. For example, most of the subsidiar-
ies’ Managing Directors have started their 
careers as sales persons.

As a Scandinavian company, Wulff also 
offers a possibility to create an interna-
tional career. Wulff is in many ways an 

equal employer: it employs people of all 
ages and with different educational and 
work experience backgrounds. While 
many companies focus their business 
operations in the capital city area, Wulff 
can offer vacancies in numerous locations 
around its operating countries. In order 
to strengthen organic sales growth, the 
Group lays a strong focus on the recruit-
ment of the sales personnel. Wulff wants 

to hire new expertise sales personnel in 
all of its operating countries.

PERSONNEL STRUCTURE
In 2019, the Group employed approxi-
mately 198 (191) persons. At the end of 
the financial year, 200 (191) were em-
ployed by the Group, of which 67 (61) 
worked in Sweden, Norway, or
Denmark. The majority, approximately 

57% (54), of the Group’s personnel works 
in sales operations and 43% (46) of the 
employees work in sales support, logistics 
and administration. The personnel consists 
48% (45) of women and 52% (55) of 
men.

Personnel by countries
Of the Group’s personnel, over half work 
in Finland, approximately 25% in Sweden, 
and 8% in Norway. The Group is continu-
ously on the lookout for new sales talents in 
all of its operating countries.

Gender
The Wulff Group is an equal employer.
48% of its personnel are women and
52% are men. People with different
educational and work experience
backgrounds work in sales, administra-
tion, and logistics. At Wulff, everyone
receives training for their job and the
most important thing is the right attitude
and willingness to learn. 

Age
The Wulff Group employs both young 
people who are just beginning their
careers and those who already possess 
lots of experience. Wulff is both a tradi-
tional and a dynamic organization, and 
for that reason it attracts different kinds
of people.

Sales/administration and logistics
In Wulff Group everyone’s objective is to 
serve our customers in the best possible 
way. Approximately 57% of the personnel 
work in sales and about 43% in sales 
support, administration and logistics.
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Substantial education, experience and positions of trust: 
•Wulff Group Plc, Chairman of the Board 9/2017–4/2019
•Wulff Group Plc, Board Member since 1999
•Alekstra Ltd, Board Member 2010–2014
•Suomen Rader Ltd, Naxor Finland Ltd, and Visual Globe Ltd,
 Managing Director 1994–2008
•Akro Ltd, Sales Manager 1990–1994
•Oy Eric Rahmqvist Ab, Sales Manager 1984–1989
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 1,171,825 Wulff shares representing 

17.0% of the company’s shares and votes. 

Ari Pikkarainen 

b. 1958

Board Member

Responsibilities: sales and its development

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust:
•Qualification in Business and Administration
•House Asunnot Europe Plc, Chairman of the Board since 6/2019
•Wulff Group Plc, Chairman of the Board since 4/2019
•Wulff Group Plc, Board Member since 4/2018
•InHunt World, Chairman of the Board since 8/2017
•InHunt Group, CEO since 12/2014
•InHunt Group, Partner/ Headhunter since 2012
•GT Design Oy, CEO, Chairman of the Board, 10/2004–2011
•Securitas Direct Oy, Sales Director 4/2004–10/2004
•Leo Longlife Group Ltd, Sales Director 1991–2004
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 3,706 Wulff shares representing 

0.1% of the company’s shares and votes. 

Kari Juutilainen
b. 1966

Chairman of the Board 
Responsibilities: Sales Development and 

management coaching

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust:
•Aalto University, Master of Science in Business Administration, 

Finance, since 2019
•Aalto University, Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, 

Finance, 2016-2019
•PwC, Trainee since 10/2019
•Wulff Group Plc, Board Member since 4/2018
•Smart Perintä Ltd, CEO since 2015
•PYN Fund Management, Trainee 6/2017–9/2017
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 21,070 Wulff shares 

representing 0.3% of the company’s shares and votes. 

Jussi Vienola 
b. 1995

Board Member 

Responsibilities: Finance

Kristina Vienola 
b. 1996

Board Member 

Communications and Marketing

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust:
•Turku School of Economics at the University of Turku, Marketing, 2015–2020
•Azets Oy, Customer Success Trainee since 11/2019
•Parcero Oy, Project Management Trainee 1/2019–6/2019
•Wulff Group Plc, Board Member since 4/2018
•Wulff Group Plc, Accounting Assistant 5/2017–8/2017
•Marketing Agency OFRD Ltd, Sales Promoter 5/2016–5/2017
•Liq Oy, Sales Representative 6/2016–7/2016
•Arena Center Oy, Summer Camp Counselor 6/2014–6/2014
•Arena Center Oy, Cafeteria Helper 6/2013–7/2013
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 24,670 Wulff shares 

representing 0.4% of the company’s shares and votes.

Information about the Board members and their related parties and share ownership has been published on the Group’s Investors’ pages in the Board and Corporate Governance section. 
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GROUP EXECUTIVE BOARD

Substantial education and experience and positions of trust: 
•Master of Science in Economics
•IFES (International Federation of Exhibition and Event Services) Board 

Member since 1/2019
•Wulff Group Plc, Executive Board Member since 10/2014 
•Wulff Entre Ltd, CEO since 8/2014
•Wulff Entre Ltd, Sales Director, VP 2011–2014
•Wulff Entre Marketing 2007–2011
•Easy Doing Oy / Salli Systems, Marketing Manager, North American sales 

2004–2007 
•Sales Expomark / KP-Media Ltd 2001–2004
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 0 shares.

Ninni Arion 
b. 1978

Wulff Entre Ltd CEO,  
Executive Board Member
Responsibilities: CEO of Wulff Entre,  
Executive Board Member

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust: 
•Wulff Group Plc, Executive Board Member since 2011
•Wulff Supplies AB, Managing Director since 2009
•Strålfors, various positions 1998–2009, Member of Management  

Group, and Scandinavian Director in Supplies business area 
2006–2009 

•Strålfors Norway, Managing Director 2002–2006 
•3M, Sales and Marketing Manager 1986–1998
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 0 shares.

Trond Fikseaunet 
b. 1963

Wulff Supplies AB’s Managing Director, 
Executive Board Member
Responsibilities: Wulff Supplies AB’s management, 
development of Scandinavia’s Contract 
Customer operations 

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust: 
•Specialist Qualification in Marketing Communications
•NLP Trainer, NLP Coach, CxO Certified Business Mentor
•Wulff Group Plc, Executive Board Member since 2009
•Wulff Group Plc, Communications and Marketing Director since 2009
•Wulff Group Plc, Communications Manager/Brand Manager since 2002
•Era Nova Bookshop Oy, Chairman of the Board since 2/2018
•Finnish NLP Association, Chairman of the Board since 2017
•Finnish NLP Association, Board Member 2007–2017
•Vista Communication Instruments Ltd, Office Manager 2001–2002
•Previta Ltd, Communications Manager 2000–2001
•Beltton Group, Brand Manager 1999–2000
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 1,600 Wulff shares  

representing 0.0% of the company’s shares and votes.

Tarja Törmänen 
b. 1974

Communications and Marketing  
Director, Executive Board Member 
Responsibilities: Communications, Marketing 
and HR as well as their development

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust: 
•Wulff Group Plc, Executive Board Member since 2004
•Wulff Group Plc, Head of Expertise Sales Scandinavia since 2012
•Beltton Svenska AB, Managing Director since 1997
•Beltton Svenska, Country Manager 1993–1998
•Liftpoolen AB, Managing Director and Partner 1990–1993
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 66,000 Wulff shares 

representing 1.0% of the company’s shares and votes.

Veijo Ågerfalk 
b. 1959

Wulff Beltton Managing Director,  
Executive Board Member
Responsibilities: Expertise Sales  
Scandinavia and its development

Substantial education, experience and positions of trust: 
•Master of Science in Forestry
•APA-Auditor 2011
•Wulff Group Plc, CFO and Secretary of the Board of Directors since 9/2017
•Citycon Group, Financial Controller 1/2016–9/2017
•Verkkokauppa.com Group, Financial Manager 5/2013–1/2016
•Deloitte, Auditor 1/2008–5/2013
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 0 shares.

Elina Hanén 
b. 1982

Wulff Group Plc Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
Executive Board Member  
Responsibilities: Finance, Investor  
Communications, Secretary of the Board

Elina Pienimäki 
b. 1979

Wulff Group Plc CEO, 
Chairman of the Executive Board   
Responsibilities: Wulff Group Plc’s CEO

Substantial education and experience and other significant positions:
•Master of Science in Economics
•Wulff Group Plc CEO since 9/2019
•Aallon Group Ltd CEO 2018–2019
•Ahlsell Ltd CFO 2017–2018
•Wulff Group Plc CFO 2014–2017 and interim CEO 2016–2017
•Deloitte & Touche Ltd auditor (APA) 2011–2014
•Other financial management functions 2002–2011
•Wulff ownership as of December 31, 2019: 0 shares.

The former Wulff Group Plc CEO Heikki Vienola acted as the Chairman of the 

Wulff GroupPlc Executive Board until October 18, 2019. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Wulff Group Plc is a Nordic listed company 
and the most significant Nordic player in 
office supplies. Wulff sells and markets office 
supplies, IT supplies and ergonomics. Its 
service range also includes international fair 
services. In addition to Finland, Wulff operates 
in Sweden, Norway and Denmark. The 
Group also serves its customers online with a 
webshop for office supplies at wulffinkulma.fi.

Wulff Group Plc’s corporate governance is 
based on Finnish legislation, such as the Limit-
ed Liability Companies Act, Securities Market 
Act, the regulations concerning the companies 
in the Helsinki Stock Exchange, and regu-
lations regarding corporate governance of 
public listed companies, as well as the Articles 
of Association. Wulff Group Plc adheres 
also to the Securities Market Association’s 
Finnish Corporate Governance Code which 
is publicly available on the Securities Market 
Association’s web pages (www.cgfinland.
fi). The current Articles of Association are 
available on the Group’s website wulff.fi. The 
Corporate Governance Code is based on a 
Comply or Explain principle which means that 
a company can deviate from individual guide-
lines if it explains and gives reasons for the 
deviation. The entire document describing the 
Group’s corporate governance principles and 

practices is available on the Group’s investor 
pages (wulff.fi). This Corporate Governance 
Statement is presented separately from the 
Review of the Board of Directors.

GENERAL MEETING
Wulff Group’s highest decision-making power 
is exercised by shareholders at the Compa-
ny’s Annual General Meeting held at least 
once a year. The Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) is held annually on a date determined 
by the Board of Directors within six months 
of the end of the financial period either in the 
company’s domicile, Helsinki, or in Espoo. 
Shareholders may exercise their rights to 
speak, request information and vote.

Shareholders are invited to general meetings 
by publishing a notice at Wulff’s corporate 
website. The notice and instructions for par-
ticipating in the meeting are also published 
as a stock exchange release. The Board’s 
proposed agenda as well as the proposed 
Board members and auditors are announced 
in the notice or in a separate stock exchange 
release before the general meeting. 
 
The Annual General Meeting handles the 
tasks pertaining to it according to the Limited 
Liability Companies Act and Wulff Group’s 

Articles of Association, which include:

• adopting the income statement and bal-
ance sheet

• handling the profit or loss according to the 
adopted balance sheet, dividend distribu-
tion

• discharging the members of the Board of 
Directors and the CEO of liability

• determining the number of Board members 
and appointing members for one year at a 
time

• electing auditors
• determining the fees of Board members 

and auditors, as well as the criteria for 
reimbursement of travel expenses

• other matters mentioned in the notice of the 
meeting.

The Annual General Meeting is also author-
ised to amend the Articles of Association. An 
Extraordinary General Meeting is summoned, 
if required, by the Board of Directors. 

In 2019, Wulff Group Plc’s Annual General 
Meeting was held on April 4. The Annual 
General Meeting adopted the financial 
statements for the financial year 2018 and 
discharged the members of the Board of 
Directors and CEO from liability. The AGM 

decided to pay a dividend of EUR 0.10 per 
share and authorised the Board of Directors to 
decide on the repurchase of the Company’s 
own shares. The Annual General Meeting 
also accepted the Board’s proposal concern-
ing the authorisation to perform share issues. 
Ari Pikkarainen, Kari Juutilainen, Jussi Vienola 
and Kristina Vienola were re-elected as 
Board Members. The organising meeting of 
Wulff Group Plc’s Board of Directors, held af-
ter the Annual General Meeting, decided that 
the Chairman of the Board is Kari Juutilainen. 
BDO Oy, with Authorized Public Accountant 
Juha Selänne as the lead audit partner, was 
chosen as the auditor of Wulff Group Plc. The 
Annual General Meeting decided that the 
reimbursements to the Auditors are paid on 
the basis of reasonable invoicing. 

In 2020, Wulff Group Plc’s Annual General 
Meeting will be held on April 2. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is responsible for 
the administration and the proper organisa-
tion of the operations of the Company. The 
Board supervises and controls the operative 
management of the Company, appoints and 
dismisses the managing director, approves 
the strategic goals and the risk management 
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principles for the Company and ensures the 
proper operation of the management system. 
The Annual General Meeting elects three to 
six members to the Board of Directors and at 
most as many deputy members. The Board’s 
term ends at the termination of the first Annual 
General Meeting following the election. In 
the organising meeting held after the AGM, 
the Board elects a Chairperson among its 
members. Should the Chairperson be dis-
qualified or prevented from attending to his/
her duties, a Deputy Chairperson is elected 
among Board Members for the duration of a 
meeting.

The Board of Directors supervises the man-
agement of Company operations, adminis-
tration and accounting. It annually confirms 
a written charter for its activities, which it 
complies with in addition to the Articles of 
Association, Finnish legislation and other 
regulations. The charter lays out the Board’s 
meeting procedures and tasks. According to 
the Board’s charter, in addition to the issues 
specified in legislation and the Articles of 
Association, Wulff Group’s Board of Directors: 
• approves the company’s long-term goals 

and strategy
• approves the company’s action plan, 

budget and financing plan and supervises 
their implementation

• handles and adopts interim and half-year 
reports and the financial statements

• decides on individual big and strategically 
significant investments, such as company 
acquisitions and acquisitions and disposals 
of business operations

• appoints the CEO and decides on his/her 

salaries and wages
• approves risk management and reporting 

procedures
• draws up the dividend policy
• sets up committees, if needed, to enhance 

Board work
• appoints the Group’s management team
• supervises auditing
• assesses the auditor’s independence and 

additional auditing services.

Wulff Group’s Annual General Meeting held 
on April 4, 2019 elected four members to the 
Board of Directors. 

In the preparation of the proposal for the 
composition of the Board of Directors, the 
requirements placed by the Company’s strat-
egy, operations and development phase as 
well as the sufficient diversity of the Board of 
Directors are taken into account. The diversity 
of the Board of Directors is examined from 
different perspectives. Important factors for 
the Company are academic and professional 
backgrounds as well as strong, versatile and 
mutually complementary expertise, experi-
ence and knowledge in the different business 
areas important to the Company, interna-
tionality, independence of the Company, an 
appropriate number of members, and the age 
and gender distribution. The Board must have 
sufficient economic and financial knowledge 
and management, marketing, and sales 
expertise. 

In 2019, Wulff Group Plc’s Board of Directors 
fulfilled the principles concerning diversity and 
expertise taking into consideration the Com-

pany’s strategy and the market and business 
environment as well as development projects. 
The focus of the strategy is customer experi-
ence, sales expertise and operating through 
multiple channels. Important strategic projects 
are taking advantage of digitalization, sup-
porting sales with marketing communications, 
development of product and service portfolio 
especially with environmentally sustainable 
solutions and enhancing personnel’s expertise. 
Especially important for the Board of Directors 
is developing the sales management accord-
ing to the Company’s growth strategy.

The Company’s target is that both genders are 
represented on the Board of Directors. Cur-
rently, one of the members of the Board is a 
woman. The Company’s goal concerning the 
representation of both genders has thus been 
fulfilled. In the selection and evaluation pro-
cess of new Board Members, the primary cri-
terion is the qualifications of the individual and 
the possibility to devote a sufficient amount of 
time to the work. Thus, both genders are taken 
into consideration equally. 

The majority of Board members must be 
independent of the Company. In addition, 
at least two of the members in this majority 
must be independent of the Company’s major 
shareholders. The independence is evaluat-
ed in compliance with recommendations of 
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code. 
The majority of Board members were not 
absolutely independent of the Company and 
major shareholders in 2018-2019. The Board 
members independent of the Company and 
of major shareholders were Andreas Tallberg 

and Johanna Marin during 1.1.-5.4.2018. 
During that time Heikki Vienola was employed 
by the Group as the Group CEO and acted 
as a Member of the Board. In addition Board 
Member Heikki Vienola and Chairman of the 
Board of Directors Ari Pikkarainen were major 
shareholders of the Group 1.1.-5.4.2018. 

After electing the Board on 5.4.2018, Kristina 
Vienola, a Member of the Board of Directors, 
was employed by Wulff Group as a Content 
Coordinator during 3.5.-3.8.2018. During 
1.1.-4.4.2018 the Chairman of the Board 
of Directors Ari Pikkarainen was a major 
shareholder owning 17.0% of the shares. Also 
the other Members of the Board of Directors 
own shares of the Company. The Chairman 
of the Board of Directors Kari Juutilainen from 
4.4.2019 and Members of the Board Jussi 
Vienola and Kristina Vienola owned approx-
imately 0.7% (0.6) of the outstanding shares 
on 31.12.2019. Considering the length of the 
employment and the portion of the share-
holding the dependence of the company is 
considered insignificant.

Due to the Group’s small size, setting up 
Board committees or a supervisory board has 
not been considered necessary. The entire 
Board of Directors has handled all its tasks.

The Board of Directors convenes on average 
once a month during the financial year and 
more often if needed. The Chairman of the 
Board is responsible for convening meetings 
and for meeting activities. The meeting agen-
da is prepared by the CEO together with the 
Secretary of the Board. 
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Wulff Group Plc’s Board of Directors convened 
12 times in 2019 (11). The average meeting 
attendance of the Board Members was 94 
percent (98). Chairman of the Board Kari 
Juutilainen and Board Member Kristina Vienola 
attended all meetings. Jussi Vienola attended 
11 meetings and Ari Pikkarainen attended 10 
meetings. At its organising meeting the Board 
approved the charter and action plan for 2019 
and evaluated the independence of its mem-
bers. According to the meeting plan for 2020, 
the Board of Directors will convene 10 times. 

The Board carries out annual assessments of 
its operations and working styles based on a 
self-evaluation form. In 2019, the assessment 
was carried out in writing at the end of the 
year. Based on the assessment, Board work 
was successful.

More information on Board Members and 
their Wulff shareholdings is presented on 
Board and Management.

CEO
The Board appoints the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) who supervises the Company’s 
operational management in accordance with 
the Limited Liability Companies Act with the 
instructions and guidelines provided by the 
Board. The CEO ensures that the account-
ing practices of the Group comply with the 
law and that the financial management of 
the group has been arranged in a reliable 
manner. The CEO ensures that the Board has 
sufficient information to assess the Company’s 
operations and financial situation. The CEO 
is responsible for the accomplishment of the 

Board’s decisions and reports the results to the 
Board.

The CEO may undertake acts which, consid-
ering the scope and nature of the operations 
of the Company, are unusual or extensive, 
only with the authorisation of the Board.

The CEO of the parent company Wulff Group 
Plc also acts as the Chairman of the Group 
Executive Board.

Heikki Vienola was the CEO of Wulff Group 
Plc from September 25, 2017 until September 
29, 2019. Elina Pienimäki started as the Wulff 
Group Plc’s CEO on September 30, 2019.

GROUP EXECUTIVE BOARD
The Group Executive Board led by the Group 
CEO is responsible for the Group’s opera-
tions in practice. The Group Executive Board 
convenes regularly to analyse and evaluate 
the financial and business performance as 
well as the key development initiatives of the 
segments. The management team has no 
official statutory position but, in practice, it 
has a significant role in the organisation of the 
Company management.

Based on the CEO’s proposal, the Board of 
Directors confirms the composition and new 
nominations to the Group Executive Board.

The Managing Directors of subsidiaries are 
in charge of the business operations in each 
subsidiary. Significant decisions, such as sig-
nificant investments, are subject to the Group 
CEO’s approval. Each subsidiary has its own 

financial administration, while the Group’s 
Chief Financial Officer has responsibility of 
group-wide financial administration.

The segments’ financial reports and the situation 
of the businesses’ key development projects are 
on the agenda of the Group Executive Board 
which convenes on a tertial basis.

More information on Group Executive Board 
Members, their responsibilities, and their Wulff 
shareholdings is presented in the section 
Board of Directors and Management.

REMUNERATION
Board of Directors 
According to the Company’s Articles of Associ-
ation, the Annual General Meeting determines 
the remuneration of the Board members on a 
proposal from the Board of Directors. A fixed, 
monthly fee of EUR 1,250 resolved by the An-
nual General Meeting is paid to the Chairman 
and Board members. Group CEO did not re-
ceive a monthly fee of the Board work when he 
was employed by the Company 1.1.-5.4.2018, 
during which the Group CEO received remu-
neration according to Group CEO contract. 
In addition Kristina Vienola received salary 
as a Content Coordinator according to the 
employment contract during 3.5.-3.8.2018. 
These Board members are not rewarded by 
share-based remuneration plans or in any 
other way. The Group has not granted loans, 
guarantees or other contingencies to the Board 
Members. A summary of the remuneration of 
the Board of Directors is presented in Note 28 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements and 
in the table presented. 

According to the authorization granted by 
the Annual General Meeting on April 4, 
2019, the Board of Directors has the right to 
continue the repurchase of the company’s 
own shares by acquiring at most 300,000 
own shares. The authorisation is in force until 
the next Annual General Meeting. According 
to the authorization the company can acquire 
treasury shares to support the implementation 
of an incentive scheme or to be otherwise 
disposed of. In April-December 2019 no own 
shares we reacquired. 

CEO 
The Board prepares a proposal and deter-
mines the Group CEO’s remuneration and 
other contractual issues. 

The Group does not have any option schemes 
or share-based remuneration plans currently 
in force as a part of the CEO’s bonus and 
incentive schemes. The Company does not 
apply long-term remuneration and no specific 
performance and vesting periods are applied 
in the remuneration.

A part of the Group’s CEO’s benefits is a stat-
utory pension. The contract does not specify 
a retirement age. No supplementary pension 
benefits were agreed or paid. 

The Board appointed Elina Pienimäki as the 
Wulff Group Plc CEO on September 17, 2019 
and she started in her position on September 
30, 2019. In 2019, the remuneration of CEO 
Elina Pienimäki consisted of monetary wages 
and fringe benefits of the amount of EUR 39 
thousand. The Group CEO’s service contract 



Wulff Annual Report 2019    33

does not include share-based incentives, 
bonus schemes or any other long-term remu-
neration plans.  The Group CEO is entiled to 
bonus holiday pay and possibly to a bonus 
scheme to be determined later.  The period of 
notice is three months from the Group CEO 
side and six months from the company’s side. 
In case the company resigns the Group CEO 
contract one-sidedly the Group CEO is en-
titled to a severance payment equal to three 
months salary. 

Heikki Vienola acted as the Group CEO 
25.9.2017-29.9.2019. In 2019, the remunera-
tion of CEO Heikki Vienola consisted of mon-
etary wages and fringe benefits of the amount 
of EUR 60 thousand (60). The Group CEO’s 
service contract did not include share-based 
incentives, bonus schemes or any other long-
term remuneration plans. The period of notice 
was three months, during which a monthly 
salary and a severance payment of EUR 100 
thousand would have been paid. 

Group Executive Board
The Group CEO prepares and determines the 
contractual terms, salaries and possible other 
benefits and incentives of the Group’s Execu-
tive Board members. In September 2018, the 
Board of Directors decided that pay raises of 
the Executive Board members are approved 
by the Chairman of the Board.

Remuneration of the Group Executive Board 
consist of fixed monetary wages, fringe 
benefits, additional pensions, annually-de-
termined performance-based bonuses and 
possible share-based incentives. The perfor-

SUMMARY OF BOARD MEMBERS’ BENEFITS TOTAL

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Board members' salaries and fees
   Kari Juutilainen 4/2018- Chairman of the Board 4/2019- 15 11
   Jussi Vienola 4/2018- 15 11
   Kristina Vienola 4/2018- 15 17
   Ari Pikkarainen, Chairman of the Board 9/2017-4/2019 15 15
   Heikki Vienola, Member of the Board -4/2018 - -
   Johanna Marin -4/2018 - 4
   Andreas Tallberg -4/2018 - 4

Board members' benefits total 60 62

SUMMARY OF TOP MANAGEMENT’S EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Group management board's salaries and other short term  
remuneration

625 557

Fringe Benefits 44 38
Bonuses 58 70
Group management board's other long term remuneration,  
additional pension benefits

35 44

Top management's employee benefits total 762 710

mance-based bonuses are determined by 
the company’s financial performance and the 
person’s individual goal-setting. The Group 
does not have any option schemes or share-
based remuneration plans currently in force 
as a part of Group Executive Board members’ 
remuneration plan. The Company does not 
apply long-term remuneration and no specific 
performance and vesting periods are applied 
in the remuneration.

Of the Executive Board members, Tarja Törmä-
nen’s communication and marketing director 
service is obtained as an outsourced service 
and during 2019, the service costs amounted 
to EUR 72 thousand (72). The outsourced 
service is included in other operating expenses 
and has been presented also in the Note for 
Related Party transactions. During 2019-2018 
the Group Executive Board consisted of Ninni 
Arion, Trond Fikseaunet, Elina Hanén, Tarja 
Törmänen, Veijo Ågerfalk and CEO Heikki 
Vienola until October 17, 2019 and CEO Elina 
Pienimäki from October 18, 2019 onwards.

Summary of the top management’s employ-
ment benefits is presented in Note 28 of the 
consolidated financial statements and the table 
below. In addition the communication and 
marketing director services, a total of EUR 72 
thousand (72), obtained from Executive Board 
member Tarja Törmänen are presented in other 
expenses and related party transactions. 

RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL 
CONTROL AND INTERNAL AUDIT
The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
internal control and the Group CEO arranges 

the management and supervision of internal 
controls’ effectiveness in practice.
 
Ultimate responsibility for accounting, accura-
cy of the financial statements and supervision 
of asset management is carried out by Wulff 

Group’s Board of Directors. Business control 
and supervision are carried out through a 
group-wide reporting system. Each business 
area’s and subsidiary’s net sales, sales mar-
gin, main expenses and operating profit with 
comparison data are reported to the Board 
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each month. Additionally the Group CEO 
presents an overview of the current situation 
and future outlook based on weekly and 
monthly analyses.

The segments’ financial reports and the 
situation of the businesses’ key development 
projects are on the agenda of the Group 
Executive Board which convenes on a 
quarterly basis. The subsidiaries’ own Boards 
of Directors and management teams discuss 
their own business issues which are taken also 
to the Group Executive Board if those issues 
have influence also on other group compa-
nies. The Group CEO and CFO analyse and 
control each subsidiary’s and business area’s 
operations, performance and financial status 
regularly.

Wulff Group follows the risk management 
policy devised by the Board of Direc-
tors, which determines the objectives and 
responsibilities of risk management, as well 
as the reporting procedures. The Company’s 
risk management supports the achievement 
of strategic objectives and ensures business 
continuity. The realisation of risk management 
policies is controlled with internal audits 
regularly and also external auditors supervise 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 
management as a part of the audit proce-
dures related to Group’s governance.

Risk management is a part of Wulff Group’s 
business operations management. Wulff’s risk 
management is guided by legislation, busi-
ness objectives set by shareholders as well as 
the expectations of customers, personnel and 
other important stakeholders. The Group’s risk 

management aims to systematically and ex-
tensively identify and understand any risks that 
may prevent the achievement of the Group’s 
business objectives, as well as to ensure 
that risks are appropriately managed when 
making business-related decisions. Threats to 
business include risks related to acquisitions, 
risks related to the staff and its availability, 
as well as factors related to the general 
economic development and the Company’s 
reputation.

Risks are classified into three categories: 
strategic, operational and market risks. The risk 
management process aims to identify and as-
sess risks and then plan and implement prac-
tical measures to deal with each risk. Possible 
measures include, for example, avoiding the 
risk, reducing it in different ways or transferring 
it with insurance or agreements.

Wulff Group carries out annual risk surveys to 
determine the main risks in terms of their signif-
icance and probability. The business unit lead-
ers are responsible for carrying out the surveys 
and risk monitoring on which they report to 
the Group Executive Board. Selected persons 
are responsible for the monitoring of specific 
issues within each risk category i.e. strategic, 
operative or market risks. The Group has not set 
up a separate organisation for risk manage-
ment. Instead, risk management is arranged in 
compliance with the Company’s other business 
operations and organisation structure.

The main risks determined in the risk survey, 
changes in the significance and probability of 
the risks, as well as the persons responsible, 
actions completed and results achieved are 

reported to the Group’s Board of Directors 
annually. Special attention is paid to any 
possible new risks that are detected. More 
information on risks and risk management is 
presented in a separate section of the Annual 
Report 2019.
The goal of Wulff Group Plc’s internal audit is 
to ensure that the Group’s internal processes 
and operating methods are efficient and 
correct. Internal audits are carried out on the 
basis of an annually prepared audit plan, 
which the Board of Directors approves at the 
beginning of the year. The Group’s internal 
auditor draws up the plan, presents it to the 
Board of Directors and reports on the imple-
mentation of the measures. The internal auditor 
reports directly to the Board of Directors.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
Based on the Articles of Association, Wulff 
Group Plc shall have 1-2 auditors. If the Annu-
al General Meeting elects only one auditor 
and if the auditor is not a firm of Authorised 
Accountants, additionally one deputy auditor 
shall be elected. Based on the Articles of 
Association, the auditors are appointed until 
further notice.

BDO Oy, a company of Authorized Public 
Accountants, with Authorized Public Accountant 
Juha Selänne as the lead audit partner, was cho-
sen as the auditor of Wulff Group Plc in 2017. 

In addition to their statutory duties, the auditors 
report their audit findings to the Chairman of 
the Board when necessary, and at least once 
a year to the Board of Directors.

The Annual General Meeting decides on the 
auditors’ fees and the expense compensation 
principles. Based on the Board’s decision, 
auditors can be paid reasonable fees for 
non-recurring other service assignments. The 
total audit fees for all Wulff Group companies 
were EUR 75 (49) thousand in 2019, of which 
EUR 55 thousand (15) were expenses other 
than audit fees (please see Note 8 for further 
information). 
 
Following the corporate governance regula-
tions, the auditors do not own shares of Wulff 
Group Plc or its subsidiaries. 

Insider Administration
Wulff Group Plc complies with applicable 
EU regulations, especially the Market Abuse 
Regulation (EU 596/2016, “MAR”), and any 
regulation and guidance given by the Euro-
pean Securities Markets Authority (“ESMA”). 
Further, the company observes Finnish legis-
lation, especially the Securities Markets Act 
(746/2012, as amended) and the Finnish Pe-
nal Code (39/1889, as amended), including 
the insider and other guidelines of Nasdaq 
Helsinki Ltd and the standards and guidance 
of the Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority 
(“FIN-FSA”) and other authorities. 

Managers, according to the definition given 
by MAR, include the members of the Board of 
Directors and Group Executive Board mem-
bers. MAR requires that each manager and 
his/her closely associated persons notify the 
company and FIN-FSA of their transactions 
in the financial instruments of or linked to the 
company conducted on his/her own account 
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after a total of EUR 5 thousand per calendar 
year has been reached. The notifications shall 
be made promptly and no later than three 
business days after the date of transaction 
(T+3). Wulff will issue stock exchange re-
leases to disclose information on transactions 
by managers and their closely associated 
persons, as specified in MAR.

Wulff no longer maintains a list of permanent 
insiders. Instead, all persons involved with 
insider projects will be listed as project-spe-
cific insiders. Project-specific lists will be 
established and maintained for each project 
or event constituting inside information, based 
on a separate decision. All persons working 
for Wulff, representatives of external entities, 
stakeholders and authorities who have infor-
mation concerning an insider project or have 
access to project-specific inside information, 
as well as persons who are working for the 
implementation of an insider project, will be 
entered in a project-specific insider list. Per-
sons that belong to a project-specific list are 
forbidden from trading with the company’s 
financial instruments during an insider project. 

Preparation of periodic disclosure (annual 
and half-year financial statements, interim re-
ports, financial statements bulletins) or regular 
access to unpublished financial information is 
not regarded as an insider project. However, 
due to the sensitive nature of unpublished 
information on the company’s financial results, 
the persons determined by the company, 
based on their position or access rights, 
to have authorised access to unpublished 
financial result information are added to a list 

of Financial Information Recipients.
Wulff applies an absolute trading prohibition 
(a ‘closed window’ principle) during a period 
beginning 30 calendar days before the an-
nouncement of each of the periodic financial 
reports and the year-end report (the financial 
statements bulletin) and ending at the end of 
the trading day following the day of publica-
tion of such a report. At the minimum, a closed 
period commences at the end of the report-
ing period in question. The closed window 
principle applies to the managers (as defined 
by MAR) as well as the Financial Information 
Recipients. The person in charge of Wulff’s 
insider register is CFO Elina Hanén.

Related party transactions
As part of the Group’s key management per-
sonnel, the Group’s related parties consist of 
the members of Board of Directors, members 
of the Group Executive Board, and subsidi-
aries of Wulff Group Plc. The company does 
not hold shares in affiliates or joint ventures. 
Wulff Group Plc monitors its related party 
transactions quarterly and they are reported 
in the notes to the parent company’s consol-
idated financial statements. In 2019, related 
party transactions consisted of normal, mar-
ket-based business transactions. Related party 
transactions have been presented in Note 28 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The 
Group’s parent company and subsidiary rela-
tionships have been presented in Note 29. 

COMMUNICATIONS
The Group publishes all its stock exchange 
releases and other matters related to listed 
companies’ disclosure requirements on its 

website in Finnish and English. The Annual 
Report is published in electronic format so that 
it is equally available to all shareholders.

The Group’s stock exchange releases, Cor-
porate Governance principles and insider 
information is available at the Group’s investor 
page Board and corporate governance 
(wulff.fi/en/). 

Before the end of the year, the investors’ 
calendar with dates for the Group’s financial 
reporting during the next calendar year is 
published in a stock exchange release and 
on the Group’s website. The Group applies 
an absolute trading prohibition, a 30-day 
‘closed window’ principle, during which the 
company does not comment on questions 
regarding its outlook and development and 
during which insiders are prohibited from 
trading with the Group’s financial instrument. 
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WULFF GROUP PLC’S REVIEW OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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NET SALES AND OPERATING PROFIT GREW

WULFF GROUP BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS 
It is great that both Wulff’s net sales 
and operating profit grew in 2019. The 
growth presents good choices made and 
uncompromised actions taken according 
to our strategy: also our partners and 
customers believe, that it is possible to 
make the world better one workplace at 
a time. It is important for us to develop 
our own and our customers’ operations 
more sustainable constantly. In addition to 
developing our product and service port-
folio, one of our significant sustainable 
actions taken last summer was building 
a solar power system in our premises in 
Kilo, Espoo. We believe that the year 
2020 is for Wulff the year of developing 
good energy, sustainability and growth. 

GROUP’S NET SALES AND RESULT 
PERFORMANCE
In January-December 2019 net sales to-
talled EUR 56.3 million (55.9), and EUR 
15.1 (14.8) million in the final quarter. Net 
sales increased by 0.8% during the whole 
financial year mainly due to the sales of 
Canon Business Center printing solution 
services. The Canon Business Center was 
acquired to the group in August 2018. 

WULFF GROUP PLC: FINANCIAL YEAR KEY FIGURES 1.1. –31.12.2019

• Net sales totalled EUR 56.3 million (55.9), increased by 0.8% 

• EBITDA was EUR 3.1 million (1.9), 5.4% of net sales (3.4) and comparable EBITDA was  
EUR 3.2 million (1.9), 5.7% of net sales (3.4)

• Operating profit (EBIT) was EUR 1.6 million (1.5) and comparable operating profit (EBIT)  
was EUR 1.7 million (1.5). Comparable operating profit (EBIT) grew 11.9%

• Earnings per share (EPS) were EUR 0.15 (0.15) and comparable earnings per share were  
EUR 0.17 (0.15)

• Equity-to-assets ratio was 39.2 % (49.1)

• Elina Pienimäki, 40, started as new Wulff Group Plc CEO and Chairman of Wulff Group  
Plc’s Executive Board 

• Wulff invested in its own premises EUR 6.5 million in Finland and Sden

• The Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting to be held on April 2, 2020 that a  
dividend of EUR 0.11 per share to be paid 

• Wulff estimates that the comparable operating profit of 2020 will increase from 2019

The increase in the net sales in the fourth 
quarter was mainly due to fair event sales 
growth. 

In January-December 2019 the gross 
margin amounted to EUR 19.8 million 
(19.7) being 35.2% (35.2), and EUR 5.5 
million (5.6) in the final quarter being 
36.3% (37.5). The gross margin devel-
oped positively from printing equipment 
and solutions sales in January- 
December 2019. 

In January-December 2019 employee 
benefit expenses amounted to EUR 11.9 
million (11.5), 21.2% (20.7) of net sales 
and EUR 3.2 million (3.1), 20.9% (20.9) 
of net sales in the fourth quarter. The 
employee benefit expenses grew with 
the acquisition of the Canon Business 
Center printing equipment and solutions 
business in 2018. The company employs 
11 people.

Other operating expenses were to EUR 
5.0 million (6.3) in January-December 
2019 being 9.0% (11.4) of net sales 
and respectively EUR 1.2 million (1.8) 
in the fourth quarter, being 8.2% (11.8) 
of net sales. In total the other operating 
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expenses were less by EUR 1.3 million 
compared to previous reporting year. 
The main reason for this is presenting 
the office premises rents and equipment 
leases in depreciations EUR -0.9 million 
and in interest expenses EUR -0.0 million 
instead of presenting them in other oper-
ating expenses according to the IFRS 16 
Leases -standard. More information on 
the impact of the adaption of the IFRS 16 
Leases -standard has been presented in 
the notes of the Report.

In the third quarter Wulff moved to its 
own premises in Kilo, Espoo, Finland in 
September 2019. The relocation ar-
rangements resulted in nonrecurring other 
operating expenses and employee costs 
of approximately EUR 0.1 million in total. 
The relocation arrangements have been 
presented as items affecting comparabil-
ity, which impact has been recognised in 
EBITDA, operating profit (EBIT) and earn-
ings per share (EPS). There were no items 
impacting the comparability in the fourth 
quarter of 2019 or in whole financial year 
of 2018.

In January-December 2019 EBITDA 
amounted to EUR 3.1 million (1.9), being 
5.4% (3.4) of net sales, and EUR 1.1 
million (0.8) in the fourth quarter, being 
7.6% (5.1) of net sales. The growth of 
EBITDA EUR 0.9 million and 1.5%-points 
was due to the implementation of IFRS 16 
Leases standard. In January-December 
the comparable EBITDA amounted to 
EUR 3.2 million (1.9), being 5.7% (3.4) of 
net sales.

The depreciations of the properties were  
EUR -0.2 million in the reporting period 
and EUR -0.1 million in the fourth quarter. 
The premises in Kilo, Espoo and Ljungby, 
Sweden were acquired during the 
reporting period, so there were no depre-
ciations of properties in the comparison 
period.

The operating profit (EBIT) amounted to  
EUR 1.6 million (1.5), being 2.8% (2.7) of 
net sales and respectively EUR 0.8 million 
(0.6), 5.1% (4.3) in the fourth quarter. The 
comparable operating profit (EBIT) for the 
whole year amounted to EUR 1.7 million 
(1.5), being 3.0% (2.7) of net sales. 
Comparable operating profit (EBIT) grew 
11.9% in January- 
December 2019.

In January-December 2019 the finan-
cial income and expenses totalled (net) 
EUR -0.4 million (-0.3) including interest 
expenses of EUR -0.2 million (-0.1) and 
mainly currency-related other financial 
items (net) EUR -0.2 million (-0.2). In the 
fourth quarter, the financial income and 
expenses (net) totalled EUR -0.1 million 
(-0.1). 

In January-December 2019 the result 
before taxes was EUR 1.2 million (1.2), 
and EUR 0.7 million (0.5) in the fourth 
quarter. The comparable result before 
taxes for the financial year was EUR 1.3 
million (1.2).

The net profit was EUR 1.0 million (1.1) 
in January-December 2019 and in the 

fourth quarter EUR 0.6 million (0.4). The 
comparable result was EUR 1.2 million 
(1.1) in January-December 2019.

Earnings per share (EPS) were EUR 0.15 
(0.15) in January-December 2019, and 
EUR 0.09 (0.07) in the fourth quarter. 
Comparable earnings per share (EPS) 
were EUR 0.17 (0.15) in January-Decem-
ber 2019.

CONTRACT CUSTOMERS SEGMENT
Wulff’s Contract Customers segment is 
the customer’s comprehensive partner in 
the field of workplace products, Canon 
printing and data management solutions 
and international fair services in Finland 
and Scandinavia.

In January-December 2019 the segment’s 
net sales totalled EUR 47.2 million (47.0), 
and EUR 12.6 million (12.4) in the fourth 
quarter. In January-December 2019 
the operating profit (EBIT) was EUR 1.8 
million (1.4), and EUR 0.9 million (0.6) in 
the fourth quarter.

The net sales for the whole financial year 
increased specially due to the sales of 
Canon Business Center printing services, 
which were acquired in the group in 
August 2018. 

It is important for Wulff to develop its 
services together with customers. In a 
rapidly changing world, it requires strong 
investments to be able to offer customers 
new and interesting products and services 
that are at the leading edge of develop-

ment. Wulff’s aim is to make its customers’ 
and its own businesses as profitable as 
possible. That is why Wulff is continuously 
developing the cost-efficiency its own 
operations. Digitalisation, automatization, 
new working environments, and mobile 
work provide a chance for Wulff to grow 
in a new market. With strategic projects 
such as Wulff Lab and Better Products, 
customers can innovate and develop new 
services, products and operations even 
more easily than before with Wulff. 

One of the most popular cost and time 
saving supply solutions in Finland is 
Wulff’s MiniBar, and in Scandinavia, the 
Cabinet Service. These solutions can be 
found in hundreds of companies. The 
MiniBar and Cabinet Service work like 
their hotel namesakes. The automated 
refilling services house on their shelves 
ready-to-use office and IT supplies, ca-
tering and facility management products. 
The TOP3 products in Wulff’s MiniBar 
service are coffee, ink cartridges and 
paper. In Finland, Wulff is the industry’s 
strongest player and in Scandinavia, one 
of the top companies in the industry.

Wulff’s webshop Wulffinkulma.fi, geared 
towards small companies, serves custom-
ers diversely and mobile-friendly with a 
range of 4,000 products. The webshop 
is known for its fast and reliable deliveries 
and a product range that is much more 
diverse than what its traditional competi-
tors are able to offer. The online store and 
its services, functionalities and marketing 
are constantly being developed. 
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The webshop’s visitors and sales grew in 
2019.

International fair services are a part of 
Wulff’s operations. In addition to Finland, 
Wulff Entre serves customers in e.g. Ger-
many, Sweden, Norway, Russia and the 
United States. Yearly, Wulff Entre exports 
Finnish know-how to over 30 countries. 
Wulff Entre is the market leader in Finland 
and there has been solid trust in Wulff 
Entre’s ability to find the right international 
venues for almost 100 years. Wulff Entre 
will invest especially in the acquisition of 
new clientele, recruitment of new key ac-
count managers. Presence and findability 
in web are important for an international 
company and the company continues to 
invest in it during 2020. 
EXPERTISE SALES SEGMENT
The Expertise Sales segment makes 
everyday life at the workplace easier 
by offering the best workplace products 
and novelties in the market with the most 
professional, personal, and local service.

In January-December 2019 the Expertise 
Sales Segment’s net sales totalled EUR 
9.1 million (9.1), and EUR 2.5 million (2.5) 
in the fourth quarter. In January-Decem-
ber 2019 the operating profit was EUR 
0.2 million (0.5) and EUR 0.1 million (0.2) 
in the final quarter. The product demand 
was directed more to lower margin level 
products than in the comparison period, 
which had an impact on the operating 
profit. Also, the Expertise sales’ relocation 
of logistics services and warehouse in 

Finland resulted in non-recurring expenses 
in the third quarter. The Expertise Sales 
segment´s product and service range 
has focused on solutions that bring the 
best value to customers and bringing 
new products to market regularly. Good 
examples of new products that have 
established themselves quickly are for 
example large format printing products 
and equipment, transfer paper printing 
materials, and Aeramax air purifiers. 
The agile organisation reacts quickly to 
changes in the market. 

Expertise Sales is an expert service that 
requires knowledge of the customer, 
the customer’s business and operating 
environment, and it emphasises the 
importance of personal contact. Wulff 
stands out from the competition due to 
its locality and domesticity. The Expertise 
Sales segment offers customers novelties 
and favourites, and a broad range of 
workplace wellbeing and ergonomic 
products, first aid, and products improving 
work safety. Due to the aging workforce, 
Nordic companies are increasingly 
investing in ergonomics and first aid 
products for the workplace. Office work 
will continue to account for an ever-in-
creasing part of all labour and that is why 
companies are also proactively investing 
in good workplace ergonomics. With 
good
workplace ergonomics, it is possible to 
achieve significant savings due to dimi-
nution of sick leaves. The Expertise Sales 
segment offers personal service to its 

clients and the product concept is always 
tailored together with the customers to 
meet their needs. Expertise Sales actively 
brings solutions that make workdays bet-
ter to the awareness of customers. One of 
the most important and current themes is 
bettering indoor air quality. 

Wulff is known for being the workplace 
of successful salespeople. An increasing 
number of executive leaders and compa-
ny managers have a background in sales, 
and there is growing appreciation of 
sales skills in our society today. Successful 
recruiting and the number of the sales per-
sonnel have a significant effect especially 
on the performance of the Expertise Sales 
Segment. Wulff is constantly ready to 
recruite new talents. Wulff’s own introduc-
tion and training programs ensure that not 
only does every salesperson get a com-
prehensive training and an exciting start to 
their career, but also further education on 
how to improve one’s own expertise. 

FINANCING, INVESTMENTS AND 
FINANCIAL POSITION
In January-December 2019 the cash 
flow from operating activities was EUR 
3.8 million (1.1). The implementation of 
IFRS 16 Leases improved the cash flow of 
operating activities by approximately EUR 
0.9 million as all the payments from lease 
agreements have been presented in cash 
flow from financing activities. In the in-
dustry, it is typical that the result and cash 
flow are generated in the last quarter. The 

cash flow from operating activies also 
grew when the company for example 
concentrated on increasing the inventory 
turnover ratio in the fall.

In the end of December 2019, the 
equity-to-assets ratio was 39.2% (49.1) 
and debt-to-equity ratio 66.2% (15.8). 
The decrease in equity-to-assets and the 
increase in debt-to-equity ratio resulted 
from the acquisition of premises in Swe-
den and Finland in January and in April, 
a total of EUR 5.7 million, investments in 
the new Wulff premises in Finland EUR 
0.8 million, recognising lease agreements 
in the balance sheet according to the 
IFRS 16 Leases -standard from 1.1.2019 
onwards and other usual equipment and 
IT investments. Equity-to-assets decreased 
1.4%-points and debt-to-equity ratio in-
creased 8.6%-points due to implementing 
the IFRS 16 Leases -standard.

The acquisition of the logistics centre in 
Ljungby was financed with two new long-
term loans in Swedish crowns, a total 
of approximately EUR 2.9 million. The 
acquisition of premises in Kilo, Espoo was 
financed with a new long-term loan of 
EUR 2.0 million. The repayment period of 
loans is 10 years. Long-term loans were 
repaid in total of EUR 0.8 million (0.5) 
during the reporting period. Short-term 
loans were withdrawn amounting to EUR 
1.0 million (0.5) during the reporting peri-
od. The growth in short-term loans resulted 
mostly of increased use of credit facility, 
which was used to finance the portion of 
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the acquisitions of the logistics center in 
Sweden and the premises in Finland that 
was not financed by new external long-
term financial loans. Lease agreement 
payments were EUR 0.9 million. The cash 
flow of financing activities was EUR 3.5 
million (-0.4) in January-December 2019.

Recognition of lease agreements within 
the balance sheet increased group assets 
and liabilities EUR 1.0 million at the end 
of reporting period. Depreciations of the 
leasing assets were EUR -0.9 million and 
interest expenses EUR -0.0 million in the 
reporting period. 

Information on the impact of the acquired 
Canon Business Center business in August 
2018 to the Group’s financial position 
have been presented in the Shares and 
share capital -section and in the notes to 
the Financial Statements Release. 

In April 2019 a dividend of EUR 0.7 mil-
lion (0.3) in total was paid to the owners 
of the parent company.

The Group’s cash balance decreased by 
EUR 0.1 million (0.3) in January–Decem-
ber. The Group’s bank and cash funds 
totalled EUR 0.5 million at the beginning 
of the year and EUR 0.3 million at the end 
of the reporting period. 

At the end of December 2019 equity 
attributable to the equity holders of the 
parent company was EUR 1.76 per share 
(1.72). 

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL
Wulff Group Plc’s share is listed on NAS-
DAQ OMX Helsinki in the Small Cap 
segment under the Industrial Goods and 
Services sector. The company’s trading 
code is WUF1V. At the end of the report-
ing period, the share was valued at EUR 
1.77 (1.69) and the market capitalization 
of the outstanding shares totalled EUR 
12.1 million (11.5).

With the authorization granted by the 
Annual General Meeting to the Board of 
Directors, Wulff Group Plc carried out a 
directed share issue of 300,000 shares 
to the owners of Mavecom Palvelut 
Ltd on August 14, 2018 as a part of the 
acquisition of Canon Business Center 
printing services operated by Mavecom 
Palvelut Ltd. The share issue increased 
the number of Wulff Group Plc’s shares 
from 6,607,628 to 6,907,628 shares. The 
shares were admitted for trading together 
with the other shares of the company on 
August 27, 2018. The directed share issue 
increased Wulff Group Plc’s invested 
unrestricted equity by EUR 0.5 million. The 
share subscription price corresponded 
to the volume weighted average price of 
the company’s shares quoted on NAS-
DAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (”Helsinki Stock 
Exchange”) between May 1, 2018 and 
July 31, 2018.

In January-December 2019 no own 
shares were reacquired. At the end of 
December 2019, the Group held 79,000 

(79,000) own shares representing 1.1% 
(1.1) of the total number and voting rights 
of Wulff shares.

DECISIONS OF THE ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING AND BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
Wulff Group Plc’s Annual General 
Meeting was held in Helsinki on April 
4, 2019. The Annual General Meeting 
adopted the financial statements for the 
financial year 2018 and discharged the 
members of the Board of Directors and 
CEO from liability for the financial period 
1.1.–31.12.2018. The Annual General 
meeting decided to pay a dividend of 
EUR 0.10 per share for the financial year 
2018, amounting to EUR 0.7 million. The 
record date was April 8, 2019 and the 
payment date April 17, 2019. 

Kari Juutilainen, Ari Pikkarainen, Jus-
si Vienola and Kristina Vienola were 
elected as members of the Board. The 
organizing meeting of Wulff Group Plc’s 
Board of Directors, held after the Annu-
al General Meeting, decided that the 
Chairman of the Board is Kari Juutilainen. 
It was confirmed that the members of the 
Board of Directors will receive a monthly 
fee of EUR 1,250.

BDO Oy, a company of Authorized 
Public Accountants, with Authorized Public 
Accountant Juha Selänne as the lead 
audit partner, was chosen as the auditor 
of Wulff Group Plc. 

The Annual General Meeting authorised 
the Board of Directors to resolve on the 
acquisition of maximum 300,000 own 
shares. The authorization is effective until 
April 30, 2020. The Board of Directors 
decided to continue buying back own 
shares in accordance with the authori-
zation granted by the Annual General 
Meeting on April 4, 2019.

The Annual General Meeting authorised 
the Board to decide on the issue of new 
shares, disposal of treasury shares and/
or the issue of special rights. The authori-
sation entitles the Board to issue a maxi-
mum of 1,300,000 shares, representing 
approximately 20% of the company’s 
currently outstanding stock, based on a 
single decision or several decisions. The 
authorisation remains in force until April 
30, 2020.

PERSONNEL
In January-December 2019 the Group’s 
personnel totalled 198 (191) employees 
on average. At the end of December, 
the Group had 200 (191) employees of 
which 67 (61) persons were employed in 
Sweden, Norway or Denmark. The ma-
jority, 57% (54) of the Group’s personnel 
works in sales operations and 43% (46) 
of the employees work in sales support, 
logistics and administration. 48% (45) of 
the personnel are women and 52% (55) 
are men.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES IN THE 
NEAR FUTURE
The demand for workplace products 
and office supplies is strongly affected 
by the general economic development 
and competition in the market. Business 
operations are also affected by normal 
business risks such as the success of the 
Group’s strategy and operative risks 
stemming from the personnel, logistics 
and IT environments. Approximately half 
of the Group’s net sales come from other 
than euro-currency countries. Fluctuation 
of the currencies affects the Group’s net 
result and balance sheet. Risks relating to 
fair service business have increased due 
to international epidemic, which restricts 
traveling.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Group has not had any significant 
subsequent events after the reporting 
period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL 
FOR THE ANNUAL RESULT
The Group’s parent company Wulff 
Group Plc’s distributable funds totalled 
EUR 1.6 million. The Group’s net result 
attributable to the parent company share-
holders was EUR 1.0 million (1.0), i.e. 
EUR 0.15 per share (0.15). The Board of 
Directors proposes to the Annual General 
Meeting to be held on April 2, 2020 that 
a dividend of EUR 0.11 per share, i.e. EUR 
0.8 million, be paid for the financial year 
2019, and the remaining distributable 
funds be left in retained earnings in the 
shareholders’ equity.

MARKET SITUATION AND FUTURE 
OUTLOOK
Wulff is the most significant Nordic player 
in its field. Its aim is to lead the way, 
renew the field and be at the forefront 
of change. Wulff believes that the role 
of values and sustainability will come to 
have an increasingly important part in 
sourcing decisions and companies’ busi-
ness partner selections in the future. With 
its new strategy, Wulff will build its com-
petitiveness and make sure that it can of-
fer customers what they want: solutions for 
making the everyday work life smoother 
and the world better one workplace at a 
time. The market traditionally understood 
as the office environment changes and 
develops rapidly. Competition is tough in 
the traditional market and the new market 
has a lot of opportunities. Wulff believes 
that the future is bright due to the strong, 
constantly developing new strategy, its 
active customer and partner networks, 
and its professional, committed personnel. 
The Group has an ongoing readiness to 
carry out new strategic acquisitions. As 
a listed company, Wulff is in a good posi-
tion to be a more active player than its 
competitors in business acquisitions.

The developing economic situation ena-
bles Wulff’s business to develop positive-
ly. Wulff estimates that the comparable 
operating profit of 2020 will increase 
from 2019. In the industry, it is typical that 
the result and cash flow are generated in 
the last quarter.  

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES FOR

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE
MEASURES
The Group complies with the Guidelines
on Alternative (APM) issued by the Eu-
ropean Securities and Markets Authority 
(ESMA) in its statutory reporting. These 
alternative performance measures, such 
as the gross margin, comparable EBITDA 
and comparable operating profit, are 
used to present the underlying business 
performance and to enhance compara-
bility between financial periods. The com-
parable EBITDA and comparable oper-
ating profit do not include items affecting 
comparability. These are income and 
expenses that are not included in normal 
business activities, such as profits from 
sales of subsidiaries, and write-downs 
of goodwill. In the third quarter of 2019 
items affecting comparability included the 
relocation of Wulff’s Finnish premises to 
Kilo, Espoo. The expenses and employee 
costs of relocation were recognised as 
items affecting comparability. The Alter-
native Performance Measures should not 
be taken as substitutes for the standards 
presented in the Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles for IFRS. 
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KEY FIGURES

EUR 1000 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Net sales 56 344 55 889 56 931 59 304 68 820
Change in net sales % 0.8% -1.8% -4.0% -13.8% -7.3%
Earnings before taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA)*

3 067 1 920 461 1 092 2 109

   % of net sales* 5.4% 3.4% 0.8% 1.8% 3.1%
Operating profit/loss* 1 570 1 508 74 677 595
   % of net sales* 2.8% 2.7% 0.1% 1.1% 0.9%
Profit/Loss before taxes 1 194 1 243 -247 351 354
   % of net sales 2.1% 2.2% -0.4% 0.6% 0.5%
Net profit/loss for the financial year attributable for the 
equity holders of the parent company

1 039 1 025 -193 302 -195

   % of net sales 1.8% 1.8% -0.3% 0.5% -0.3%
Cash flow from operations 3 777 1 085 1 389 679 1 693

Return on equity (ROE) % 8.5% 9.3% -2.0% 2.5% -1.6%
Return on investment (ROI) % 7.9% 9.5% -1.1% 2.9% 2.7%
Equity ratio % 39.2% 49.1% 47,0% 50.5% 46.4%
Gearing, % 66.2% 15.8% 19.8% 19.6% 23.8%
Balance sheet total 33 093 26 412 24 933 25 432 28 514

Gross investments in fixed assets 7 359 446 426 319 161
  % of net sales 13.1% 0.8% 0.8% 0.5% 0.2%
Average number of personnel during the financial year 198 191 198 214 233
Number of personnel at the end of financial year 200 191 195 203 226

* The presentation of the Consolidated 
Statement of Income has been changed 
in the first quarter of 2018 in such a way 
that all bank expenses have been clas-
sified as financial expenses. The com-
parison periods 2017-2015 have been 
adjusted according to the new reporting 
principle. The effect of the change in the 
presentation on the comparison periods 
are presented in the table.

Effect of the change of presentation: 2017 2016 2015

Earnings before taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA)*

107 94 90

   % of net sales* 0.2% 0.1% 0.2%
Operating profit/loss* 107 94 90
   % of net sales* 0.2% 0.1% 0.2%
EBITDA / share, EUR* 0.02 0.02 0.01
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SHARE-RELATED KEY FIGURES    

EUR 1000 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Earnings per share (EPS), EUR 0.15 0.15 -0.03 0.05 -0.03
Equity per share, EUR 1.76 1.72 1.64 1.78 1.84
Dividend per share, EUR * 0.11 0.10 0.05 0.10 0.10
Payout ratio % 72% 65% -167% 200% 333%
Effective dividend yield % 6.2% 5.9% 3.0% 7.3% 7.5%
Price/Earnings (P/E) 11.6 11.0 -55.9 29.6 -44.9
P/BV 1.00 0.98 1.01 0.77 0.73
EBITDA / share, EUR* 0.45 0.28 0.07 0.17 0.32
Cash flow from operations / share, EUR 0.55 0.16 0.21 0.10 0.26

Share prices:
Lowest share price, EUR 1.50 1.32 1.43 1.18 1.02
Highest share price, EUR 1.91 1.79 1.79 1.75 1.66
Average share price, EUR 1.67 1.54 1.65 1.43 1.30
Closing share price, EUR 1.77 1.69 1.65 1.37 1.34
Market value as of Dec 31, MEUR 12.1 11.5 10.8 8.9 8.7

Number of outstanding shares on average during the financial year 6 828 628 6 643 696 6 528 628 6 528 628 6 528 628
Number of outstanding shares at the end of the financial year 6 828 628 6 828 628 6 528 628 6 528 628 6 528 628
Number of shares traded 736 299 190 354 565 733 578 681 414 221
% of average number of shares 10.8% 2.9% 8.7% 8.9% 6.3%
Shares traded, EUR 1 232 914 293 735 930 970 827 073 539 868

* The Board of Directors' dividend proposal from year 2018 to the Annual General Meeting to be held on April 2, 2019.

** The presentation of the Consolidated Statement of Income has been changed in the first quarter of 2018 in such a way that all bank expenses have been 
classified as financial expenses. The comparison periods 2015-2017 have been adjusted according to the new reporting principle. The effect of the change in the 
presentation on the comparison periods are presented in the table.

The Group complies with the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures (APM) issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) in its 
statutory reporting. These alternative performance measures, such as the gross margin, comparable EBITDA and comparable operating profit, are used to present 
the underlying business performance and to enhance comparability between financial periods. The comparable EBITDA and comparable operating profit do not 
include items affecting comparability. These are income and expenses that are not included in normal business activities, such as profits from sales of subsidiaries, 
and write-downs of goodwill. Items affecting comparability included the relocation of Wulff’s Finnish premises to Kilo, Espoo in 2019. The Alternative Performance 
Measures should not be taken as substitutes for the standards presented in the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for IFRS. 
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CALCULATION PRINCIPLES OF KEY FIGURES

Return on equity (ROE), % Net profit/loss for the period (total including the non-controlling interest of the result) x 100
Shareholders’ equity total on average during the period (including non-controlling interest)

Return on investment (ROI), % (Profit before taxes + Interest expenses) x 100
Balance sheet total - Non-interest-bearing liabilities on average during the period

Equity ratio, % (Shareholders’ equity + Non-controlling interest at the end of the period) x 100
Balance sheet total - Advances received at the end of the period

Gearing, % Net interest-bearing debt x 100
Shareholders’ equity + Non-controlling interest at the end of the period

Earnings per share (EPS), EUR Net profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent company
Share issue adjusted number of outstanding shares on average during the period

Equity per share, EUR Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Share issue-adjusted number of outstanding shares at the end of period

Dividend per share, EUR Dividend for the financial period
Share issue-adjusted number of outstanding shares at the end of period

Payout ratio, % (Dividend per share) x 100
Earnings per share (EPS)

Effective dividend yield, % (Dividend per share) x 100
Share issue-adjusted closing share price at the end of period

Price/Earnings (P/E) Closing share price at the end of period
Earnings per share (EPS)
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CALCULATION PRINCIPLES OF KEY FIGURES

P/BV ratio Share issue-adjusted closing share price at the end of period

Equity per share

Earnings before taxes, depreciation and Earnings before taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)
amortization (EBITDA) per share, EUR Share issue adjusted number of outstanding shares on average during the period

Cash flow from operations per share Cash flow from operations (in the cash flow statement)
Share issue-adjusted average number of outstanding shares during the period

Net interest-bearing debt Interest-bearing liabilities - Interest-bearing receivables - Cash and cash equivalents

Market value of outstanding shares Share issue-adjusted number of outstanding shares at the end of period
x Closing share price at the end of period

EBITDA Net sales + Other operating income - Materials and services - Employee benefit expenses - Other opera-
ting expenses

EBITDA, % Operating profit before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization / Net sales x 100

Comparable EBITDA EBITDA +/- Items affecting comparability

Operating profit (EBIT) EBITDA - Depreciation and amortization - Impairment

Operating profit (EBIT), % (Net sales – Material and services) / Net sales x 100

Comparable operating profit (EBIT) Operating profit (EBIT) +/- Items affecting comparability
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RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

GOALS AND PRINCIPLES OF RISK 
MANAGEMENT
Wulff Group follows the risk manage-
ment policy devised by the Board of 
Directors that determines the objectives 
and responsibilities of risk management, 
as well as the reporting procedures. The 
Company’s risk management supports the 
achievement of strategic objectives and 
ensures business continuity. The realisation 
of risk management policies is controlled 
with internal audit regularly and also 
external auditors supervise the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the risk management 
as a part of the audit procedures related 
to Group’s governance.

Risk management is part of Wulff Group’s 
business operations management. Wulff’s 
risk management is guided by legislation, 
business objectives set by shareholders 
as well as the expectations of customers, 
personnel and other important stake-
holders. The Group’s risk management 
aims to systematically and extensively 
identify and understand any risks that may 
prevent the achievement of the Group’s 
business objectives, as well as to ensure 
that risks are appropriately managed 
when making business-related decisions. 

Threats to business include risks related to 
acquisitions, risks related to the staff and 
its availability, as well as factors related to 
the general economic development and 
the Company’s reputation.

RISK SURVEY
Risks are classified into three categories: 
strategic, operational and market risks. 
The risk management process aims to 
identify and assess risks and then plan 
and implement practical measures to 
deal with each risk. Possible measures 
include, for example, avoiding the risk, 
reducing it in different ways or transferring 
it with insurance or agreements.

Wulff Group carries out annual risk surveys 
to determine the main risks in terms of their 
significance and probability. The business 
unit leaders are responsible for carrying 
out the surveys and risk monitoring on 
which they report to the Group Executive 
Board. Selected persons are responsible 
for the monitoring of specific issues within 
each risk category i.e. strategic, operative 
or market risks. The Group has not set up 
a separate organisation for risk manage-
ment. Instead, risk management is ar-
ranged in compliance with the Company’s 

other business operations and organisation 
structure.

The divisions’ financial reports and the sit-
uation of the businesses’ key development 
projects are on the agenda of the Group 
Executive Board which convenes on a 
quarterly basis.

The main risks determined in the risk 
survey, changes in the significance and 
probability of the risks, as well as the 
persons responsible, actions completed 
and results achieved are reported to the 
Group’s Board of Directors annually. 
Special attention is paid to any possible 
new risks that are detected.

STRATEGIC RISKS
The most significant strategic risks arise 
from the uncertainties related to business 
acquisitions that may expose the Group 
to new types of market and operating 
environment risks. Acquisitions involve also 
risks related to the integration of busi-
ness, commitment of key personnel and 
achievement of business objectives set for 
the acquisition, as well as the increasing 
exposure to currency and interest rate 

risks. In accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
consolidated goodwill is not amortized 
on a regular basis, but instead is tested for 
impairment at least annually or whenever 
there are indications of impairment.

OPERATIVE RISKS 

Customer Base Management 
The main operational threats involve the 
loss of customers or sales volume and risks 
related to customer relationship manage-
ment. The Company tackles the risk of 
possible customer or volume losses by de-
veloping compensating sales in other cus-
tomer or product groups. The risk of losing 
customers is reduced by the Company’s 
independence of individual customers. 
The Group has a broad customer base 
and the management analyses the risks 
related to customer concentration.

The demand for office supplies is still 
affected by the organizations’ personnel 
lay-offs and cost-saving initiatives made 
during the economic downturn. The gen-
eral economic uncertainty may still persist, 
which will most likely affect the ordering 
behaviour of some corporate clients. Dur-
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ing the uncertain economic periods, the 
corporations may also minimize attending 
fairs.

The uncertainties relating to the general 
economic development in the last few 
years have emphasized the importance 
of monitoring the credit and default risks 
associated with customers and other 
affiliates. The credit and default risks and 
control measures are presented under 
Credit and Default Risks.

Personnel
The main operational threats involve also 
factors related to the personnel and the 
availability of workforce. Especially the 
development of net sales and profitability 
of the Expertise Sales Segment is partly 
dependant on the number of sales repre-
sentatives and their sales know-how.

Financial Risks
The Group’s parent company finances the 
major subsidiaries’ operations on a cen-
tralised basis and controls the financial 
risks arising from them. Group companies 
with non-controlling minority shareholders 
may make more independent financial 
decisions but always within the limits 
defined by the Group’s Board. In addition 
to other risk management policies, the 
parent company’s Board of Directors 
determines the principles of financial risk 
management. The goal of risk manage-
ment is to minimise the effects that price 
fluctuations in the financial markets, as 
well as other uncertainty factors may have 

on result, financial position and cash flow.

Financial risks include currency risks, inter-
est rate risks, liquidity risks, and credit risks 
managed by each subsidiary.

Currency Risks
Approximately half of the Group’s sales 
are made in euros and the other half is 
made in Swedish, Norwegian and Dan-
ish crowns.  Fluctuation of the currencies 
affects the Group’s net result and financial 
position. In terms of import, the exposure 
to currency risks affects especially the 
currency risks of the Wulff Supplies sub-
group through changes between Sweden 
and Norway. The Group has only minor 
transactions in other currencies than euros 
and Nordic currencies. Interest-bearing 
liabilities by currencies are presented in 
Note 24 of the consolidated financial 
statements. The Group does not practice 
any speculative hedging. No separate 
hedging measures against currency risk 
are taken.

Interest Rate Risks
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk 
due to loans from financial institutions 
and bank account limit facilities tied with 
variable interest rates. Changes in market 
rates impact directly the Group’s interest 
payments in the future. More information 
on the interest rates of the Group’s inter-
est-bearing liabilities is presented in Note 
24 of the consolidated financial state-
ments. The Group does not make any 
speculative interest rate agreements and 

to date, no interest rate swaps have been 
utilized for managing interest rate risks.

Liquidity Risks
Group companies operate with their own 
cash flows and if necessary, they are 
funded also with the Group’s internal fi-
nancing. In order to ensure good liquidity, 
the Group emphasises the subsidiaries’ 
independence in the management of 
operating cash flow and working capital. 
Liquidity risks are managed on the group 
level with Group bank account ar-
rangements in Finland and Scandinavia. 
Continuous supervision is used to assess 
and monitor the financing needed for the 
subsidiaries’ operations. The availability 
and flexibility of financing is ensured with 
bank account credit limits. On December 
31, 2019, unused credit limits totalled EUR 
3.8 (4.0) million in Finland. The maturity of 
loans is presented in Note 24.

Part of the Group’s loan agreements 
include covenants, according to which 
the equity ratio shall be 35% at minimum 
and the interest-bearing debt/EBITDA 
ratio shall be 3.5 at maximum at the end 
of each financial year. Covenant breach-
es lead to negotiations with the bank 
granting the guarantee and any possible 
consequences depend on the negotia-
tions. There were no covenant breaches 
on 31.12.2019. 

Credit and Default Risks
The uncertainties relating to the general 
economic development in the last few 

years have emphasized the importance 
of monitoring the credit and default risks 
associated with customers and other 
affiliates. The subsidiaries manage their 
customers’ credit analyses and active 
credit control independently. Together 
with the subsidiaries’ management, the 
subsidiaries’ working capital manage-
ment and related risks are monitored also 
on segment and group level. The Group’s 
trade receivables consist of an extensive 
customer base, and most of the annual 
sales volume is from well-known and sol-
vent customers. Consequently, the Group 
has not considered credit guarantees or 
corresponding methods to be necessary. 
The risk management policy of each com-
pany defines the credit risks and credit 
worthiness requirements, as well as the 
terms of delivery and payment. Credit risk 
monitoring is primarily the responsibility of 
the subsidiaries’ management, while the 
parent company’s financial management 
monitors regularly the realisation of the 
risk management principles and exam-
ines the efficiency of the centralised own 
collection operations and the outsourced 
collection partner. Traditionally the group 
companies’ credit losses have been 
small in relation to their net sales. Aging 
analysis of sales receivables is presented 
in Note 20 of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Capital Management
Wulff Group’s capital structure man-
agement aims to ensure and improve 
the operating conditions of the group 
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companies and to increase the Group’s 
shareholder value in a sustainable, opti-
mal way. The Group’s capital structure is 
evaluated by monitoring the development 
in equity ratio where the long-term target 
is approximately 40 percent. The Group’s 
companies operate with their own cash 
flows and if necessary, they are funded 
also with Group’s internal financing. 
The Group emphasises the subsidiaries’ 
independence in the management of 
operating cash flow and working capital. 
The Group Finance controls the group 
companies’ working capital management 
centrally. The Group Finance takes care 
of the external loan financing and agrees 
on the loans’ repayment schedules with 
the financiers centrally.

IT Risks
Subsidiaries are responsible for manag-
ing the risks related to their own IT systems 
and the most significant IT risks are eval-
uated also on group level. Also external 
auditors pay attention to IT risks and 
efficiency of the Group’s IT processes, 
and the auditors report their findings and 
development recommendations to Group 
management and Board, if necessary.

Asset Risks
The Group’s assets are comprehensively 
insured against accidents and damage. 
Some of the subsidiaries are also insured 
against interruption in operations.

Environmental Risks
The Group also takes into account 
environmental risks and emphasizes en-
vironmental-friendliness in its operations. 
The Group’s subsidiary Wulff Oy Ab has 
been granted the ISO 14001 environ-
mental certificate. Wulff provides cus-
tomers with information about recycling 
solutions for office and IT supplies and 
sees to the recycling of its customers’ used 
ink cartridges. In addition, the Group 
promotes a positive attitude towards envi-
ronmental matters and their development 
among its personnel. Wulff Entre Oy and 
Wulff Oy Ab have also been granted the 
ISO 9001 quality certificate.

When selecting suppliers, Wulff Oy Ab 
favours companies committed to sustaina-
ble development. The company chooses 
products that use environmentally friendly 
raw materials and production methods. 
In addition, the Wulffinkulma.fi webshop 
provides a wide range of green office 
products that are produced in an environ-
mentally friendly way. Recycled and rap-
idly renewable materials are preferred in 
the material choices and CO2 emissions 
caused by the transportation of products 
are minimized. All of the packaging 
materials used in Wulff Oy Ab’s product 
deliveries can be recycled or used as a 
source of energy.  

All Wulff Group companies in Finland use 
Posti Green deliveries that are CO2 neu-
tral. With improved energy efficiency and 
use of low emission, renewable energy, 

carbon dioxide emissions will be re-
duced. From the customers’ point of view, 
the deliveries are completely carbon 
neutral because the remaining emissions 
are compensated by funding Posti Green 
climate projects.

Wulff Supplies, which operates in Swe-
den, Norway and Denmark, has devel-
oped a Supplies Control concept. The 
concept contains all environmental pro-
cesses and future guidelines. The concept 
was introduced in 2009 and it has been 
developed in collaboration with custom-
ers, employees, and suppliers. With the 
help of the concept, Wulff Supplies is 
actively working to achieve overall cost 
reduction along the entire supply chain 
and minimizing environmental impacts.

Wulff Supplies makes certain that the 
products they offer have been developed 
and produced in compliance with ethical 
guidelines and applicable legislation 
and regulations. Wulff Supplies aims to 
reduce use of materials, which means 
more efficient utilization of materials and 
energy. More environmental friendly 
alternatives are used whenever they are 
available and hazardous substances 
are avoided. Wulff Supplies has been 
awarded with the ISO 9001:2008 and 
ISO 14001:2004 certificates in all of its 
operating countries.

The Finnish Packaging Recycling RINKI 
Ltd has awarded Wulff with a certificate 
showing that the company handles the 

recovery of the packages it supplies to 
the market in compliance with directives, 
acts and statutes.

Market Risks
The main market risks include negative 
development in consumer preferences 
in important product groups, the effect 
of economic cycles on the demand of 
office supplies and services, as well as 
international customer contracts. Chang-
es in consumer preferences, such as 
new trends in printing solutions, affect 
development in the sector. International 
epidemics which restrict traveling may 
have an impact on fair service business. 
Wulff Group keeps a close eye on 
changes and develops and searches for 
products and services that meet the new 
needs. The Group’s broad range of prod-
ucts and services reduces the risks caused 
by changing consumer preferences. 
The Company prepares for economic 
downturns by adjusting operations and 
expanding its customer base.
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SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

SHARE CAPITAL
The parent company’s share capital of 
EUR 2.65 million consists of 6,907,628 
shares with one vote each and with no 
par value. In 2018, the number of shares 
increased from 6,607,628 shares when, 
with the authorization granted by the 
Annual General Meeting to the Board 
of Directors, Wulff Group Plc carried 
out a directed share issue on August 14, 
2018 of 300,000 shares to the owners 
of Mavecom Palvelut Ltd as a part of 
business acquisition. The shares were 
admitted for trading together with the 
other shares of the company on August 
27, 2018. The value of the new shares 
was approximately EUR 0.5 million. The 
share subscription price corresponded 
to the volume weighted average price of 
the company’s shares quoted on NAS-
DAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (”Helsinki Stock 
Exchange”) between May 1, 2018 and 
July 31, 2018. The directed share issue 
increased Wulff Group Plc’s invested un-
restricted equity by EUR 0.5 million. There 
were no changes in share capital in 2019.

AUTHORIZATIONS OF THE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS
Authorizing the Board of Directors to 
decide on a Share Issue and the Special 
Entitlement of Shares

The Annual General Meeting on April 4, 
2019 authorised the Board to decide on 
the issue of new shares, disposal of treas-
ury shares and/or the issue of special 
rights referred to in Chapter 10, Section 
1 of the Companies Act in the following 
way: 

The authorisation entitles the Board to 
issue a maximum of 1,300,000 shares, 
representing approximately 20% of the 
company’s current outstanding stock, 
based on a single decision or several 
decisions. This maximum number encom-
passes the share issue and the shares 
issued on the basis of special rights. The 
share issue may be subject to or exempt 
from fees and may be carried out for the 
company itself as provided in the law. 

The authorisation remains in force until 
the next Annual General Meeting. The 
authorisation entitles the Board to deviate 
from shareholders’ pre-emptive rights as 
provided in the law (private placement). 
The authorisation can be used to carry 
out acquisitions or other business-related 
arrangements, to finance investments, to 
improve the company’s capital structure, 
to support the implementation of the 
company’s incentive scheme or for other 

purposes as decided by the Board. The 
authorisation includes the right to decide 
on the way in which the subscription price 
is entered in the company’s balance 
sheet. The subscription price can be paid 
in cash or as a non-cash contribution, 
either partly or in full, or by offsetting the 
subscription price with a receivable of the 
subscriber. The Board of Directors has the 
right to decide on other matters related 
to the share issue. The Company used its 
authorization as described under header 
Share Capital in 2018.

Authorizing the Board of Directors to de-
cide on the Repurchase of the Company’s 
own Shares  

The Annual General Meeting on April 4, 
2019 authorised the Board of Directors 
to resolve on the acquisition of maximum 
300,000 own shares. The authorization 
is effective until 30.4.2020. The author-
ization encompasses the acquisitions of 
the own shares through the public trading 
arranged by NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 
Oy in pursuance of its rules or through a 
purchase offer made to the shareholders. 
The consideration paid for the acquired 
shares must be based on the market 
price. To carry out treasury share acqui-

sitions, derivative, stock loan and other 
agreements may be made on the capital 
market in accordance with the relevant 
laws and regulations.

The authorization entitles the Board of 
Directors to deviate from the pre-emptive 
rights of shareholders (directed acqui-
sition) in accordance with the law. The 
company can acquire treasury shares 
to carry out acquisitions or other busi-
ness-related arrangements, to improve the 
company’s capital structure, to support the 
implementation of the company’s incen-
tive scheme or to be cancelled or dis-
posed of. The Board of Directors has the 
right to decide on other matters related to 
the acquisition of treasury shares.

TREASURY SHARES
In 2018 or 2019 no own shares were 
reacquired. According to the Annual 
General Meeting’s authorisation on April 
4, 2019, the Board of Directors decided 
in its organizing meeting to continue the 
acquisition of its own shares, by acquiring 
a maximum of 300,000 own shares by 
April 30, 2020.

The shares are acquired through public 
trading on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki in 
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a proportion other than that of current 
shareholder holdings. The shares are 
acquired at the market price quoted at 
the time of the repurchase in accordance 
with the rules regarding the acquisition 
of company’s owns shares. According to 
the authorisation, the treasury shares can 
be acquired to carry out acquisitions or 
other business related arrangements, to 
improve the company’s capital structure, 
to support the implementation of the 
company’s incentive scheme or to be 
cancelled or disposed of.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Group does not have any option 
schemes currently in force. Wulff Group 
has no share reward plan in force at 
the moment. Wulff Group Plc’s Board of 
Directors draws up the rules for the share 
reward plans and approves the key per-
sons to be included in the plan. 

SHARE QUOTATION
Wulff Group Plc’s stock exchange history 
started in October 2000 when the com-
pany’s share was first listed on the Helsinki 
Stock Exchange’s NM list. On April 22, 
2003, Wulff transferred its shares to the 
main list, where they were listed in the 
Consumer Discretionary sector. Until 
February 2012, Wulff Group Plc’s shares 
were listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 
in the Small Cap segment under the Con-
sumer Discretionary sector. In February 
2012, the sector changed to the Industrial 
Goods and Services sector. 
Wulff shares’ trading code is WUF1V. 

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki commenced 
trading in round lots of one share on Sep-
tember 25, 2006. The share series’ ISIN 
code used for international settlement of 
securities is FI0009008452.

TRADING AND PRICE DEVELOPMENT 
OF WULFF SHARES
In 2019, a total of 736,299 (190,345) 
Wulff shares were traded which repre-
sents 10.8% (2.9) of the total outstanding 
number of shares. The trading was worth 
EUR 1,232,914 (293,735). In 2019, the 
highest share price was EUR 1.91 (1.79) 
and the lowest price was EUR 1.50 per 
share (1.32). At the end of 2019, the share 
was valued at EUR 1.77 (1.69) and the 
market capitalization of the outstanding 
shares totalled EUR 12,1 million (11.5).

DIVIDEND POLICY
Wulff Group Plc follows an active 
dividend policy. The goal is to distribute 
around 50% of the period’s net profit 
in dividend. The Board of Directors of 
Wulff-Group has decided to propose 
to the Annual General Meeting on April 
2, 2020 that dividend of EUR 0.11 per 
share be paid for the financial year 2019 
representing EUR 0.8 million. Rest of the 
distributable funds shall remain in the 
shareholders’ retained earnings.

SHAREHOLDERS AND OWNERSHIP 
STRUCTURE
Wulff Group Plc’s shares are regis-
tered in the book-entry securities system 
maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. The 

most significant shareholders and the 
ownership structure are presented in the 
graphs attached. There were no disclosed 
notifications on changes in major share 
holdings in 2019 or 2018.

INSIDER REGULATIONS
Wulff Group Plc complies with applicable 
EU regulations, especially the Market 
Abuse Regulation (EU 596/2016, 
“MAR”), and any regulation and guid-
ance given by the European Securities 
Markets Authority (“ESMA”). Further, the 
company complies with Finnish legisla-
tion, especially the Securities Markets Act 
(746/2012, as amended) and the Finnish 
Penal Code (39/1889, as amended), 
including the insider and other guidelines 
of Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd and the standards 
and guidance of the Finnish Financial 
Supervisory Authority (“FIN-FSA”) and 
other authorities.
Wulff hasn’t maintained a list of perma-
nent insiders since July 3, 2016. Instead, 
all persons involved with insider projects 
will be listed as project-specific insiders. 
Project-specific lists will be established 
and maintained for each project or event 
constituting inside information, based on 
a separate decision. All persons work-
ing for Wulff, representatives of external 
entities, stakeholders and authorities who 
have information concerning an insider 
project or have access to project-specific 
inside information, as well as persons 
who are working for the implementation 
of an insider project, will be entered in a 
project-specific insider list.

Preparation of periodic disclosure (annual 
and half year financial statements, interim 
reports, financial statements bulletins) or 
regular access to unpublished financial 
information is not regarded as an insider 
project. However, due to the sensitive 
nature of unpublished information on the 
company’s financial results, the persons 
determined by the company, based on 
their position or access rights, to have au-
thorised access to unpublished financial 
result information are added to a list of 
Financial Information Recipients.

Wulff applies an absolute trading 
prohibition (a ‘closed window’ principle) 
during a period beginning 30 calendar 
days before the announcement of each 
of the periodic financial reports and the 
year-end report (the financial statements 
bulletin) and ending at the end of the 
trading day following the day of publica-
tion of such a report. 
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MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS 
DECEMBER 31, 2019 
 
The shareholders information is based 
on the shareholders’ register maintained 
by Euroclear Finland Ltd. Shareholders 
are grouped according to the known 
direct holdings of individual shareholders, 
individuals under their guardianship and 
the shares held by associations where they 
exercise authority and stated as aggre-
gate amounts and specified category. The 
shareholdings of companies belonging to 
the same group are stated both as aggre-
gate amounts and specified by category. 
The list of major shareholders can be found 
on the Group’s website at wulff.fi/en/.

Major shareholders December 31, 2019 Number of shares % of shares

1 Vienola Heikki 2 500 000 36.2%

2 Pikkarainen Ari 1 171 825 17.0%

3 LähiTapiola 761 100 11.0%
Elo Mutual Pension Insurance Company 350 000 5.1%
Tapiola General Mutual Insurance Company 283 900 4.1%
Lähitapiola Mutual Life Assurance Company 127 200 1.8%

4 Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 450 000 6.5%

5 Nordea 329 761 4.8%
Nordea Nordic Small Cap Equity Fund 296 128 4.3%
Nordea Bank Finland Plc 33 633 0.5%

6 TCF-Myynti Ltd 170 000 2.5%
7 OP Life Assurance Company Ltd 118 065 1.7%
8 Wulff Group Plc 79 000 1.1%
9 Ågerfalk Veijo 66 000 1.0%
10 Laakkonen Mikko 64 185 0.9%
11 Luoma Marko 56 147 0.8%

12 Progift Oy 51 162 0.7%
13 Salo Jouko 38 112 0.6%
14 Heikki Tervonen Oy 35 000 0.5%
15 Aalto Lasse 31 239 0.5%

Total of 15 biggest shareholders 5 921 596 85.7%
Total of other shareholders 986 032 14.3%

Total number of shares 6 907 628 100.0%

- Own shares -79 000

Total number of outstanding shares 6 828 628
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SHAREHOLDERS BY GROUP AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019

Owner groups Number of shareholders % Number of shares %

Companies 41 4.4% 431 851 6.3%
Financial and insurance institutions 11 1.2% 851 093 12.3%
Public entities 2 0.2% 800 000 11.6%
Non-profit organisations 2 0.2% 110 0.0%
Private persons 865 92.6% 4 698 393 68.0%
Foreign shareholders 7 0.7% 5 050 0.1%
Nominee-registered shareholders 6 0.6% 121 131 1.8%

Total 934 100.0% 6 907 628 100.0%

SHAREHOLDERS BY THE NUMBER OF SHARES OWNED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Number of shares Number of shareholders % Number of shares %

1-500 606 64.9% 97 797 1.4%
501-1000 134 14.3% 110 764 1.6%
1 001-10 000 161 17.2% 485 630 7.0%
10 001-100 000 24 2.6% 746 319 10.8%
100 001- 9 1.0% 5 467 118 79.1%

Total 934 100.0% 6 907 628 100.0%
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INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2020
Wulff Group Plc’s Annual General 
Meeting will be held on Thursday April 2, 
2020 at noon (12.00) at Nasdaq Hel-
sinki premises, Fabianinkatu 14, Helsinki, 
Finland.

Shareholders are entitled to attend the 
meeting if they have been registered as 
shareholders in the Company’s sharehold-
er list maintained by Euroclear Finland 
Ltd no later than on Monday March 23, 
2020 and have registered as attendants 
to the Annual General Meeting no later 
than on Monday March 30, 2020. 

Registration for the Annual General 
Meeting can be made to the company:
- by e-mail to investors@wulff.fi 
- by telephone +358 300 870 414
- with a letter to Wulff Group Plc, Annual 
General Meeting, Kilonkartanontie 3, 
FI-02610 Espoo, Finland.

Each holder of nominee registered shares 
has the right to participate in the Annual 
General Meeting on the basis of those 
shares that would allow him/her to be 
registered in the shareholders’ register of 
the Company held by Euroclear Finland 
Ltd on Monday March 23, 2020. A 

holder of nominee registered shares 
wishing to participate in the Annual 
General Meeting shall be temporarily 
registered into the shareholders’ register 
of the company kept by Euroclear Finland 
Ltd at the latest on Monday March 30, 
2020 by 10.00 A.M. For each holder of 
nominee registered shares this is consid-
ered as the registration of attending to 
the Annual General Meeting. A holder 
of nominee registered shares is advised 
to request without delay necessary 
instructions regarding the registration in 
the shareholders’ register, the issuing of 
proxy documents and registration for the 
Annual General Meeting from his/her 
custodian bank. The custodian bank of 
an account operator must announce the 
holder of nominee registered shares wish-
ing to participate in the Annual General 
Meeting to be temporarily registered into 
the shareholders’ register no later than on 
the above-mentioned date.  

Instructions for registration and additional 
information on the Annual General Meet-
ing are available at the Group’s website 
at www.wulff.fi/en.

DIVIDEND FOR 2019
The Board of Directors of Wulff Group 
Plc proposes to the Annual General 
Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.11 per 
share be paid for the financial year 2019. 
The dividend approved by the Annual 
General Meeting will be paid to share-
holders who have been registered in the 
Company’s shareholder list maintained 
by Euroclear Finland Ltd on the record 
date of the dividend payment, Monday 
April 6, 2020. The Board proposes to 
the Annual General Meeting that the 
dividend be paid on Wednesday April 
15, 2020. 

FINANCIAL REPORTING 2020
Wulff Group Plc will release the following 
financial reports in 2020:
 
Interim Report, January-March 2020 
Monday April 27, 2020

Half-Year Report, January-June 2020 
Monday July 27, 2020

Interim Report, January-September 2020 
Monday October 26, 2020
 
Wulff Group Plc’s financial reports are 
published in Finnish and English and they 

are also available at www.wulff.fi/en. To 
receive Wulff Group Plc’s interim reports 
and releases by email, shareholders can 
join the company’s email distribution list 
by sending a request by email to inves-
tors@wulff.fi. 

CONTACT INFORMATION FOR 
ORDERING THE ANNUAL REPORT

Wulff Group Plc
Kilonkartanontie 3, FI-02610  
Espoo, Finland
tel: +358 300 870 414
email: investors@wulff.fi 

The Annual Report is published as a PDF 
document in Finnish and English. It can be 
viewed at the Group’s website at  
www.wulff.fi/en. 

CONTACT PERSON FOR INVESTOR 
RELATION

Group CEO
Elina Pienimäki
Kilonkartanontie 3
FI-02610 Espoo, Finland
tel: +358 300 870 414
mobile: +358 40 647 1444
email: elina.pienimaki@wulff.fi 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT, IFRS
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT, IFRS

EUR 1000 Note Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2019 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2018

Net sales 2, 4 56 344 55 889
Other operating income 5 237 141
Materials and services 6 -36 519 -36 219
Employee benefit expenses 7 -11 949 -11 542
Other operating expenses 8 -5 047 -6 349

EBITDA 3 067 1 920
Depreciation and amortization 9 -1 497 -412

Operating profit (EBIT) 1 570 1 508
Financial income 10 62 16
Financial expenses 10 -438 -281

Profit before taxes 1 194 1 243
Income taxes 11 -151 -169

Net profit/loss for the period 1 043 1 074

Attributable to:
   Equity holders of the parent company 1 039 1 025
   Non-controlling interests 4 49

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent 
company:
Earnings per share, EUR (diluted = non-diluted) 12 0,15 0,15

EUR 1000 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2019 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2018

Net profit/loss for the period 1 043 1 074
Other comprehensive income which may be reclassified to profit or  
loss subsequently (net of tax)
Change in translation differences -17 -86
Total other comprehensive income -17 -86

Total comprehensive income for the period 1 027 988

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
   Equity holders of the parent company 1 021 949
   Non-controlling interests 6 39

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, IFRS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION, IFRS

EUR 1000 Note Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 13, 15 8 131 8 160
Intangible assets 13 501 274
Property, plant and equipment 13 8 025 663
Non-current financial assets
   Long-term receivables from others 16 48 48
   Available-for-sale investments 17 57 57
Deferred tax assets 11 1 113 1 134

Total non-current assets 17 874 10 336

Current assets
Inventories 18 6 864 7 227
Short-term receivables
   Loan receivables from others 19 15 18
   Trade receivables from others 20 6 318 6 462
   Other receivables 20 99 96
   Accrued income and expenses 20 1 574 1 797
Cash and cash equivalents 21 348 476

Total current assets 15 219 16 076

TOTAL ASSETS 33 093 26 412

EUR 1000 Note Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent company:
   Share capital 2 650 2 650
   Share premium fund 7 662 7 662
   Invested unrestricted equity fund 676 676
   Retained earnings 1 041 729

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent company 12 029 11 717

Non-controlling interests 350 369

Total equity 22, 23 12 380 12 086

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 24 4 972 1 258
Leasing liabilities 24 480 -
Non-interest-bearing liabilities 26 646 853
Deferred tax liabilities 11 178 108

Total non-current liabilities 6 275 2 219

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 24 2 539 1 151
Leasing liabilities 24 568 -
Trade payables 26 5 829 5 226
Advance payments 26 1 478 1 780

Other liabilities 26 1 689 1 591
Accrued income and expenses 26 2 335 2 359
Total current liabilities 14 438 12 107

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 33 093 26 412
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT, IFRS

EUR 1000 Note Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2019 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2018

Cash flow from operating activities:
   Cash received from sales 56 735 56 184
   Cash received from other operating income 222 141
   Cash paid for operating expenses -52 975 -55 054

Cash flow from operating activities before financial items and income taxes 3 982 1 272
   Interest paid -171 -80
   Interest received 52 16
   Income taxes paid -87 -123

Cash flow from operating activities 3 777 1 085

Cash flow from investing activities:
   Investments in intangible and tangible assets -7 359 -446
   Acquisition of subsidiary company shares 3 -120 -
   Proceeds from sales of intangible and tangible assets 15 14

Cash flow from investing activities -7 463 -432

Cash flow from financing activities:
   Dividends paid 23 -707 -326
   Dividends received 10 4 -
   Cash paid for changes in non-controlling interest 3 - -44
   Repayments of financial lease liabilities -852 -60
   Withdrawals and repayments of short-term loans 996 542

   Withdrawals of long-term loans 4 922 -
   Repayments of long-term loans -815 -486

Cash flow from financing activities 3 546 -375

Change in cash and cash equivalents -140 278

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 476 213
Translation difference of cash 12 -14
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 21 348 476
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY, IFRS 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

EUR 1000 Note Share capital
Share- 

premium fund
Fund for invested 

non-restricted equity
Treasury 
shares

Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings

Total
Non-controlling 

interest
TOTAL

Equity on Jan 1, 2019 2 650 7 662 676 -260 -583 1 572 11 718 368 12 086
IAS 17 adjustment 1.1.2019 to retained earnings -26 -26 - -26

Adjusted equity on Jan 1, 2019 2 650 7 662 676 -260 -583 1 546 11 692 368 12 060
Net profit/loss for the period 1 039 1 039 4 1 043
Other comprehensive income*:
Change in translation differences -18 -18 2 -17
Comprehensive income * -18 1 039 1 021 6 1 027
Transactions with the shareholders:

Dividends paid -683 -683 -24 -707
Transactions with the shareholders total -683 -683 -24 -707
Equity on Dec 31, 2019 22 2 650 7 662 676 -260 -601 1 902 12 029 350 12 380

Equity on Jan 1, 2018 2 650 7 662 223 -260 -508 935 10 702 374 11 076
IFRS 15 adjustment 1.1.2018 to retained earnings -61 -61 - -61

Adjusted equity on Jan 1, 2018 874 10 642 374 11 016

Effect of the IFRS 15 standard change on the year-end result for 2018 61 61 - 61
Net profit / loss for the period 963 963 49 1 013
Net profit/loss for the period 1 025 1 025 49 1 074
Other comprehensive income*:
Change in translation differences -76 -76 -10 -86
Comprehensive income * -76 1 025 949 39 988

Transactions with the shareholders:
Dividends paid -326 -326 -326
Transactions with the shareholders total -326 -326 -326
Changes in subsidiary shareholdings:
Changes in non-controlling interests which did not lead to a change of control -44 -44
Changes in non-controlling interests which lead to a change of control 453 453 453

Changes in subsidiary shareholdings total: 453 453 -44 409

Equity on Dec 31, 2018 22 2 650 7 662 676 -260 -583 1 572 11 718 368 12 086

 * with tax impact included
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT 
THE GROUP
The Group’s parent company, Wulff 
Group Plc is a Finnish public limited liability 
company, established in accordance with 
Finnish law. It is domiciled in Helsinki and 
the address of its headquarters is Kilonkar-
tanontie 3, 02610 Espoo, Finland. Copies 
of the consolidated financial statements 
are available at the above address.

The Group consists of the parent company 
Wulff Group Plc and its 17 subsidiaries in 
Finland, Sweden, Norway and Denmark. 
Wulff’s product and service range includes 
office supplies, IT supplies, ergonomics, 
printing services and international fair 
services. The Group’s two concepts, the 
Contract Customers concept and the 
Expertise Sales concept, enable Wulff to 
serve its various-sized customers in different 
industries professionally and comprehen-
sively. The Contract Customers concept 
eases the customers’ regular office supply 
purchases. The Expertise Sales concept 
serves especially small and mid-sized 
companies with a personal  
approach. The Group is managed based 
on the operating segments of these differ-
ent service concepts, the Contract Custom-

ers segment and the Expertise Sales seg-
ment, which have been described in more 
detail in Note 2 Segment information.
 The Board of Directors of Wulff Group Plc 
has approved these financial statements 
for publication at its meeting on March 
9, 2020. According to the Finnish Limited 
Liability Companies Act, the shareholders 
at the general meeting held after the publi-
cation may approve or reject the financial 
statements or decide on amendments to 
be made to the financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in compliance 
with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) including the IAS and 
IFRS standards as well as the SIC and 
IFRIC interpretations in effect on December 
31, 2019. The term ‘IFRS standards’ refers 
to standards and interpretations which are 
approved and adopted by the European 
Union (regulation EY 1606/2002) and 
thus are in force in the Finnish legislation. 
The Group has not adopted any new, re-
vised or amended standards or interpreta-
tions that are not yet effective. The notes to 
the consolidated financial statements also 
comply with the Finnish accounting and 

corporate legislation, which supplement 
the IFRS regulations.

In compliance with the IFRS standards, 
the consolidated financial statements are 
based on historical cost except for avail-
able-for-sale financial assets, financial as-
sets recognised at fair value through profit 
and loss as well as share-based transac-
tions to be settled in cash and measured 
at fair value. Equity-settled share-based 
payments (share rewards) have also been 
measured at fair value at the grant date.

The IFRS standards require the manage-
ment to make estimates and judgements 
when preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Although these estimates and 
judgements are based on the manage-
ment’s best knowledge when preparing the 
financial statements, the final outcome may 
differ from the estimated values presented 
in the financial statements. Information 
about the assessments and judgments that 
the management have made and that are 
most critical to the figures in the financial 
statements are presented under Critical 
accounting estimates and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty.

The Group complies with the Guidelines 
on Alternative Performance Measures 
(APM) issued by the European Securi-
ties and Markets Authority (ESMA) in its 
statutory reporting. These alternative perfor-
mance measures, such as the comparable 
operating profit and comparable EBITDA, 
are used to present the underlying business 
performance and to enhance comparabil-
ity between financial periods. The com-
parable operating profit and comparable 
EBITDA do not include items affecting 
comparability. These are items that are not 
included in normal business activities, such 
as profits and expenses, like profits from 
sales of subsidiaries, write-downs of good-
will and in 2019, the relocation of Wulff 
Group Plc’s premises to Espoo, Finland. 
The Alternative Performance Measures 
should not be taken as substitutes for the 
standards presented in the Generally Ac-
cepted Accounting Principles for IFRS.

All figures are presented as thousands of 
euros and have been rounded to the near-
est thousand euros. Therefore the total sums 
do not necessarily fully reconcile to the sum 
of individual figures.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND UPDATED 
IFRS STANDARDS
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
the previous years’ accounting standards, 
adopting also the following new and up-
dated IFRS standards and interpretations 
that have come into effect as of January 
1, 2019. The IFRS 16 Lease Agreements 
-standard had a significant impact on 
the accounting principles of the Group 
consolidated financial statements. More 
information on the impact of the adoption 
of the standard have been presented in 
the Leases-section and in the notes to the 
accounts of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Wulff Group has not yet adopted the 
following new and amended standards 
and interpretations already issued by the 
IASB. The Group will adopt them as of the 
effective date or, if the date is other than 
the first day of the financial year, from the 
beginning of the subsequent financial year. 

Otherwise according to the management’s 
assessment other amended standards and 
interpretations that come into force on 
1.1.2020 do not have a significant effect 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
The consolidated financial statements 
include the parent company Wulff Group 
Plc and all its subsidiaries in which it holds, 
directly or indirectly, more than half of the 
voting rights or other governing power. The 

Group controls an entity when the Group 
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The 
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
the Group gains control until the Group 
loses control in them. The subsidiaries have 
the same financial period as the parent 
company.

Intra-Group holdings have been elimi-
nated using the acquisition cost method, 
according to which the acquisition cost 
as well as the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary are measured at fair value 
at the acquisition date. If the acquisition 
cost, the non-controlling interests and the 
previously owned share in total exceed 
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the 
excess is recognized as goodwill which is 
not amortized but tested for impairment at 
least annually. If the goodwill is negative, 
it is recognized directly through income 
statement. Acquisition transaction costs are 
expensed when incurred and they are not 
included in goodwill.

The non-controlling interests i.e. the minority 
shares in a subsidiary acquired are meas-
ured at either fair value or at the amount 
corresponding to the minority sharehold-
ers’ proportional share of the net assets 
acquired. The valuation choice is made 
separately for each acquisition. When the 
Group acquires shares from the minority 
shareholders, the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the book value of the 

share of the net assets acquired is recog-
nized directly to equity and the goodwill 
does not change anymore after the origi-
nal acquisition of controlling majority. Also 
the gains and losses from the sale of shares 
to minority shareholders are recognized 
directly in equity. The losses incurred are 
allocated also to the minority shareholders. 
The Group’s equity and earnings attrib-
utable to the non-controlling interests are 
presented separately. Changes in owner-
ship of subsidiaries, which do not lead to 
loss of control, are recognised as equity 
transactions.

All intra-Group business transactions, 
internal receivables and liabilities, internal 
margins for inventories and fixed assets, 
as well as internal profit distribution have 
been eliminated when preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have associated 
companies or joint ventures.

FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS
Items in each group company’s financial 
statements are measured using the curren-
cy of that company’s country (“functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in euro, which is 
the Company’s functional and reporting 
currency.

Foreign currency transactions are trans-
lated into functional currency using the 
exchange rates prevailing on the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated into functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
balance sheet date. Non-monetary items 
denominated in foreign currency, meas-
ured at fair value, are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses 
from operating business transactions are 
recorded in the appropriate, correspond-
ing income statement accounts included 
in operating profit. Also foreign exchange 
gains and losses arising from the trans-
lation of foreign-currency-denominated 
trade receivables and trade payables are 
recorded in the related income statement 
accounts included in operating profit. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses from 
the translation of foreign-currency-denom-
inated loan receivables and liabilities as 
well as monetary assets are recognized in 
financial income and expenses. Exchange 
differences arising on a monetary item that 
forms a part of a net investment in a foreign 
operation are recognized in the statement 
of other comprehensive income and finally 
on the disposal of the net investment they 
are recognized in the income statement.

Income statements of foreign subsidiaries, 
whose functional and reporting currency 
is not euro, are translated into euro using 
the monthly average exchange rates. Their 
balance sheets are translated using the 
exchange rates of balance sheet date. 
The translation differences arising from the 
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translation of income statements and bal-
ance sheets as well as from the elimination 
of internal ownership and the exchange 
differences resulting from translating equity 
incurred after the date of acquisition are 
recognized in the statement of other 
comprehensive income and the cumulative 
translation differences are presented in 
equity. On the disposal of a subsidiary 
functioning in foreign currency, that entity’s 
cumulative translation difference is recog-
nized in the income statement as part of the 
gain or loss on the sale.

Any goodwill arising from the acquisition 
of a foreign company and any fair value 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of as-
sets and liabilities arising on the acquisition 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign subsidiary and retranslated using 
the exchange rate of balance sheet date. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Wulff Group companies sell office sup-
plies and services and international fair 
services. The product and service portfolio 
is presented in more detail in notes to the 
accounts number 2. Segment information. 
Revenue is recognised when parties have 
accepted customer contracts either in writ-
ten or orally or in other customary manner 
(e.g. shopping at a brick-and-mortar store) 
when a distinct product and/or services 
has been handed over and the customer 
has obtained control over the products 
and services. 

Net sales comprise of consideration 

received less indirect sales taxes, discounts 
and exchange rate differences arising from 
sales denominated in foreign currency. The 
monetary value of the revenue recognition 
is based on the value of the delivered 
products and services by the time of report-
ing. The net sales from customer contracts 
do not change retrospectively. The terms of 
payment are typically 14-60 days with no 
interest and invoicing is done normally at 
time of delivery of the products and servic-
es. Fair services invoicing is mostly done in 
advance to service delivery and is based 
on in advance paid supplier invoices born 
from building the fair premises. The custom-
er contracts do not have any significant 
financing components. The consolidated 
net sales do not include intra-group trans-
actions. Incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract are activated in intangible assets 
and expensed over the customer contract 
period.

Wulff recognises the incremental costs of 
obtaining a contract in other intangible 
assets when the company has acquired 
a customer contract exceeding twelve 
months in time and the company expects to 
recover the costs. Incremental costs of ob-
taining a contract are costs, which incure 
to the company in acquiring the customer 
contract, which would have not incured, if 
the customer contract was not acquired. 
The incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract are expensed over the contract 
period, normally over three years time. The 
costs of obtaining a contract, which would 
indured whether the contract was acquired 

or not, are expensed in the profit and loss 
statement. The costs of fulfilling the customer 
contracts are recognized according to the 
IAS 2 Inventories -standard.

Due to the adoption IFRS Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers standard from 
Jan 1, 2018 onwards, the revenue of fair 
services offered by Wulff Entre Ltd are 
recognized at the time of fairs. Before 
Jan 1, 2018 Wulff Entre Ltd’s fair projects 
were recognised following the percent-
age-of-completion method over time. The 
percentage of completion was determined 
in different projects based on the hours 
performed of the total hours and the costs 
incurred of the total costs. The financial 
statements were not materially affected by 
the receivables and advance payments 
of the projects recognized based on the 
percentage-of-completion method. The 
effects of transition during the reporting 
period 2018 are presented in notes to 
the accounts 4. Net sales, 6. Materials 
and services, 11. Taxes and in changes in 
equity -calculation. Delivered fair services’ 
uninvoiced sales and unpaid costs are 
estimated and reconsidered regularly 
according to the customer and supplier 
contracts and possible changes in esti-
mates are recognised when the changed 
circumstances have come to the attention 
of the management.

The products Wulff sells are typically 
covered by the vendors’ guarantee and 
a guarantee over manufacturing defects, 
which normally is one year. The guarantee 

does not cover maluse or anti-instruction 
use or damages which are born from 
normal use of the product or faulty use of 
the product.

Rental income arising from operating 
leases is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms. Royalty income is 
recorded according to the contents of the 
agreement. Dividend income is recognized 
when the company is entitled to receive the 
dividends.

GOODWILL AND OTHER 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill represents the excess of the 
acquisition cost, the non-controlling interests 
and the previously owned share in total 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of 
the net identifiable assets of a subsidiary 
acquired. Goodwill is allocated to those 
cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies arising from 
the business combination. Goodwill is not 
systematically amortized but it is tested 
annually for possible impairment. Good-
will is measured at the original value less 
impairment which is not cancelled later.

Intangible assets include customer relation-
ships, copyrights, licenses, software rights 
and webstore project costs. An intangible 
asset is recognized in the balance sheet 
only if it is probable that the future econom-
ic benefits attributable to the asset will flow 
to the Group, and the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably. Intangible assets 
are stated at cost, amortized on a straight-
line basis over the expected useful lives 
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and adjusted for any impairment charges. 
Intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are measured at the acquisi-
tion date’s fair value. Expected useful lives 
of intangible assets are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and depreciation 
periods are changed, if necessary. So far, 
the Group does not have intangible assets 
with indefinite economic lifetime.

TANGIBLE ASSETS
Tangible assets are stated at historical cost, 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the expected useful life and adjusted for 
any impairment charges. Tangible assets 
acquired in a business combination are 
valued at the acquisition date’s fair value.

Expected useful lives of tangible assets are 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and, 
if they differ significantly from previous esti-
mates, the depreciation times are changed 
accordingly. Land is not depreciated as it 
is deemed to have an indefinite life.

Ordinary maintenance and repair costs 
are expensed as incurred. Gains and loss-
es on sales and disposals are determined 

as the difference between the proceeds 
received and the carrying amount. Those 
gains and losses are included in other 
operating income and expenses in the 
income statement. Possible group-internal 
margins from asset transfers are eliminated 
in the consolidation process.

Depreciations are discontinued when the 
tangible asset is classified as being held-
for-sale in accordance with standard IFRS 
5 Non-Current Assets Held-for-sale and 
Discontinued Operations. 

IMPAIRMENT
The carrying amounts of tangible and 
intangible assets are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If indi-
cations exist, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated. Indications of potential 
need for impairment may be for example 
changes in market conditions and sales 
prices, decisions on significant restructur-
ings or changes in profitability. Goodwill, 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 
and intangible assets under construction 

are in all cases tested annually. For the pur-
poses of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest cash-generating-unit 
level for which there are separately identifi-
able, mainly independent cash flows. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable value. An impairment 
loss is the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds the recov-
erable amount. The recoverable amount 
is the asset’s value-in-use determined by 
discounted future net cash flows expected 
to be generated by the asset. Discount rate 
used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. 
Impairment loss is immediately recognized 
in the income statement. An impairment 
loss attributable to a cash-generating unit is 
deducted first from the goodwill allocated 
to the cash-generating unit, and thereafter 
equally from the unit’s other assets. In con-
nection with the impairment loss recogni-
tion, the asset’s useful life is reassessed for 
the depreciations. A previously recognized 

impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates determin-
ing the recoverable amount. However, the 
reversal of the impairment must not lead to 
a value higher than the carrying amount 
determined without any impairment loss in 
prior years. Goodwill impairment losses 
are not reversed.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs are capitalized as part of 
the cost of the qualifying asset acquired or 
constructed. So far, the Group has not cap-
italized borrowing costs as part of the cost 
of the asset because the IFRS requirements 
have not been met. Other borrowing costs 
are expensed when incurred. 

LEASES
The IFRS 16 Lease Agreements -stand-
ard has been applied from Jan 1, 2019 
onwards. The impact of applying the IFRS 
16 Lease Agreements -standard on the 
assets and liabilities was EUR 1.6 million at 
the the end of March 2019. The implemen-
tation was prepared utilizing the simplified 
method, hence comparison period from 

TANGIBLE ASSETS

The expected useful lives are:

Buildings   20 years; straight-line
Machinery and equipment 3–8 years; straight-line
Cars and vehicles 5 years; straight-line
Other tangible assets 5–10 years; straight-line
Tangible assets under construction no depreciations; impairment testing

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The expected useful lives are:

Goodwill no depreciations; impairment testing
IT software 3–7 years; straight-line
Customer relationships 5 years; straight-line
Other intangible assets 3–5 years; straight-line
Intangible assets under construction no depreciations; impairment testing
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2018 has not been adjusted according 
to the changed reporting requirements. 
More information on the impact of the 
adaption of the IFRS 16 Leases -standard 
has been presented in the notes to the 
accounts 9 Amortization, depreciation 
and impairment, 10. Financial income and 
expenses 13. Goodwill and intangible, 
tangible assets and a-right of use assets 
and 24. Long-term and short-term financial 
liabilities.
The condensed consolidated finan-
cial statement include lease expenses 
especially from rented premises and 
appliances. The lessee recognises lease 
agreements as right-of-use assets in the 
balance sheet’s tangible assets when it has 
got a right of possession in exchange for 
payments and correspondingly as lease 
agreement liabilities of the remaining 
lease agreement liabilities’ net present 
value. The lease agreement expenses 
are presented in the income statement 
as straight-line based depreciations 
over the lease agreement period and 
as financial expenses according to the 
lease agreements discount rate. The 
lease agreement liability is valued at 
the net present value by discounting the 
liability using the management’s estimate 
of the interest rate of additional external 
financing at the start of the lease agree-
ment. The lease payments are presented 
as cash flow from financing activities in 
the cash flow statement. Short-term, less  
than 12-month-lease agreements and 
low value lease items are presented in 
the income statement as other operating 

expenses over the leasing period. The 
right-of-use assets were not subleased. 
The lease agreements do not include 
any significant variable lease expenses 
that haven’t been taken into considera-
tion in the valuation of right-of-use assets. 
When the Group company acts as the 
lessor, the rental income is recognized 
as other operating income in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease period.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost or net realizable value. Cost is 
determined by the FIFO (first-in, first-out) 
method or, alternatively, the weighted 
average cost where it approximates 
FIFO. The valuation method is chosen in 
each company based on the inventory 
type and the IT possibilities. Net realiza-
ble value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated, necessary selling costs.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension Obligations
The statutory pension scheme of the 
Group’s Finnish employees is arranged 
through pension insurances, and that of the 
Group’s employees abroad in compliance 
with the local legislation and social security 
regulations in each country. The costs 
incurred in these schemes are expensed 
in the period that they relate to. Accord-
ing to the IFRS standards, the insurance 
company Alecta’s pension plan for the 

Group’s Swedish employees is a defined 
benefit plan, but because Alecta is unable 
to provide detailed information, the plan 
is treated as a defined contribution plan in 
the consolidated financial statements.

Share-based Payments
The Group has applied IFRS 2 to the 
share-based incentive scheme for the 
Group’s key personnel. The Group did not 
have a share based reward plan in force. 

INCOME TAXES
The Group’s income taxes consist of current 
taxes based on the group companies’ 
profits, the taxes related to previous years 
and the changes in deferred taxes. Taxes 
related to other comprehensive income 
are recognized in the statement of other 
comprehensive income. Current tax is 
calculated for the taxable income with 
the tax rates enacted in each country. The 
taxes are adjusted with previous years’ tax 
impacts, if necessary.

Deferred taxes are measured with enacted 
tax rates for all temporary differences 
between book and tax values. Temporary 
differences are recognized as a deferred 
tax asset to the extent that is probable to 
utilize against the future taxable profits. 

Majority of the Group’s deferred tax 
assets arise from confirmed tax losses 
and depreciation differences in taxation 
and accounting. Majority of the Group’s 
deferred tax losses consist of deprecia-
tion differences and assets recognized 

at fair value upon business combinations. 
Contents of the Group’s deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are presented in Note 11.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial assets are classified as financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit 
or loss, financial assets held-to-maturity, 
loans and other receivables as well as 
available-for-sale financial assets. The 
Group determines the classification of 
its financial assets upon the initial recog-
nition and re-evaluates this designation 
annually. Financial assets include current 
and non-current assets and they can be 
interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaced the 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments -standard 
as of 1.1.2018. The standard is applied 
non-retrospectively. The standard adop-
tion had an effect on the valuation and 
presentation of expected credit losses 
from 1.1.2018 onwards. The bad-debt 
provision is accounted from the first date of 
recognising sales receivables according to 
the estimate of the expected credit losses. 
The estimate of the bad-debt provision is 
based on simplified approach according 
to the IFRS 15 on the share of expected 
credit losses based on the amount of sales 
receivables, credit losses accounted for 
historically and expectations of the de-
velopment of the economic environment. 
The effect of the adoption to the Group 
consolidated financial profit and loss 
statement, balance sheet and equity have 
been presented in notes to the accounts 8. 



Wulff Annual Report 2019    65

Other expenses, 20. Short-term non-inter-
est-bearing receivables and in changes in 
equity. Adoption of IFRS 9 did not change 
IAS 39 otherwise financial assets’ and 
liabilities’ valuation, classification and 
presentation.

Financial assets recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss include financial 
assets held-for-trading and financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition as at 
fair value through profit or loss (‘fair value 
option’). Financial assets are classified as 
held-for-trading if they are acquired for 
the purpose of selling them in a short term. 
Financial assets classified as held-for-trad-
ing are measured at fair value. Unreal-
ized and realized profits or losses due to 
changes in fair value are recognized in 
the income statement when incurred. This 
category also includes investments in pub-
licly listed companies. The Group does not 
have derivative financial instruments.

Financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity are classified 
as held-to-maturity when the Group has 
a positive intention and ability to hold the 
instrument until maturity.

Loan receivables, trade receivables and 
other receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Their maturity determines whether 
they are recognized in current or non-cur-
rent assets. Gains and losses are recog-
nized in the income statement when the 

loans and other receivables are derecog-
nized and impaired. Loan receivables, 
trade receivables and other receivables 
are carried at their anticipated realiza-
ble value, which is the original invoicing 
amount less possible credit amounts and 
estimated valuation allowances. A bad 
debt allowance is made for loan and  
trade receivables when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able 
to collect all amounts according to the 
original terms of the receivables. A bad 
debt allowance may be recognized due 
to e.g. trade receivables falling significantly 
overdue, unsuccessful collecting attempts 
or the customer’s known financial difficulties 
with an increased probability of customer 
insolvency. The assessment and decision 
for recognizing bad debt allowances is 
made locally in each business unit on a 
case-by-case basis. Uncertain receivables 
are assessed as frequently as necessary. 
Bad debt recognition is based on ob-
jective assessment and the recognition 
is reversed later if it proves unnecessary. 
Trade receivables’ impairment losses are 
booked in other operating expenses and 
loan receivables’ impairment losses are 
booked in other finance expenses.

Other financial assets are classified as 
available-for-sale financial instruments. 
Upon the initial recognition, availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets are measured 
at fair value by using quota market rates 
and market prices, discounted cash flow 
analyses and other appropriate valua-
tion models. Available-for-sale financial 

assets include investments presented in 
Wulff Group’s non-current assets and 
they consist of both publicly listed and 
non-listed shares. Publicly listed shares 
are measured at fair value. The unlist-
ed shares for which fair values cannot 
be measured reliably are recognized 
at cost less impairment. The fair value 
changes of available-for-sale financial 
assets, net of tax, are recognized as other 
comprehensive income. Changes in fair 
value are transferred from the statement 
of other comprehensive income to the 
income statement when the instrument is 
sold or its value has decreased so that 
an impairment loss has to be recognized. 
Purchases and sales of available-for-sale 
financial assets are recognized on the 
trade date.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents 
comprise cash in hand, bank deposits 
held at call and other highly liquid in-
vestments. Bank overdrafts of those bank 
accounts included in the Group’s consol-
idated bank account facility are netted 
against those other Group companies’ 
bank account amounts because the 
Group has a contractual legal right to net 
those financial assets with each other.

Financial liabilities include current and 
non-current liabilities and they can be 
interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing. Fi-
nancial liabilities are initially recognized at 
the fair value of the consideration received 
plus directly attributable transactions 
costs. After the initial recognition, they are 

subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognized in the income 
statement when the liabilities are derecog-
nized, impaired and through the amortiza-
tion process. Contingent considerations for 
business combinations are valued at fair 
value at the end of every reporting period 
and classified as non-interest-bearing 
financial liabilities. The changes in the fair 
value of contingent considerations are 
recognized in the profit and loss statement. 
The contingent consideration of business 
combination is discounted using the 
Group’s interest rate of additional external 
financing.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognized in the balance 
sheet when the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation or an economic loss will be 
evident and the amount of the obligation 
can be estimated reliably. If the Group 
expects some or all of the provision to be 
reimbursed by a third party, the reimburse-
ment is recognized as a separate asset but 
only when the reimbursement is practically 
certain. Provisions are valued at the net 
present value of the expenses required to 
cover the obligation. 
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EQUITY AND DIVIDEND 
DISTRIBUTION
The contents of the Group’s equity is de-
scribed in Note 22.

On the acquisition date, the acquisition 
cost of the repurchased shares of Wulff 
Group Plc is recognized as a deduc-
tion in the consolidated equity in the 
fund ‘Treasury Shares’. The acquisition, 
disposal and expenses related to treasury 
shares are presented in the Statement of 
Changes in Equity. There are no share-
based incentive schemes in the Group.

The dividend proposed by the Board of 
Directors is deducted from the distribut-
able equity only after approval by the 
Shareholders’ Annual General Meeting. 
Dividend distribution is described in Note 
23.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND MANAGEMENT JUDGMENTS
The IFRS principles require the manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions 
when preparing financial statements. 
Although these estimates and assumptions 
are based on the management’s best 
knowledge of today, the final outcome 
may differ from the estimated values 
presented in the financial statements. The 
changes in estimates affect the income 
and expenses for the financial period as 
well as the values of assets and liabilities 
in the balance sheet. Estimates and judg-
ments are needed also for applying the 
Group’s accounting policies.

Management’s estimates and assump-
tions are based on historical experience 
and plausible future scenarios which are 
evaluated constantly. Possible changes 
in estimates and assumptions are recog-
nized in the accounting period during 
which estimates and assumptions were 
revised, and in all subsequent accounting 
periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future 
and other key sources of estimation uncer-
tainty at the balance sheet date, that have 
significant risk of causing material adjust-
ments to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next accounting 
period, are related to the valuation of the 
Group’s assets (inventories, receivables), 
goodwill impairment testing (future cash 
flow estimates, discount rates) and recog-
nition of deferred taxes (the probability of 
utilizing tax losses).

OPERATING PROFIT
IFRS standards do not define the concept 
of operating profit. The Group has defined 
it as a net sum of net sales added with 
other operating income less purchase 
expenses adjusted with inventory change 
and deducted by employee benefits, other 
operating expenses as well as amortiza-
tions, depreciations and impairment. Other 
items of the income statement are present-
ed below the operating profit.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Cash and cash equivalents presented in 
the cash flow statement comprise cash in 

hand, bank deposits held at call and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less. 
Cash generated from operating activities 
has been reported using the direct method, 
as recommended by IFRS standards. All 
income taxes paid during the financial 
year are presented in net cash generated 
from operating activities, unless they can 
be particularly allocated to investing or 
financing cash flows.

KEY FIGURES
Based on IFRS standards, the earnings per 
share (EPS, Earnings per share) is calculat-
ed by dividing the net profit attributable to 
the parent company shareholders by the 
weighted average number of shares dur-
ing the period. The total average number 
of shares is deducted by the average num-
ber of reacquired own shares because 
the EPS is determined for the outstanding 
shares. Wulff Group does not have share 
options and thus the Group’s undiluted EPS 
and diluted EPS are the same. The calcula-
tion formulas of key figures are presented 
along the key figures in Group notes.

GOING CONCERN
The consolidated financial statements are 
based on the assumption of going con-
cern. The Group’s equity ratio and financial 
status are good. The Group’s profitability is 
on an adequate level for going concern. 
Wulff’s clientele is broad and in different 
markets in Northern Europe which dimin-
ishes the Group’s risks partly. The Group’s 
effective risk management also ensures the 
Group’s ability of going concern.
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2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Wulff Group consists of two strategically 
different operating segments: Contract 
Customers Segment and Expertise Sales 
Segment. Operating segments are 
based on IFRS 8 and the Group’s internal 
reporting practice, where the different 
businesses are organized and led by 
divisions. All 17 group companies belong 
to these operating segments based on 
their different services, marketing strat-
egies and distribution channels. Con-
tract Customers Segment consists of 9 
subsidiaries and Expertise Sales Segment 
consists of 5 subsidiaries as shown in 
Note 29. Additionally the Group’s parent 
company Wulff Group Plc, its subsidiary 
with leasing operations, Wulff Leasing 
Oy, Wulff Liikelaskenta Oy with financial 
services and Mutual Real Estate Compa-
ny Kilonkallio 1 make the Group Services 
segment which includes group man-
agement’s general costs which cannot 
be allocated on a reasonable basis for 
Contract Customers and Expertise Sales.

The Contract Customers Segment is the 
customer’s comprehensive partner in the 
field of office supplies, IT supplies as well 
as international fair services. Larger com-
panies and corporations can purchase 
their basic office supplies very fast and in 
a cost efficient way as the Group’s con-
tract customer. Being a contract customer 
grants the companies the possibility to 
concentrate on their core competence, 

NET SALES BY OPERATING SEGMENTS 

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Contract Customers Segment
   Sales to external customers 47 231 46 774
   Intragroup sales to other segments 91 200

Total Contract Customers Segment 47 322 46 974

Expertise Sales Segment
   Sales to external customers 9 088 9 115
   Intragroup sales to other segments 21 29

Total Expertise Sales Segment 9 109 9 144

Group Services
   Sales to external customers 25 0
   Intragroup sales to other segments 960 563

Total Group Services 985 563

Intragroup eliminations between segments -1 072 -792

Total net sales 56 344 55 889

Revenue from any individual customer did not exceed 10 percent share of the consolidated revenue 
in 2019 or 2018.

After IFRS 15 Customer contracts coming to effect 1.1.2018 the fair shows have been recognized in 
net sales at the time of the fairs. More information on the change is presented in Note 4.

when Wulff takes automatically care of its 
contract customers’ office supply minibars’ 
fill-in service. The smaller companies’ ba-
sic office supply needs are fulfilled by the 
webstore Wulffinkulma.fi. Also business 
promotional products and international 
fair services are part of Contract Custom-
ers Segment.

The Expertise Sales Segment aims to im-
prove its customers’ daily operations with 
innovative products as well as the indus-
try’s most professional personal and local 
service. The product range of Expertise 
Sales companies consists of e.g. office 
supply specialties, IT products as well as 
ergonomics and first aid products.

The segments’ performance is reviewed 
and the Group Executive Board’s and 
the Board of Directors’ decision-making 
related to resource allocation is based 
on the segments’ operating result (IFRS). 
Inter-segment transactions are mar-
ket-priced. Intra-segment transactions are 
eliminated from the segment’s income and 
the inter-segment eliminations are present-
ed separately in the following reconcili-
ation. Fixed management expenses from 
group services are allocated to Contract 
Customers and Expertise Sales in propor-
tion of the usage of those internal services. 
Impairment of goodwill arising from an 
acquisition of a subsidiary is allocated to 
the segment of that subsidiary.
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RESULT BY OPERATING SEGMENTS 2019 

EUR 1000 Contract Customers Expertise Sales
Group services and 
non-allocated items

Eliminations Group

Net sales 47 322 9 109 985 -1 072 56 344
Expenses -45 289 -8 800 -562 1 374 -53 277

EBITDA 2 033 309 423 302 3 067
Depreciations -319 -38 -416 -723 -1 497

Operating profit (EBIT) 1 714 271 7 -421 1 570
Financial income (non-allocated) 62 62
Financial expenses (non-allocated) -438 -438

Profit before taxes 1 714 271 -369 -421 1 194

RESULT BY OPERATING SEGMENTS 2018 

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

EUR 1000 Contract Customers Expertise Sales
Group services and 
non-allocated items

Eliminations Group

Net sales 46 974 9 144 563 -792 55 889
Expenses -45 347 -8 649 -729 756 -53 969

EBITDA 1 627 495 -166 -36 1 920
Depreciations -239 -40 -260 127 -412

Operating profit (EBIT) 1 388 455 -426 91 1 508
Financial income (non-allocated) 16 16
Financial expenses (non-allocated) -281 -281

Profit before taxes 1 388 455 -691 91 1 243
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GEOGRAPHICAL  
INFORMATION

Wulff Group companies are located in the 
Nordic countries. According to IFRS 8, the 
consolidated net sales are presented by the 
geographical location of both the group 
companies and the customers. Non-current 
assets of the group companies located in 
different countries consist of goodwill as 
well as other intangible and tangible assets. 
As required by IFRS 8, these geographical 
segments’ assets do not include non-current 
financial assets and deferred tax assets.

NET SALES BY GROUP COMPANIES’ LOCATIONS 

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Finland 34 935 62% 34 118 61%
Sweden 17 165 30% 17 559 31%
Norway 8 436 15% 8 022 14%
Denmark 400 1% 469 1%
Net sales between countries -4 592 -8% -4 278 -8%

Net sales total 56 344 100% 55 889 100%

EXTERNAL NET SALES BY CUSTOMERS’ LOCATIONS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Finland 33 284 59% 32 488 58%
Sweden 12 534 22% 13 324 24%
Norway 9 233 16% 8 727 16%
Denmark 734 1% 826 1%
Estonia 9 0% 54 0%
Other European countries 382 1% 216 0%
Other countries 168 0% 253 0%

Net sales total 56 344 100% 55 889 100%

NON-CURRENT ASSETS BY GROUP COMPANIES’ LOCATIONS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Finland 11 756 71% 7 312 80%
Sweden 4 888 29% 1 767 19%
Norway 12 0% 18 0%
Total non-current assets 16 656 100% 9 096 100%

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION
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3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

would have been EUR 57.3 million and 
operating profit EUR 1.5 million. 
The preliminary purchase price for the 
share capital of Mavecom was approx-
imately EUR 1.5 million. With the author-
ization granted by the Annual General 
Meeting to the Board of Directors, Wulff 
Group Plc carried out a directed share 
issue of 300,000 shares to the owners of 
Mavecom Palvelut Ltd. The value of the 
new shares was approximately EUR 0.5 
million. The share subscription price corre-
sponded to the volume weighted average 
price of the company’s shares quoted on 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd (”Helsinki 
Stock Exchange”) between May 1, 2018 
and July 31, 2018. The directed share is-
sue increased Wulff Group Plc’s invested 
unrestricted equity by EUR 0.5 million.
 
The final additional purchase price of the 
shares will be paid in cash based on the 
profitability of Mavecom Palvelut Ltd’s 
business during 2018-2022. No fixed 
amount has been set for the conditional 
additional purchase price and no value 
range for the additional purchase price 
is presented due to the nature of the 
business. The business is mainly based 
on the sales of printing equipment and 
maintenance contracts that have terms 
shorter than five years. Goodwill from the 
transaction is based on the company’s es-
timated operating profit for future periods. 

ACQUISITIONS
There were no business acquisitions during the 
reporting period in 2019.
 
On August 14, 2018, Wulff Group Plc ac-
quired the entire share capital of Mave-
com Palvelut Ltd that specializes in printing 
solutions. With the transaction, Wulff´s 
position as the most versatile supplier 
of products and services in its field will 
strengthen: Wulff’s range of products and 
services will grow with the quality services 
offered by Canon Business Center. 
Mavecom sells and produces printing 
services, data management solutions, ICT 
outsourcing services and large format 
printing in the Helsinki metropolitan area. 
Mavecom also offers customers modern 
maintenance and remote monitoring for 
its solutions. The acquisition is a significant 
competitive advantage for Wulff and in 
line with the company’s growth strategy, 
enabling the development of the Contract 
Customer concept for domestic custom-
ers. The acquisition strengthened the prod-
uct and service portfolio of the Contract 
Customers segment in Finland as expected 
and had a positive effect on net sales 
in 2018 by EUR 0.9 million, on the profit 
margin by EUR 0.5 million, and on the 
operating profit (EBIT) by EUR 0.1 million. 
If Mavecom Palvelut Ltd would have been 
a part of the Group from the beginning of 
2018, Wulff’s net sales for the whole year 

The unpaid portion of the estimated 
additional purchase price EUR 0.9 million 
(1.0) is presented in non-interest-bearing 
long- and short-term liabilities. The first 
additional purchase price payment, EUR 
0.1 million liability presented in the current 
liabilities in the Group Financial State-
ments of 2018, was paid according to the 
approved Financial Statements of 2018 of 
the subsidiary in April 2019.
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EUR 1000 14.8.2018

The fair value of assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition
Assets
  Tangible and intangible assets 142
   Inventories 158
   Trade receivables and other short-term receivables 267
   Cash and cash equivalents 21

Total assets 588

Liabilities
   Loans from financial institutions 155
   Trade payables 184
   Accrued expenses and other short-term liabilities 193

Total liabilities 531

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 57
   Goodwill from acquisition 1 465

Total purchase consideration 1 522

Changes in shares of non-controlling 
interests which did not lead to change 
in control
There were no changes in the shares of 
minority shareholders during the report-
ing period in 2019. In July 2018, Wulff 
Group Plc acquired a two percent 
share of the share capital of S Supplies 
Holding AB and owns 89% of the share 
capital of the company after the acqui-
sition. The purchase price was EUR 44 
thousand. The book value of S Supplies 
Holding AB’s net assets was EUR 2.3 
million without goodwill at the end of 
December 2018. 
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4. NET SALES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Sales of products and related services 50 638 50 045
Sales of fair services 5 706 5 844

Total 56 344 55 889

5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Sales gains from tangible assets 12 0
Rental income 104 45
Other 122 96

Total 237 141

The revenue of fair projects have been rec-
ognized at the time of fairs after adopting the 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Custom-
ers standard from Jan 1, 2018 onwards, and 
partial revenue recognition according to the 
IAS 11 Construction Contracts is no longer 
applied after 31.12.2017. Due to the IFRS 15 
standard adoption, fair projects of partial 
revenue recognition from 2017 are presented 
in the net sales for the 2018 on the date of the 

fairs amounting to EUR 0.1 million of January 
to February fairs. A corresponding adjustment 
has been made in retained earnings in the 
shareholders equity. The transition from partial 
revenue recognition to recognising all revenue 
on the date of the fairs in trade show projects 
grows the differences between financial quar-
ters in regards to net sales and result. There are 
usually more fairs in the first and last quarters of 
the year. 
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6. MATERIALS AND SERVICES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Materials, supplies and products
   Purchases during the financial year 36 576 35 724
   Change in inventories -363 268
External services 306 227

Total 36 519 36 219

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Salaries and fees 9 495 9 114
Pension expenses (defined contribution plans) 1 432 1 376
Other personnel expenses 1 021 1 052

Total 11 949 11 542

Average number of employees in accounting period 198 191
Personnel at the end of period 200 191

Due to the IFRS 15 standard adoption from Jan 
1, 2018 onwards, the costs of fair projects have 
been recognized at the time of fairs. Costs 
amounting to EUR -0.1 million of fair projects 
according to the partial revenue recognition 
from 2017 are presented on the date of the 
fairs in purchase transactions of financial year 
2018. More information on the change of the 
recognition is presented in Note 4.

Information about the management’s employ-
ment benefits and loans is presented in Note 
28 Related party information. Details about 
loans to related parties is presented under 
Shares and shareholders.
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8. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Rents * 288 1 101
Travel and car expenses 1 300 1 548
ICT expenses 548 527
External logistics expenses 1 060 1 062
Marketing, PR and entertainment expenses 461 437
Credit losses and amortization of sales receivables 7 13
Credit loss allowance of customer contracts according to IFRS 9 ** 2 37
Fees to auditors*** 75 49
Other 1 306 1 576

Total 5 047 6 349

* The implementation of the IFRS 16 Lease Agreements -standard as of 1.1.2019 was prepared utilizing 
the simplified method, hence the comparison period 2018 has not been adjusted according to the chan-
ged reporting requirements.

** The credit loss provision was increased by 37 thousand euros in 2018 due to the adoption of the IFRS 
9 Financial Instruments standard. Additional information has been presented in note 20.

*** Fees to auditors total in all group companies: 

The Group did not have material research and development expenses in the current or previous year.

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Audit 18 16
Tax services - -
Other services 3 -

Total 21 16

APPROVED AUDIT FIRM BDO

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Audit 27 18
Tax services - -
Other services 28 15

Total 55 33

OTHER APPROVED AUDIT FIRMS
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9. AMORTIZATION, DEPRECIATION 
AND IMPAIRMENT

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Amortization and depreciation during the period:
Amortization of intangible assets:
   Other intangible assets 103 181

Total amortization of intangible assets 103 181

Depreciation of tangible assets:
   Machinery and equipment 291 231

Total depreciation of tangible assets 291 231

Depreciation of buildings: *
   Buildings 231 -

Total depreciation of buildings 231 -

Depreciation of right-of-use assets: **

   Buildings 548 -
   Machinery and equipment 324 -
Total depreciation of right-of-use assets 872 -

Total amortization and depreciation 1 497 412

10. FINANCIAL INCOME AND 
EXPENSES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Financial income:
Interest income 12 10
Dividend income 4 -

Foreign exchange gains and other financial income 46 6

Financial income total 62 16

Financial expenses:
Interest expenses 171 80
Interest expenses on finance leases * 23 -
Other financing expenses 139 97
Foreign exchange losses and other financial expenses 105 104

Financial expenses total 438 281

* Wulff invested on the acquisition of the premises in Finland in April 2019 and acquiring 
logistics property in Sweden in January 2019. This resulted in depreciations of buildings in 
2019. 

** The implementation of the IFRS 16 Lease Agreements -standard as of 1.1.2019 was 
prepared utilizing the simplified method, hence the comparison period 2018 has not been 
adjusted according to the changed reporting requirements.

There was no impairment of goodwill or other long term intangible or tangible assets during 
2019 or 2018.

* The implementation of the IFRS 16 Lease Agreements -standard as of 1.1.2019 was 
prepared utilizing the simplified method, hence the comparison period 2018 has not been 
adjusted according to the changed reporting requirements.
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11. INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAXES IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Income taxes for the financial year -107 -41
Deferred taxes:
   Change in deferred tax assets -19 -100
   Change in deferred tax liabilities -25 -28

Total -151 -169

INCOME TAX RECONCILIATION

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Income taxes according to the Finnish tax rate (2019-2018: 20.0%) -239 -249
Different tax rates abroad -13 -12
Non-deductible expenses and tax-free income -32 -12
Tax impact from the current year's losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized                            -21 -10
Impact of the tax rate changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities* - -9
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities from previous years 202 177
Group consolidation and eliminations -48 -53

Income taxes in the income statement -151 -169

* Tax rate change in Norway 
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11. INCOME TAXES CHANGES IN DEFERRED TAXES 2019

EUR 1000 Jan 1, 2019
Income 

 statement
Acquisitions Other changes Dec 31, 2019

Deferred tax assets:
Confirmed losses and tax credits 551 13 564
Provisions 7 7
Depreciation differences 571 -32 -3 537
Other temporary differences 5 5

Deferred tax assets total 1 134 -19 - -3 1 113

Deferred tax liabilities:
Other temporary differences 108 26 -54 98 178

Deferred tax liabilities total 108 26 -54 98 178

Deferred tax assets, net 1 026 -45 54 -101 934

CHANGES IN DEFERRED TAXES 2018

EUR 1000 Jan 1, 2018
Income  

statement
Other changes Dec 31, 2018

Deferred tax assets:
Confirmed losses and tax credits 636 -85 551
Provisions 7 7
Depreciation differences 630 -56 -3 571
Other temporary differences 5 5

Deferred tax assets total 1 277 -141 -3 1 134

Deferred tax liabilities:
Other temporary differences 73 28 7 108
Deferred tax liabilities total 73 28 7 108

Deferred tax assets, net 1 205 -169 -10 1 026

For the Group companies’ previous years’ 
confirmed taxable losses, a deferred 
tax asset of EUR 564 thousand (548) 
has been booked, of which EUR 442 
thousand (397) will fall due in five years 
and EUR 97 thousand (97) can be 
utilized indefinitely. As of December 31, 
2019, the Group had confirmed tax losses 
carried forward of EUR 2 060 thousand 
(2 330) for which the deferred tax asset 
of EUR 415 thousand (469) has not been 
recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements because the realization of the 
tax benefit before their expiry is uncertain. 
The consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2019 includes deferred 
tax assets of EUR 46 thousand (108) in 
group companies which made a loss in 
2019. The recognition of these assets is 
based on profit estimates, which indicate 
that the realization of these deferred tax 
assets is probable. The Finnish companies’ 
deferred tax assets from previous years’ 
confirmed losses, which can be used 
in 10 years, can be utilized against the 
company’s own future profits and also 
against group contributions granted by 
other Finnish group companies where the 
Group’s ownership is 90 percentages at 
minimum.

In 2019 premises were acquired in Lljungby in Sweden and in Espoo in Finland. More information on the acquisitions is presented on the notes to the 
accounts 13.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2019 2018

Profit for the period attributable to the equity holders of the parent company, EUR 1000 1 039 1 025
 / Weighted average number of shares; diluted = non-diluted (1,000 shares) 6 829 6 644
Earnings per share (EPS); Diluted = non-diluted, EUR 0.15 0.15
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13. GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS AND  
 A-RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

2019 Goodwill
Other intangible 

assets**
Advance 
payments

Intangible  
assets total Land Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment

  Other  
tangible assets

Tangible  
assets total

Acquisition cost, Jan 1 12 550 2 847 20 16 036 - - 4 195 157 4 354
Additions 294 36 330 907 5 238 736 66 6 947
Disposals 0 -374 -374
Translation differences -29 -29 0

Acquisition cost, Dec 31 12 521 3 141 56 16 337 907 5 238 4 558 223 10 927

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Jan 1 -4 390 -2 593 - -7 601 - - -3 565 -124 -3 691
Disposals 310 310
Depreciation during the period -104 -104 -231 -289 -2 -522

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Dec 31 -4 390 -2 696 - -7 705 - -231 -3 544 -126 -3 903

Book value, Jan 1 8 160 254 20 8 434 - - 630 33 663

Book value, Dec 31 8 131 445 56 8 632 907 5 005 1 014 97 7 024

2018 Goodwill
Other intangible  

assets
Advance  
payments

Intangible  
assets total

Machinery and 
equipment

  Other tangible 
assets

Tangible  
assets total

Acquisition cost, Jan 1 11 191 2 679 149 14 638 3 853 148 4 002
Additions 1 424 168 20 1 612 398 9 407
Disposals -149 -149 -54 -54
Translation differences -65 -65 -2 -2

Acquisition cost, Dec 31 12 550 2 847 20 16 036 4 195 157 4 354

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Jan 1 -4 390 -2 412 - -7 420 -3 383 -119 -3 504
Disposals 44 44
Depreciation during the period -181 -181 -227 -5 -231
Impairment during the period

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Dec 31 -4 390 -2 593 - -7 601 -3 565 -124 -3 691

Book value, Jan 1 6 801 267 149 7 217 470 29 499

Book value, Dec 31 8 160 254 20 8 434 630 33 663



 80  Wulff Annual Report 2019

13. GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS AND 
A-RIGHT OF USE ASSETS
*Wulff invested on the acquisition of the premises in Finland with EUR 2.2 million on 15, April 2019 and acquiring logistics 
property in Sweden with EUR 3.4 million on 9.1.2019. During the financial year the premises in Finland were also renovated. The 
valuation and acquisition of the property companies have been prepared according to the IAS 16 Tangible Assets -standard, 
as the acquisition of the property companies does not form a business with the Group’s external clients according to the IFRS 3 
Business combinations -standard.

**Wulff recognises incremental costs of obtaining a contract in other intangible assets when the company has aquired a cus-
tomer and the costs are expensed over the contract period, normally over three years time. The amount of incremental costs of 
obtaining customer contracts within the other intangible asstes amounted to EUR 0.1 million (0.0) at the end of the financial year. 

The IFRS 16 Lease Agreements -standard was 
implemented as of 1.1.2019. The majority of 
lease agreements are recognized as right-
of-use assets, which include buildings, and 
machinery and equipment, such as cars and 
printing devices. The standard was imple-
mented utilizing the simplified method, hence 
the comparison period 2018 has not been 
adjusted according to the changed reporting 
requirements. Lease Agreement liabilities have 
been presented in the notes to the accounts 
no. 24.

2019 Buildings
Machinery and 

Equipment Right-of-use assets total

Historical cost, Jan 1 - - -
Impact of IFRS 16 on the opening balance 1 262 554 1 816
Additions 9 49 58

Historical cost, Dec 31 1 271 603 1 874

Accumulated depreciation, Jan 1 - - -
Depreciation -548 -324 -872
Accumulated depreciation, Dec 31 -548 -324 -872

Book value, Jan 1 - - -
Book value, Dec 31 723 279 1 001

The expenses relating to short-term leases amounted to EUR 0.3 million. The cash-flow of all lease agreements was EUR 1.2 million in 
2019. There were no income from subleasing right-of use assets. There are no material variable lease payments that are not included 
in the measurement of right-of-use assets. There were no leases with residual value guarantees. There was a EUR 0.4 million option for 
continuing leases of premises. 

Right-of-use assets total
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14. SUBSIDIARIES AND SHARES OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interest shareholders’  
share of voting right

Non-controlling shareholders’ 
 share of profit/loss

Non-controlling shareholders’  
share of equity

Domicile 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

S Supplies Holding AB Sweden 11% 11% 11% 11% 11% 11%
Wulff Beltton AB Sweden 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%

SPECIFICATION OF SHARES OF SIGNIFICANT NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS IN THE GROUP 

The table below describes the group structure as at 31 December.

Number of subsidiaries fully owned

Field of business 2019 2018

Office supplies and printing solutions 3 3
Exhibition services 1 1
Group services 3 2

The specification of the group companies is presented in note 29.     
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14. SUBSIDIARIES AND SHARES OF NON CONTROLLING INTERESTS

S Supplies Holding AB Wulff Beltton AB

2019 2018 2019 2018

Short term assets 115 58 1 082 989
Long term assets 3 343 3 420 85 61
Short term liabilities 622 388 805 638
Long term liabilities 1 340 1 560 - -
Net sales/income 273 0 1 979 1 919
Expenses -63 0 -2 021 -1 907
Net profit/loss 210 0 -42 13
Profit/loss attributable to equity holders of the company 187 0 -32 9
Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests 23 0 -11 3
Total comprehensive income 210 0 -42 13
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the company 187 0 -32 9
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 23 0 -11 3
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 17 - - -

THE SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES WITH NON-CONTROLLING 
INTEREST SHAREHOLDING

Changes in the shares of subsidiaries are 
presented in Note 3.
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15. GOODWILL ALLOCATION AND IMPAIRMENT TEST

Consolidated goodwill is not amortized 
systematically but their book values are 
tested for possible impairment at least 
annually and additionally when the 
management has noted signs of possible 
impairment, e.g. due to decreased prof-
itability performance. Wulff Group tests 
its goodwill values separately for each 
cash-generating unit. Changes in goodwill 
during the financial period are presented 
in Note 13 where all intangible assets are 
presented.

In goodwill impairment tests the carrying 
amount is compared to the unit’s dis-
counted present value of the recoverable 
cash flows i.e. the value in use, where the 
previous profit performance level, the next 
year’s budget as well as the sales and 
profit estimates for future years are con-
sidered. The testing calculations’ five-year 
estimate period consists of the budget 
year and the following four estimate 

years where a moderate, approximately 
two-percent annual growth is estimat-
ed in each business areas. After this 
five-year estimate period, the so-called 
eternity value is based on zero-growth 
assumption.  The budgets and later years’ 
estimates used in the testing are carefully 
estimated and the growth expectations 
are moderate considering also the im-
pacts of economic slowdown. The assets 
tested include goodwill together with that 
cash-generating unit’s other assets and 
working capital.

The discount factor in the impairment tests 
is based on weighted average cost of 
capital (WACC) before taxes. Weighted 
average cost of capital represents the 
overall expense of both equity and ex-
ternal loan financing, taking into account 
also the different return expectations and 
special risks related to different assets. The 
reference groups’ equity structure and 

balance sheets and annual financial data 
was based on IAS 17 recognition, when 
determing the discount rate.
Goodwill for the Finnish office supplies 
business was EUR 3.5 million (3.5) arising 
from the acquisition of Wulff Oy Ab and 
Torkkelin Paperi Oy on 31.12.2019. The 
assets tested totalled approximately 
EUR 7.0 million (7.1). The discounted 
value-in-use is approximately EUR 16.3 
million. According to the management, 
the key factors in the testing calculations 
are the moderate growth and retaining 
the customer profitability, logistics’ cost 
management and synergies from Nordic 
purchase cooperation in office supplies. 

Goodwill for the Scandinavian office 
supplies business was EUR 1.5 million 
(1.6) arising from the acquisition of Wulff 
Supplies AB. The assets tested totalled 
approximately EUR 5.9 million (6.69) and 
the discounted value-in-use is approxi-
mately EUR 6.9 million. According to the 
management, the key factors in the testing 
calculations are the moderate growth 
and retaining the customer profitability, 
logistics’ cost management and synergies 
from Nordic purchase cooperation in 
office supplies. 

The goodwill arising from the acquisition 
of Wulff Entre Oy operating in fair servic-
es totalled EUR 1.7 million (1.7) and the 

assets tested totalled approximately EUR 
1.2 million (1.1). The discounted value-in-
use is approximately EUR 3.7 million. 

The goodwill arising from the acquisi-
tion of Canon Business Center printing 
solutions, Mavecom Palvelut Oy, totalled 
EUR 1.4 million (1.4) and the assets 
tested totalled approximately EUR 1.7 
million (1.7). The discounted value-in-use 
is approximately EUR 3.9 million. More 
information on the acquisition is presented 
in Note 3. Business combinations. 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS IN IMPAIR-
MENT TESTING
The key assumptions used in determining 
value in use are defined by the Group 
Management. The most important as-
sumptions are:
• discount rate; and
• average EBITDA margin 
 (EBITDA/NetSales).

Sensitivity analyses have been made on 
the assumption that the average EBITDA 
margin will decrease or that the dis-
count rate will increase. The table below 
presents a change in the key assumption 
which (with other assumptions remaining 
unchanged) would cause the recovera-
ble amount to equal the carrying amount.

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Contract Customers segment:
Office supplies / Finland (Wulff Oy Ab, Torkkelin Paperi Oy) 3 500 3 500
Office supplies / Scandinavia (Wulff Supplies AB) 1 536 1 565
Fair services / Finland (Wulff Entre Oy) 1 671 1 671
Office supplies / Mavecom Palvelut Oy 1 424 1 424

Goodwill total 8 131 8 160
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16. NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES FROM OTHERS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Quaranty deposits, Carrying amount, Jan 1 48 48
Quaranty deposits, Carrying amount, Dec 31 48 48

Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018

Office Supplies, Finland Used value Change Used value Change

Discount rate 8.5% increase of 12.2 percentage points 9.5% increase of 8.2 percentage points
Average EBITDA, % of sales 5.0% decrease of 2.8 percentage points 4.4% decrease of 1.9 percentage points

15. GOODWILL ALLOCATION AND IMPAIRMENT TEST

Office Supplies, Scandinavia Used value Change Used value Change

Discount rate 7.5% increase of 1.4 percentage points 8.7% increase of 2.8 percentage points
Average EBITDA, % of sales 3.4% decrease of 0.4 percentage points 4.7% decrease of 0.9 percentage points

Fair services Used value Change Used value Change

Discount rate 8.6% increase of 18.5 percentage points 9.0% increase of 4.0 percentage points
Average EBITDA, % of sales 4.3% decrease of 2.8 percentage points 1.8% decrease of 0.6 percentage points

Printing solutions* Used value Change Used value Change

Discount rate 7.4% increase of 11.7 percentage points 9.4% increase of 5.0 percentage points
Average EBITDA, % of sales 12.8% decrease of 7.1 percentage points 9.1% decrease of 3.0 percentage points

*Acquired to the Group on 14.8.2018.
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Carrying amount, Jan 1 57 57

Carrying amount, Dec 31 57 57

The available-for-sale investments are publicly 
non-listed shares and are not a part of the group 
business operations. The publicly non-listed 
shares’ fair value do not differ significantly from 
their book value. 

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Products 6 676 7 073
Work in process 7 4
Prepayments for inventories 181 150

Total 6 864 7 227

18. INVENTORIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Carrying amount, Jan 1. 18 11
Additions - 7
Disposals -3 -

Carrying amount, Dec 31. 15 18

19. CURRENT LOAN RECEIVABLES
Current loan receivables include loan receivables 
falling due within 12 months.

In 2019, an expense of 0.2 million euros (0.5) 
was booked from the inventories.
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20. SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST-BEARING RECEIVABLES

TRADE RECEIVABLES

EUR 1000 2019 2019

Trade receivables from others 6 318 6 462

Trade receivables total 6 318 6 462

AGING STRUCTURE OF SALES RECEIVABLES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Not due (value not impaired) 5 016 79 % 5 227 80 %
Due (value not impaired):
   Less than 1 month 960 15 % 1 035 16 %
   More than 1 month - less than 3 months 239 4 % 144 2 %
   More than 3 months - less than 6 months 73 1 % 60 1 %
   More than 6 months 70 1 % 33 1 %

Total 6 358 101 % 6 499 101 %
Bad debt allowance according to the IFRS 9 -39 -1 % -37 -1 %

Sales receivables total 6 318 100 % 6 462 100 %

Sales receivables are non-interest-bearing and fall due in 14-60 days. 
Credit losses expensed during the financial year and bad debt allowance 
expense according to the IFRS 9 are reported in Note 8. Without transi-
tion to the bad debt allowance according to the IFRS 9 the value of sales 
receivables would have been 37 thousand euros higher on Dec, 31 2018. 
Sales receivables do not include significant credit risk concentrations.



Wulff Annual Report 2019    87

20. SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST-BEARING RECEIVABLES

OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Valued added tax receivables 22 38
Other receivables 77 58

Other receivables total 99 96
 

ACCRUED INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Income tax receivable 142 297
Sales accruals of trade shows 652 759
Other accruals 780 741

Accruals total 1 574 1 797

EFFECT ON THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ADOPTING BAD DEBT 
ALLOWANCE ACCORDING TO THE IFRS9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS STANDARD

2018 IFRS 9 effect 31.12.2018 without standard 
change of IFRS 9

Other operating expenses in Consolidated Income Statement -6 349 -37 -6 313
Sales receivables without IFRS 9 bad debt allowance 6 535 - 6 535
IFRS bad debt allowance -37 -37 -
Sales receivables total 6 499 -37 6 535
Retained earnings -169 7 -176
Equity total 1 026 7 1 018

Sales accruals of trade shows 
included sales accruals according to 
the partial revenue recognition per 
31.12.2018. The company changed 
partial revenue recognition to recog-
nizing trade shows at the time of the 
trade shows according to the IFRS 15 
standards from 1.1.2018. Therefore 
the sales accruals of trade shows 
31.12.2018 include the uninvoiced 
portion of held trade shows according 
to the customer contracts.



 88  Wulff Annual Report 2019

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Cash and bank 348 476

Total 348 476

22. NOTES ON EQUITY

SHARE CAPITAL
The parent company’s share capital 
EUR 2.65 million consists of 6 907 628 
shares with one vote each and with no 
par value. During financial year 2018 the 
number of shares increased by 300 000 
shares. More information on the directed 
share issue is presented in note 3 Business 
combinations. There were no changes in 
share capital or in the number of shares 
in 2019. 

TREASURY SHARES
Authorized by the Annual General Meet-
ing held on April 4, 2019, the Board of 
Directors decided in its organizing meet-
ing to continue buying back a maximum 

Share total Treasury shares Outstanding shares

Jan 1, 2018 6 607 628 -79 000 6 528 628
Directed share issue 300 000 - 300 000
Dec 31, 2018 6 907 628 -79 000 6 828 628

Dec 31, 2019 6 907 628 -79 000 6 828 628

of 300,000 own shares by the next Annu-
al General Meeting. In April-December 
2019, no own shares were reacquired. In 
the end of the reporting period 2019, the 
Group held a total of 79,000 own shares 
(79,000) representing 1.1 percentage 
(1.1) of the total number and voting rights 
of Wulff shares.

The shares are acquired through public 
trading on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki in 
a proportion other than that of current 
shareholder holdings. The shares are 
acquired at the market price quoted at 
the time of the repurchase in accordance 
with the rules regarding the acquisition of 
company’s owns shares. According to the 

authorisation, the treasury shares can be 
acquired to carry out acquisitions or other 
business related arrangements, to improve 
the company’s capital structure, to support 
the implementation of the company’s 
incentive scheme or to be cancelled or 
disposed of.

DIRECTED SHARE ISSUE 
Wulff Group Plc carried out a directed 
share issue of 300,000 shares to the 
owners of Mavecom Palvelut Ltd as a 
part of Canon Business Center printing 
solutions Mavecom Palvelut Ltd acqui-
sition on 14.8.2018. More information 
on the acquisition is presented in Note 3 
Business combinations.

SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE 
REWARDS
The Group does not have any option 
schemes currently in force nor a share 
reward plan.

SHARE PREMIUM FUND AND FUND 
FOR  INVESTED NON-RESTRICTED 
EQUITY
Share premium fund and the fund for 
invested non-restricted equity consist of 
the share value exceeding the par value 
in share issues in 1999-2008. There were 
no changes in the share premium fund 
and the fund for invested non-restricted 
equity during the financial year. The fund 
for invested non-restricted equity grew 
by EUR 0,5 million in 2018 as a part of 
acquisition, which is presented in detail in 
the notes to the accounts number 3.  

TRANSLATION DIFFERENCES
Translation differences arise from trans-
lation of foreign-currency-denominated 
subsidiaries.



Wulff Annual Report 2019    89

23. DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION 

The Group’s parent company Wulff Group 
Plc’s distributable funds totalled EUR 1.6 million. 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual 
General Meeting that dividend of 0,11 euros per 
share will be distributed for the financial year 
2019 totalling EUR 0.8 million. After the dividend 
the parent company’s distributable funds will be 
EUR 0.9 million. More information on the change 
of the fund for invested non-restricted equity dur-
ing the financial year 2018 has been presented 
in note 3.

PARENT COMPANY’S DISTRIBUTABLE FUNDS:

EUR 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Fund for invested non-restricted equity 676 051 676 051
Treasury shares -260 070 -260 070
Retained earnings from previous years 603 500 1 231 140
Net result for the period 611 841 55 222

Distributable funds total 1 631 322 1 702 343
 - dividend to be distributed -751 149 -682 863

Funds left in retained earnings 880 173 1 019 480

EUR 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Shares total 6 907 628 6 907 628
 - Treasury shares held -79 000 -79 000

Shares which are paid dividend 6 828 628 6 828 628
 x Dividend per share (EUR) 0,11 0,10

Dividends total (EUR) 751 149 682 863
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24. LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Book value Payment schedule (years):

EUR 1000 31.12.2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Later

Long-term financial liabilities
Loans from financial institutions 4 972 859 804 659 530 2 120

Lease agreement liabilities* 480 369 96 8 7 -
Total 5 452 1 228 900 667 537 2 120
Short-term financial liabilities
   Credit facility 1 683
   Loans from financial institutions 856
   Lease agreement liabilities 568
Total 3 107

PAYMENT SCHEDULE FOR THE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group’s bank loans are based on variable interest rates and their fair values correspond to their carrying amounts in 
the balance sheet. The bank loans’ average interest rate based on short market interest rates, was  
approximately 1.9% at the end of 2019 (1,9%).

Two of the loans from financial institutions were withdrawn in Swedish crowns to finance the Swedish contract sales premis-
es acquisition. Of these EUR 0,3 million are due within a year, EUR 0,9 million are due within 2-4 years and EUR 1,5 million 
are due after 5 years from the reporting date. All interest-bearing liabilities were in euros in 2018.

* The IFRS 16 Lease Agreements -standard was implemented as of 1.1.2019. The majority of lease agreements are recognized 
as right-of-use assets, which include buildings, and machinery and equipment, such as cars and printing devices. The standard 
was implemented utilizing the simplified method, hence the comparison period 2018 has not been adjusted according to the 
changed reporting requirements.
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24. LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES’ CHANGES

EUR 1000 Jan 1, 2019 Cash flow

Foreign  
exchange  
difference

Fair value 
change Other change Dec 31, 2019

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 1 258 4 107 -41 - -352 4 972
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 1 151 996 -5 - 397 2 539

Total 2 409 5 103 -46 - 45 7 511

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES’ CHANGES

EUR 1000 Jan 1, 2018 Cash flow Acquisitions

Foreign  
exchange  
difference

Fair value 
change Dec 31, 2018

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 1 677 -524 105 - - 1 258
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 736 378 37 - - 1 151

Total 2 414 -146 142 - - 2 409
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24. LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Fair values of the financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  
 
This fair value hierarchy presents the valuation methods for different financial instru-
ments:

December 31, 2019 (EUR 1000) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Loans from financial institutions 5 828 5 828
Credit facility 1 683 1 683
Leasing liabilities * 1 048 1 048
Total 8 559 0 0 8 559

December 31, 2018 (EUR 1000) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Loans from financial institutions 1 676 1 676
Credit facility 588 588
Finance lease liabilities * 11 11
Pension loans 134 134
Total 2 409 0 0 2 409

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY LEVELS
The fair values of the financial liabilities on the 
hierarchy level 1 are based on quoted market 
prices of similar financial instruments traded 
in an active market. Currently there are no 
financial liabilities on level 1.

The fair values of the financial liabilities on the 
hierarchy level 2 are based on other price 
information than quoted market prices for a 
significant part of the valuation. This informa-
tion is supported by observable market inputs 
either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. 
derived from prices). Currently there are no 
financial liabilities on level 2.

The fair values of the financial liabilities on 
the hierarchy level 3 are calculated using a 
valuation technique based on assumptions 
that are not supported by available observ-
able market data. For example management 
estimates are utilized in generally accepted 
valuation models of the financial instruments 
on the level 3. Majority of the Group’s loans 
are based on variable interest rates and 
mainly the interest is based on e.g. euribor 

market interests of 3 months and thus the 
loans’ fair values are seen to correspond with 
their original book value.

The fair value hierarchy level, into which 
the entire financial instrument is classified, 
is determined based on the lowest-hierar-
chy-level information being significant for the 
valuation of that particular financial asset or 
liability. The significance of the information is 
estimated considering the financial instrument 
in its entirety.

No significant transfers between the hierarchy 
levels took place during the financial period.

* The implementation of the IFRS 16 Lease 
Agreements -standard as of 1.1.2019 was 
prepared utilizing the simplified method, 
hence the comparison period 2018 has not 
been adjusted according to the changed 
reporting requirements.
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25. FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Wulff Group’s internal and external financing 
and financial risk management are mainly 
handled by the parent company. Group 
companies with non-controlling minority share-
holders may make more independent financial 
decisions but always within the limits defined 
by the Group’s Board. In addition to other risk 
management policies, the parent company’s 
Board of Directors determines the principles 
of financial risk management. The goal of risk 
management is to minimise the effects that price 
fluctuations in the financial markets, as well as 
other uncertainty factors may have on result, 
balance sheet and cash flow.

Financial risks include currency risks, interest 
rate risks, liquidity risks and credit risks man-
aged in each subsidiary.

CURRENCY RISKS
Approximately half of the Group’s sales are 
made in euros and the other half is made in 
Swedish, Norwegian and Danish crowns. In 
terms of import, the exposure to currency risks 
affects especially the currency risks of Wulff 
Supplies subgroup through changes between 
Sweden and Norway. The Group has only 
minor transactions in other currencies than 
euros and Nordic currencies. Interest-bearing 
liabilities by currencies are presented in Note 
26 of the consolidated financial statements. 
The Group does not practice any speculative 
hedging. No separate hedging measures 
against currency risk are taken. Conversion 
of other than euro currency transactions to 
local bookkeeping currency euro poses 
currency exchange risk and the fluctuation 
of the currencies affect the Group’s net result 

and financial position. A decrease of 10% 
Swedish and Norwegian crowns financial 
year’s average exchange rate and financial 
year’s ending rate would have decreased 
the financial year’s operating profit by EUR 
61 thousand (49) and net profit and therefore 
equity by EUR 23 thousand (35). In addition 
the translation risk impacts the balance sheet 
value. The aforementioned 10% decrease 
of currency rates would have increased the 
change in translation difference and de-
creased the balance sheet value by  
approximately EUR 108 thousand (185).

INTEREST RATE RISKS
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk 
due to loans from financial institutions bank 
account limit facilities tied with variable and 
fixed interest rates. Changes in market rates 
impact directly the Group’s interest payments 
in the future. More information on the interest 
rates of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities 
is presented in Note 24 of the consolidated 
financial statements. The Group does not make 
any speculative interest rate agreements and to 
date, no interest rate swaps have been utilized 
for managing interest rate risks. One percent-
age point increase of the interest rates in 2019 
would have resulted in 41.9 thousand euros 
(20,5) higher interest expenses, hence 41.9 
thousand euros (20,5) lower equity and a 
0.1 percentage point (0.1) lower equity ratio.

LIQUIDITY RISKS
Group companies operate with their own cash 
flows and if necessary, they are funded also 
with the Group’s internal financing. In order to 
ensure good liquidity, the Group emphasises 

the subsidiaries’ independence in the man-
agement of operating cash flow and working 
capital. Liquidity risk is managed on the group 
level with Group bank account arrangements 
in Finland and Scandinavia. Continuous super-
vision is used to assess and monitor the financ-
ing needed for the subsidiaries’ operations. The 
availability and flexibility of financing is ensured 
with bank account credit limits. On December 
31, 2019 the unused credit limits totalled EUR 
3.8 million (4.0) in Finland. The maturity of 
loans is presented in Note 24.

CREDIT AND DEFAULT RISKS
The uncertainties relating to the general eco-
nomic development in the last few years have 
emphasized the importance of monitoring the 
credit and default risks associated with cus-
tomers and other counterparties. The subsidi-
aries manage their customers’ credit analyses 
and active credit control independently. To-
gether with the local company management, 
the subsidiaries’ working capital management 
and related risks are monitored also on 
division and group level. The Group’s trade 
receivables consist of an extensive customer 
base, and most of the annual sales volume 
is from well-known and solvent customers. 
Consequently, the Group has not considered 
credit guarantees or corresponding methods 
to be necessary. 

The risk management policy of each compa-
ny defines the credit risks and credit worthi-
ness requirements, as well as the terms of de-
livery and payment. Credit risk monitoring is 
primarily the responsibility of the subsidiaries’ 
management, while the parent company’s 

financial management monitors regularly 
the compliance with the risk management 
principles and examines the efficiency of the 
centralised own collection operations and the 
outsourced collection partner. Traditionally the 
group companies’ credit losses have been 
small in relation to their net sales. Aging anal-
ysis of sales receivables is presented in Note 
20 of the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Wulff Group’s capital structure management 
aims to ensure and improve the operating con-
ditions of the group companies and to increase 
the Group’s shareholder value in a sustainable, 
optimal way. The Group’s capital structure is 
evaluated by monitoring the development in eq-
uity ratio where the long-term target is approxi-
mately 40 percent. Group companies operate 
with their own cash flows and if necessary, they 
are funded also with the Group’s internal financ-
ing. The Group emphasises the subsidiaries’ 
independence in the management of operating 
cash flow and working capital. The Group 
Finance controls centrally the group compa-
nies’ working capital management. The Group 
Finance takes centrally care of the external loan 
financing and agrees on the loans’ repayment 
schedules with the financiers.

A part of the Group’s loan agreements include 
covenants, according to which the equity ratio 
shall be 35.0% at minimum and the interest- 
bearing debt/EBITDA ratio shall be 3.5 at 
maximum in the end of each financial year. At 
the end of financial year 2019 there were no 
covenant breaches.
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26. LONG AND SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other non-current liabilities

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Due over a year 646 853

Other non-current liabilities total 646 853

The additional purchase price of the Mavecom 
Palvelut Oy acquisition on 14.8.2018 will be 
paid in cash based on the profitability of the 
company of financial years 2018-2022. The 
additional purchase price has been valued 
at the discounted fair value according to the 
financial years 2018-2019 profitability and the 
estimated profitability of financial years 2020-
2022. The fair value has been discounted 
using the Group’s external margin on addition-
al financing loans according to the additional 
purchase price payment posts. The additional 
purchase price due one year after the report-

ing period is presented in the other current 
liabilities. More information on the acquisition is 
presented in note number 3.

The additional purchase price is a non-interest 
bearing external loan of level 3 as presented 
in notes to the accounts 24, which fair value is 
based on other than publicly observable mar-
ket data, for example management’s estimates 
and their use in generally accepted valuation 
models.

SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Trade payables and advance payments

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Trade payables 5 829 5 226
Trade show cost accruals - 25
Trade show advances from customer contracts 1 478 1 755

Trade payables and advance payments total 7 307 7 006

Trade show cost accruals include the unpaid 
part held trade shows. Advances 1 478 
thousand euros are advances according to the 
customer contracts of future trade shows after 
the reporting period. The company changed  
partial revenue recognition to recognizing 
trade shows at the time of the trade shows ac-
cording to the IFRS 15 standards from 1.1.2018.  
Trade show advances from customer contracts 
at the end of financial year 2017 have been 
fully recognized in revenue during the reporting 
period 2018. 

The trade show contracts total for shows after 
year-end 31.12.2019 was 2 753 thousand 
euros (3 515), which of 1 478 thousand euros 
(1 755) were invoiced and presented as 
advances from customer contracts.
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26. LONG AND SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Value added tax liabilities 1 012 1 069
Additional purchase price 213 120
Other current liabilities 464 402

Other current liabilities total 1 689 1 591

ACCRUED INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Accruals for employee benefits 1 725 1 728
Income tax liabilities 26 0
Interest accruals 6 1
Sales accruals 46 18
Other accruals 532 612

Accrued income and expenses total 2 335 2 359

MATURITY OF SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST- 
BEARING LIABILITIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Due within one month 8 828 7 012
Due 1 month to 6 months 1 912 2 662
Due from 6 months to 1 year 577 1 263
Due from 1 year to 5 years 14 19

Short-term non-interest-bearing liabilities total 11 331 10 956
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27. COMMITMENTS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Mortgages and guarantees on own behalf
   Business mortgage for the Group's loan liabilities 9 550 10 850
   Business mortgages, free 2 457 900
Subsidiary shares pledged as security for group companies' liabilities 8 510 6 953
Pledges and guarantees given for the group companies' off-balance sheet commitments 138 138
Minimum future operating lease payments, total* - 1 689
   of which will be payable:
      in less than one year - 709
      between 1-5 years - 941
      after 5 years - 39

Subsidiary shares pledged as security for group com-
panies’ liabilities are presented here in their book val-
ue in the parent company’s balance sheet and they 
consist of Wulff Entre Oy (2,502 thousand euros), 
Wulff Liikelaskenta Oy (0), Wulff Oy Ab (3,500), S 
Supplies Holding AB (951) and Mutual Real Estate 
Company Kilonkallio1 (1 557). Guarantees will be 
lost if external bank loans fall due.

Rent agreements have been presented on the 
group balance sheet accoring to the IFRS 16 Lease 
agreements -standard on 31.12.2019. The standard 
was implemented utilizing the simplified method as of 
1.1.2019, hence the comparison period 2018 has not 
been adjusted according to the changed reporting 
requirements. Non-cancellable lease agreements for 
office and warehouse premises are made normally 
for 3-5 years and they often include an option to ex-
tend the contract after the original end date. The most 
significant rental commitments was the rent agree-
ment of the brick and mortar shop in Lahti, Finland on 
31.12.2018. The logistics centre in Ljungby, Southern 
Sweden, was acquired in 9.1.2019, of which rent was 
paid until 31.12.2018. Wulff Group Plc has pledged 
the Wulff Supplies AB’s loan from Nordea to Nordea 
raised on 9.1.2019. 

The rents expensed during the financial year are 
presented in Note 8.
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28. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION

SUMMARY OF BOARD MEMBERS’ BENEFITS TOTAL

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Board members' salaries and fees
   Kari Juutilainen 4/2018- Chairman of the Board 4/2019- 15 11
   Jussi Vienola 4/2018- 15 11
   Kristina Vienola 4/2018- 15 17
   Ari Pikkarainen, Chairman of the Board 9/2017-4/2019 15 15
   Heikki Vienola, Member of the Board -4/2018 - -
   Johanna Marin -4/2018 - 4
   Andreas Tallberg -4/2018 - 4

Board members' benefits total 60 62

Group’s related parties consist of parent 
company’s Board of Directors and Group 
Executive Board members, which is the man-
agement of the Group.

The Group’s parent and subsidiary relation-
ships have been presented in Note 29. The 
Group does not have any investments in 
associates or joint ventures.

SUMMARY OF TOP MANAGEMENT’S EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Group management board's salaries and other short term remuneration 625 557
Fringe Benefits 44 38
Bonuses 58 70
Group management board's other long term remuneration, additional pension benefits 35 44
Top management's employee benefits total 762 710
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REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD 
MEMBERS
According to the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the Annual General Meeting 
determines the remuneration of the Board 
Members. The fees of the Board Mem-
bers are paid in fixed amounts of cash. 
In 2019 and 2018 a monthly fee of EUR 
1,250 was paid to the Chairman and 
those Board Members. Group CEO did 
not receive a monthly fee of the Board 
work when he was employed by the 
Company. 

The Group has not granted loans, 
guarantees or other contingencies to the 
Board Members.

REMUNERATION OF THE GROUP 
CEO
The Board determines the Group CEO’s 
remuneration and other contractual issues. 
The Group CEO is entitled to statutory 
pension. Pension age nor additional pen-

Sales and purchases with the related parties consist of normal, market-priced transactions with the non-
group companies under control of influence of the Board members or top management. The purchases 
from related parties include communication and marketing director service EUR 72 thousand (72). 

 
The Group had no loan receivable from a company under influence of a related party at year-end 
2019 or 2018. 

In addition to this, the Group Companies have made payments to each other for e.g. products and ser-
vices. These internal income and expenses have been eliminated within the Group Financial Statements 
according to the ordinary group consolidation regulations.

BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Sales to related parties 53 42
Purchases from related parties 178 149

sion benefits have not been determined 
in the Group CEO contracts.

The Board appointed Elina Pienimäki as 
the Wulff Group Plc CEO on September 
17, 2019 and she started in her position 
on September 30, 2019. In 2019, the 
remuneration of CEO Elina Pienimäki 
consisted of monetary wages and fringe 
benefits of the amount of EUR 39 thou-
sand. The Group CEO’s service contract 
does not include share-based incentives, 
bonus schemes or any other long-term 
remuneration plans.  The Group CEO is 
entitled to bonus holiday pay and to a 
bonus scheme to be determined later.  
The period of notice is three months from 
the Group CEO side and six months from 
the company’s side. In case the com-
pany resigns the Group CEO contract 
one-sidedly the Group CEO is entitled 
to a severance payment equal to three 
months salary.

The Board appointed Heikki Vienola as 
the Wulff Group CEO on 25.9.2017. Re-
muneration of Heikki Vienola, who acted 
as the Group CEO until September 29, 
2019, consisted of salaries paid in cash 
and fringe benefits, a total of EUR 60 
thousand (60). 
In the written Group CEO contract usual 
mutual resignation times and possible 
other fees have been determined.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR  
MANAGEMENT
Remuneration of senior management con-
sists of salaries paid in cash, fringe ben-
efits, additional pensions, annually-de-
termined performance-based bonuses 
and possible share-based incentives. In 
addition to fixed monthly salaries, a part 
of the payments is based on financial 
performance and the person’s individual 
goal-setting. No share-based incentives 
were paid in 2019 or 2018.

The Group CEO determines the contrac-
tual terms, salaries and possible other 
benefits and incentives of the Executive 
Board Members. The remuneration of 
the Group Executive Board is presented 
in the attached table. In 2019 and 2018, 
the Group Executive Board consisted 
of Ninni Arion, Trond Fikseaunet, Elina 
Hanén, Tarja Törmänen, Veijo Ågerfalk 
and Group CEO Heikki Vienola until Oc-
tober 17, 2019 and Elina Pienimäki from 
September 30, 2019. 

Of the Executive Board members, Tarja 
Törmänen’s communication and mar-
keting director service is obtained as a 
outsourced service and during 2019, 
the service costs amounted to EUR 72 
thousand (72). The outsourced service is 
included in other operating expenses and 
has been presented also in the note for 
Related Party transactions.
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29. GROUP COMPANIES

Companies by countries Operating segment Group's ownership and 
voting rights %

Parent company's 
ownership and voting 
rights %

1. Parent company Wulff Group Plc, Finland Group Services

Subsidiaries in Finland:
2. Mutual Real Estate Company Kilonkallio 1 Group Services 100% 100%
3. Mavecom Palvelut Oy Contract Customers 100% 100%
4. Naxor Finland Oy Expertise Sales 75% 0%
5. Naxor Holding Oy Expertise Sales 75% 75%
6. Wulff Entre Oy Contract Customers 100% 100%
7. Wulff Leasing Oy Group Services 100% 0%
8. Wulff Liikelaskenta Oy Group Services 100% 100%
9. Torkkelin Paperi Oy Contract Customers 100% 0%
10. Wulff Oy Ab Contract Customers 100% 100%

Subsidiaries in Sweden:
11. Wulff Beltton AB Expertise Sales 75% 75%
12. Office Solutions Svenska AB Expertise Sales 75% 0%
13. S Supplies Holding AB Contract Customers 89% 89%
14. Wulff Supplies AB Contract Customers 89% 0%
15. Fastigheten Ljungby 13 AB Contract Customers 89% 0%

Subsidiaries in Norway:
16. Beltton AS Expertise Sales 80% 0%
17. Wulff Supplies AS Contract Customers 89% 0%

Subsidiary in Denmark:

18. Wulff Supplies A/S Contract Customers 89% 0%
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PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENT, FAS
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PARENT COMPANY’S INCOME STATEMENT, FAS

EUR Note Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2019 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2018

Net sales 2 296 021.18 279 995.00
Other operating income 3 130 806.09 59 570.44
Personnel expenses 4 -315 029.13 -271 610.62
Other operating expenses 5 -389 118.86 -376 273.91
Depreciation and amortization according to plan 6 -156 088.67 -154 041.85

Operating profit/loss -433 409.39 -462 360.94
Financial income 7 998 988.87 115 758.56
Financial expenses 7 -286 339.08 -156 031.16

Profit/Loss before appropriations 279 240.40 -502 633.54
Appropriations 8 282 878.49 570 000.00

Profit/Loss before taxes 562 118.89 67 366.46
Income taxes 9 49 722.02 -12 144.58

Net profit/loss for the period 611 840.91 55 221.88
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

EUR Note Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets
   Trademarks 10 1 800 000.00 1 950 000.00
Tangible assets
   Machinery and equipment 10 8 924.93 7 008.33
   Other tangible assets 10 65 543.40 -
Investments
   Shares in Group companies 11 10 265 264.91 8 709 517.70
Non-current receivables
   Non-current receivables from Group companies 12 5 716 990.75 5 991 024.29
Deferred tax receivables 159 464.82 109 742.80

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 18 016 188.81 16 767 293.12

CURRENT ASSETS
Current receivables
   Trade receivables 48 484.00 45 384.00
   Receivables from Group companies 12 411 165.83 680 616.47
   Prepaid expenses and accrued income 13 44 426.00 30 146.05
Current receivables total 504 075.83 756 146.52

Cash and cash equivalents 14 13 982.31 12 807.62

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 518 058.14 768 954.14

TOTAL ASSETS 18 534 246.95 17 536 247.26
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PARENT COMPANY’S BALANCE SHEET, FAS

EUR Note Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS´EQUITY
Share capital 15 2 650 000.00 2 650 000.00
Share premium fund 15 7 889 591.50 7 889 591.50
Treasury shares 15 -260 070.00 -260 070.00
Invested unrestricted equity fund 15 676 051.20 676 051.20
Retained earnings 15 603 499.65 1 231 140.57
Net profit for the financial year 15 611 840.91 55 221.88

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS´EQUITY 15 12 170 913.26 12 241 935.15

EUR Note Dec 31, 2019 Dec 31, 2018

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
   Loans from credit institutions 16 2 551 726.93 1 191 488.89
   Other non-interest bearing liabilities 17 673 887.00 898 184.00
Total Non-current liabilities 3 225 613.93 2 089 672.89

Current liabilities
   Loans from credit institutions 16 2 223 140.06 927 488.23
   Pension loans 16 - 17 270.00
   Trade payables 76 769.34 25 930.89
   Amounts owed to group companies 18 557 451.54 2 065 617.48
   Other liabilities 17 230 724.04 139 706.78
   Accrued liabilities and deferred income 19 49 634.78 28 625.84
Total current liabilities 3 137 719.76 3 204 639.22

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6 363 333.69 5 294 312.11

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 18 534 246.95 17 536 247.26
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

EUR 1000 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2019 Jan 1 - Dec 31, 2018

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS:
Payments received from sales 261 208
Payments received from other operating income 131 60
Amounts paid for operating expenses -527 -387

CASH FLOW FROM BUSINESS OPERATIONS BEFORE FINANCIAL ITEMS AND TAXES -136 -120
Interests and other financial costs paid -142 -78

Interest received from operations 153 116

Dividend received from operations 799 -

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 675 -82

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES:
Investments in intangible and tangible assets -74 -2
Acquisition of shares in subsidiaries -1 675 -

Loans granted -2 421 -

Loan receivables repaid 970 270

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES -3 200 267

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES:
Dividend distribution paid -683 -326
Dividends received 7 -
Cash paid for changes in non-controlling interest - -44
Group contributions received and paid (net) 570 136
Group balance accounts (net) 1 096 426
Repayments of short-term loans -6 -8
Withdrawals of long-term loans 2 000 -

Repayments of long-term loans -457 -357

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 2 527 -173

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1 12

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ON JANUARY 1 13 1

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ON DECEMBER 1 14 13
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Wulff Group Plc’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Finnish account-
ing legislation whereas the consolidated financial statements are prepared according to IFRS 
standards. The accounting principles applied in the consolidated financial statements are 
described in the notes of the consolidated financial statements.

Statutory pensions are taken care of in an external pension company and pensions are 
expensed when incurred.

Income taxes are booked based on the Finnish tax and accounting regulations.

Non-current intangible and tangible assets are valued in their acquisition prices deducted by 
depreciations according to plan. 

2. NET SALES
Net sales consist of sales income deducted by value added taxes and discounts. Service 
income is recognized upon the delivery of the service. Parent company’s net sales consist of 
only administrational services in Finland.

3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
EUR 1000 2019 2018

Rental income 99 43
Other 32 17

Total 131 60

THE AMORTIZATION AND DEPRECIATION TIMES ACCORDING  
TO PLAN ARE:

Trademarks:   20 year straight-line basis
Intangible asset:                        5 years straight-line basis
IT equipment:                             3 years straight-line basis
Other machines and equipment:  8 years straight-line basis 
Other tangible assets:                5-10 years straight-line basis
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4. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Information about the management’s 
employment benefits and loans is 
presented in Note 28 of the Consol-
idated Financial Statements. Informa-
tion about loans to related parties is 
presented under Shares and share-
holders.

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Salaries, wages and fees 270 227
Pension expenses 41 42
Other personnel expenses 5 3

Total 315 272

5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Travel and car expenses 17 15
ICT expenses 9 15
Marketing, PR and entertainment expenses 50 49
Fees to auditors * 9 6
Bank expenses 62 60
Other 242 231

Total 389 376

 * Fees to auditors:

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Audit 9 6
Tax services - -
Other services - -

Total 9 6

Average number of employees in accounting period 2 2
Personnel at the end of period 3 2
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6. AMORTIZATION AND DEPRECIATION DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
EUR 1000 2019 2018

Amortization of intangible assets:
   Trademarks 150 150
   Other intangible assets - -

Total amortization of intangible assets 150 150

Depreciation of tangible assets:
   Machinery and equipment 6 4

Total depreciation of tangible assets 6 4

Total amortization and depreciation 156 154

7. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Financial income:
   Dividends from group companies 799 -
   Other interest and financial income from group companies 151 112
   Other interest and financial income from others 49 4

Total 999 116

Financial expenses:
   Interest expenses to group companies -112 -12
   Interest expenses to others -110 -66
   Foreign exchange losses -24 -74
   Other financial expenses -40 -4

Total -286 -156

Financial income and expenses total 713 -40
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8. APPROPRIATIONS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Appropriations: group contributions received 283 570

Total 283 570

9. INCOME TAXES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Change in deferred tax asset 50 -12

Total 50 -12

INCOME TAXES IN THE INCOME STATEMENT:

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Deferred tax receivables 159 110

INCOME TAXES IN THE BALANCE SHEET:
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10. INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS

2019 Trademarks Intangible assets total Other tangible assets Machinery and equipment Tangible assets total

Acquisition cost, Jan 1 3 000 3 000 - 177 177
Additions - - 67 6 73

Acquisition cost, Dec 31 3 000 3 000 67 183 250

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Jan 1 -1 050 -1 050 - -170 -170
Depreciation during the period -150 -150 -2 -5 -6

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Dec 31 -1 200 -1 200 -2 -175 -176

Book value, Jan 1 1 950 1 950 - 7 7
Book value, Dec 31 1 800 1 800 66 9 74

2018 Trademarks Intangible assets total Other tangible assets Machinery and equipment Tangible assets total

Acquisition cost, Jan 1 3 000 3 000 - 175 175
Additions - - - 2 2

Acquisition cost, Dec 31 3 000 3 000 - 177 177

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Jan 1 -900 -900 - -166 -166
Depreciation during the period -150 -150 - -4 -4

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Dec 31 -1 050 -1 050 - -170 -170

Book value, Jan 1 2 100 2 100 - 9 9
Book value, Dec 31 1 950 1 950 - 7 7
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11. SHARES IN GROUP COMPANIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Acquisition cost, Jan 1 12 973 11 395
Additions 1 557 1 577

Acquisition cost, Dec 31 14 529 12 973

Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Jan 1 -4 264 -4 264
Accumulated depreciation and impairment, Dec 31 -4 264 -4 264

Book value, Jan 1 8 709 7 132
Book value, Dec 31 10 265 8 709

12. RECEIVABLES FROM GROUP COMPANIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Non-current:
   Capital loans 2 481 3 231
   Other loans 3 236 2 760

Non-current receivables total 5 717 5 991

Current:
   Trade receivables 52 53
   Other receivables 77 58
   Accrued income and expenses 283 570

Current receivables total 411 681

Receivables from group companies total 6 128 6 672

On April 15, 2019 Wulff Group Plc aqcuired 
Mutual Real Estate Company Kilonkallio 1. 
Wulff Group Plc moved to the new premises on 
September 16, 2019.

On August 14, 2018, Wulff Group Plc acquired 
the entire share capital of Mavecom Palvelut Ltd 
that specializes in printing solutions. More infor-
mation on the acquisition is given in note 17.

In July 2018, Wulff Group Plc acquired a 
two percent share of the share capital of 
S Supplies Holding AB and owns 89% of 
the share capital of the company after the 
acquisition. The purchase price was EUR 
44 thousand. The book value of S Supplies 
Holding AB’s net assets was EUR 2.3 million 
without goodwill at the end of December 
2018. 

On April 15, 2019 Wulff Group Plc acquired 
Mutual Real Estate Company Kilonkallio 1.  
Wulff Group Plc has got a EUR 695 million loan 
receivable from the Mutual Real Estate Company.
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13. PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Accruals for employee benefits - 3

Other accruals 44 26

Total 44 29

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Carrying amount, Jan 1 13 1

Additions during the financial year 1 12

Total 14 13
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15. EQUITY

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Share capital as of Jan 1 2 650 2 650
Share capital as of Dec 31 2 650 2 650

Share premium fund as of Jan 1 7 889 7 889
Share premium fund as of Dec 31 7 889 7 889

Invested unrestricted equity fund as of Jan 1 676 223
Directed share issue* - 453
Invested unrestricted equity fund as of Dec 31 676 676

Treasury shares as of Jan 1 -260 -260
Acquisitions of treasury shares

Treasury shares as of Dec 31 -260 -260

Retained earnings from previous financial years as of Jan 1 1 287 1 558
Dividend distribution -683 -326
Retained earnings from previous financial years as of Dec 31 604 1 232
Net profit for the financial year 612 55
Retained earnings total as of Dec 31 1 216 1 287

Equity total as of Dec 31 12 171 12 242

Distributable funds in euros as of Dec 31 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Invested unrestricted equity fund 676 051.20 676 051.20
Treasury shares -260 070.00 -260 070.00
Retained earnings from previous financial years 603 499.65 1 231 140.57
Net profit for the financial year 611 840.91 55 221.88

Distributable funds total 1 631 321.76 1 702 343.65

* Information on the change of the invested 
unrestricted equity fund is given in note 17.
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

PAYMENT SCHEDULE FOR THE LOANS

Book value Payment schedule 
(years):

EUR 1000 Dec 31, 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Later

Non-current
Loans from financial institutions 2 551 540 498 371 243 900

Total 2 551 540 498 371 243 900
Current
Loans from financial institutions 2 223 2 223

Total 2 223 2 223

17.  OTHER LONG-TERM AND SHORT-TERM NON-INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Other long-term non-interest bearing liabilities 674 898
Other short-term non-interest bearing liabilities* 213 120

Total 887 1 018

*The short-term portion of the additional purchase price is presented in 
other short-term non-interest bearing liabilities.

On August 14, 2018, Wulff Group Plc ac-
quired the entire share capital of Mavecom 
Palvelut Ltd that specializes in printing solutions. 
The preliminary purchase price for the share 
capital of Mavecom was approximately EUR 
1.5 million. The purchase prices consisted of 
directed share issue and additional price to be 
paid in cash:

With the authorization granted by the Annual 
General Meeting to the Board of Directors, 
Wulff Group Plc carried out a directed share 
issue of 300,000 shares to the owners of 
Mavecom Palvelut Ltd. The value of the new 
shares was approximately EUR 0.5 million. 
The share subscription price corresponded 
to the volume weighted average price of 
the company’s shares quoted on NASDAQ 
OMX Helsinki Ltd (”Helsinki Stock Exchange”) 
between May 1, 2018 and July 31, 2018. The 

directed share issue increased Wulff Group 
Plc’s invested unrestricted equity by EUR 0.5 
million.

 

The final additional purchase price of the 
shares will be paid in cash based on the 
profitability of Mavecom Palvelut Ltd’s business 
during 2018-2022. No fixed amount has been 
set for the conditional additional purchase 
price and no value range for the additional 
purchase price is presented due to the nature 
of the business. The unpaid portion of the esti-
mated additional purchase price is presented 
in non-interest-bearing long-term liabilities EUR 
0.7 million and in non-interest-bearing short-
term liabilities EUR 0.2 million. During financial 
year 2019 EUR 120 thousand was paid in cash 
of the acquisition. The additional purchase 
price is paid yearly on the basis of the ap-
proved financial statements of the subsidiary.

Loans from financial institutions include a short-term bank account credit limit.
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Book value Payment schedule 
(years):

EUR 1000 Dec 31, 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Later

Non-current
Loans from financial institutions 2 551 540 498 371 243 900

Total 2 551 540 498 371 243 900
Current
Loans from financial institutions 2 223 2 223

Total 2 223 2 223

18. AMOUNTS OWED TO GROUP COMPANIES

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Accounts payable 197 10
Other short-term liabilities 360 2 056

Total 557 2 066

19. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INCOME

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Accruals for employee benefits 30 19
Interest accruals 12 4
Other accruals 7 6

Total 50 29
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20. COMMITMENTS

EUR 1000 2019 2018

Mortgages and guarantees on own behalf
   Subsidiary shares pledged as security for own liabilities 8 510 6 953
   Own business mortgages given as quarantee for own liabilities 5 600 5 600
Mortgages and guarantees on behalf of subsidiaries
   Guarantees for the loans of subsidiaries 234 234
   Pledges and guarantees given for the group companies' off-balance sheet commitments (rents, customs etc) 580 580

Minimum future operating lease payments, total
   of which will be payable:
      in less than one year - 65
      between 1-5 years - -
      after 5 years - -

Subsidiary shares pledged as security for 
group’s liabilities are presented as book 
values and they consist of Wulff Entre Oy        
(2 502 thousand euros), Wulff Oy Ab        
(3 500), S Supplies Holding AB (951) and 
Mutual Real Estate Company Kilonkallio 1 
(1 557).

On September 16, 2019 Wulff Group Plc 
moved  into its own premises.

Wulff Group Plc has pledged the Wulff 
Supplies AB’s loan from Nordea to Nordea 
raised on 9.1.2019. The loan was raised to 
acquire the subsidiary’s logistic center on 
9.1.2019.
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SIGNATURES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND  
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Signatures of the Board and Group CEO to the Financial Statements 

Espoo, March 9, 2020
 

Elina Pienimäki
CEO 

 

Kari Juutilainen Ari Pikkarainen 
Chairman of the Board Member of the Board

Jussi Vienola Kristina Vienola 
Member of the Board Member of the Board

Auditor’s note

We have today submitted the report on the conducted audit.
 
Helsinki, March 9, 2020 

BDO Oy,
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Juha Selänne
Authorized Public Accountant
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AUDITOR’S REPORT 
(TRANSLATION OF THE FINNISH ORIGINAL)

To the Annual General Meeting of 
Wulff-Yhtiöt Oyj

Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements 
of Wulff-Yhtiöt Oyj (business identity 
code 1454963-5) for the year ended 31 
December, 2019. The financial statements 
comprise the consolidated balance sheet, 
income statement, statement of compre-
hensive income, statement of changes 
in equity, statement of cash flows and 
notes, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as well as the parent 
company’s balance sheet, income state-
ment, statement of cash flows and notes. 

In our opinion
•the consolidated financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the group’s 
financial position, financial perfor-
mance and cash flows in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU

•the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the parent company’s finan-
cial performance and financial position 

in accordance with the laws and 
regulations governing the preparation 
of financial statements in Finland and 
comply with statutory requirements.

Our opinion is consistent with the addi-
tional report submitted to the Board of 
Directors.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with good auditing practice in Finland. 
Our responsibilities under good auditing 
practice are further described in the Au-
ditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the parent 
company and of the group companies 
in accordance with the ethical require-
ments that are applicable in Finland and 
are relevant to our audit, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

We have not provided any non-audit 
services to the parent company or group 
companies. 

We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropri-
ate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in 
our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion there-
on, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

We have also addressed the risk of man-
agement override of internal controls. This 
includes consideration of whether there 
was evidence of management bias that 
represented a risk of material misstate-
ment due to fraud. Key audit matter in the 
audit of the group - 

Valuation of inventories 
We refer to the Basis for Preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and 
to the note 18 in the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

The inventory balance in the consolidated 
financial statements amounted to EUR 6.9 
million.

•Inventories are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realizable value in the 
financial statements.

•The Group’s business and the nature 
of industry in which the Group op-
erates require maintaining a certain 
level of inventories and product range. 
Inventories may include slow-moving 
items. This also increases the risk that 
the carrying amounts of inventory items 
exceed their net realizable values.

•This matter is a significant risk of 
material misstatement referred to in EU 
Regulation No 537/241, point (c) of 
Article 10(2).

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

•We tested manual and automatic con-
trols designed to ensure the accuracy 
of inventory pricing and performed 
substantive audit procedures. 

•Using data analytics, we compared 
the products’ inventory values at the 
year end to product revenues received 
and reviewed possible negative mar-
gins and the reasons to the negative 
margins.

•We analyzed the turnover rates of 
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stock products and their development.
•We tested the adequacy of the write-

downs at the financial year end, for ex-
ample by comparing the development 
of the amount of the stock items with 
low turnover rates to the prior year. 

Key audit matter in the audit of the 
group - Impairment of goodwill 
We refer to the Basis for Preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and 
to the note 15.

The value of goodwill in the consolidat-
ed balance sheet amounted to EUR 8.1 
million.

•Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested 
annually for impairment. An impairment 
loss is recognized when the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recov-
erable amount.

•Determination of the key assumptions 
in future cash flow forecasts underlying 
the impairment tests requires manage-
ment make judgements over certain 
key inputs, for example discount rate, 
growth rates and profitability levels.

•This matter is a significant risk of 
material misstatement referred to in EU 
Regulation No 537/241, point (c) of 
Article 10(2).

How our audit addressed the Key Audit 
Matter

•We assessed the allocation basis, i.e. 
the allocation of goodwill to the tested 

cash-generating units complies with 
the allocation principles defined by the 
company.

•We evaluated the reliability of the 
Group’s business plans and budgeting 
procedures and assessed the historical 
accuracy of forecasts by comparing 
the actual results for the year 2019 with 
the forecasts made in previous years.

•We involved our own valuation spe-
cialist when assessing the assumptions 
used in determining the discount rate to 
market and industry information.

•Furthermore, we considered the 
accuracy of sensitivity analysis and the 
appropriateness of the notes in respect 
of impairment testing.

Key audit matter in the audit of the 
parent company - Valuation of the 
subsidiary shares and long-term 
receivables 
We refer to the Basis for Preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and 
the Notes to the Parent Company finan-
cial statements 11 and 12.

The equity of the parent company is EUR 
12.2 million as of December 31, 2019, of 
which the distributable equity amounts to 
EUR 1.6 million.

•A significant portion of the parent 
company’s assets consist of investments 
in the subsidiaries. The subsidiary shares 
and long-term loan receivables amount 
to EUR 16.0 million as of December 
31, 2019. The measurement of these 

investments has a material impact 
when calculating the parent company’s 
distributable equity.

•According to the Finnish Bookkeeping 
Act, if the fair value of the long-term 
investment is evaluated to be perma-
nently lower than the book value, the 
difference must be written down.

•Cash-flow based impairment tests 
are performed also for the subsidiary 
shares.

•Determination of the key assumptions 
in future cash flow forecasts underlying 
the impairment tests requires manage-
ment to make judgements over certain 
key inputs, for example business plans, 
discount rate, growth rates and profita-
bility levels.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit 
Matter

•We evaluated the reliability of the 
Group’s budgeting procedures and 
assessed the historical accuracy of 
forecasts by comparing the actual re-
sults for the year 2019 with the forecasts 
made in previous years.

•We involved our own valuation spe-
cialist when assessing the assumptions 
used in determining the discount rate to 
market and industry information.

•We assessed the assumptions used in 
the valuation of the subsidiary shares 
and long-term receivables to market 
and industry information.

 

Responsibilities of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Managing Director for 
the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Man-
aging Director are responsible for the 
preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the EU, and of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the laws and regulations governing 
the preparation of financial statements in 
Finland and comply with statutory require-
ments. The Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for assessing the 
parent company’s and the group’s ability 
to continue as going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern ba-
sis of accounting. The financial statements 
are prepared using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless there is an 
intention to liquidate the parent company 
or the group or cease operations, or there 
is no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the  
Audit of Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance on whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conduct-
ed in accordance with good auditing 
practice will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually 
or in aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with 
good auditing practice, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain pro-
fessional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 
•Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures respon-
sive to those risks, and obtain audit evi-
dence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstate-
ment resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, inten-
tional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the par-
ent company’s or the group’s internal 
control. 

•Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates and related disclosures made by 
management.

•Conclude on the appropriateness of 
the Board of Directors’ and the Man-
aging Director’s use of the going con-
cern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the parent compa-
ny’s or the group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are re-
quired to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclo-
sures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause 
the parent company or the group to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

•Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions 
and events so that the financial state-
ments give a true and fair view.

•Obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged 
with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our 
audit.

We also provide those charged with 
governance with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical re-
quirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safe-
guards.

From the matters communicated with 
those charged with governance, we 
determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s 

report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to out-
weigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

Information on our audit engagement
We were first appointed as auditors by 
the Annual General Meeting on April 4, 
2017, and our appointment represents a 
total period of uninterrupted engagement 
of 3 years.

Other Information
The Board of Directors and the Man-
aging Director are responsible for the 
other information. The other information 
comprises the report of the Board of 
Directors and the information included in 
in the Annual Report, but does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. We have obtained the 
report of the Board of Directors prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report, and the 
Annual Report is expected to be made 
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information.
In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identi-
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fied above and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. With respect to the report of the 
Board of Directors, our responsibility also 
includes considering whether the report of 
the Board of Directors has been pre-
pared in accordance with the applicable 
laws and regulations.

In our opinion, the information in the 
report of the Board of Directors is con-
sistent with the information in the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors has been prepared in ac-
cordance with the applicable laws and 
regulations.

If, based on the work we have performed 
on the other information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 
we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Espoo, March 9, 2020

BDO Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Juha Selänne
Authorized Public Accountant
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Wulff Group Plc 
Kilonkartanontie 3 
02610 Espoo 
tel. +358 300 870 410 
info@wulff.fi 
www.wulff.fi 

Wulff Oy Ab
Kilonkartanontie 3
02610 Espoo
tel. +358 300 870 410
asiakaspalvelu@wulff.fi
www.wulff.fi

Wulff Entre 
Riihitontuntie 7 C 
02200 Espoo 
tel. +358 10 633 5500 
sales@wulffentre.com 
www.wulffentre.com

Wulff Torkkeli 
Shopping Centre Maili 
Ajokatu 55 
15500 Lahti 
p. 0300 870 410 
asiakaspalvelu@wulff.fi 
www.wulfftorkkeli.fi

WULFF IN FINLAND

Wulff Naxor 
Kilonkartanontie 3 
02610 Espoo 
tel. +358 300 870 415 
myynti@wulffnaxor.fi 
www.wulffnaxor.fi 

Wulff Innovations
Kilonkartanontie 3
02610 Espoo
tel. +358 300 870 405
myynti@wulffinnovaatiot.fi
www.wulffinnovaatiot.fi

Wulff Ergonomics
Kilonkartanontie 3
02610 Espoo
tel. +358 300 870 405
myynti@wulffergonomia.fi
www.wulffergonomia.fi

Canon Business Center 
Vantaa
Kilonkartanontie 3
02610 Espoo
tel. +358 20 758 9700
myynti@mavecom.fi
www.mavecom.fi
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Group’s employees in Finland can be reached at: 

firstname.surname@wulff.fi.

WULFF ABROAD

Beltton AS
Postboks 218
9486 Harstad, Norway
tel. +47 22 55 00 60
post@wulffbeltton.no
www.wulffbeltton.se

Wulff Supplies AS
Østensjøveien 36
0667 Oslo, Norway
tel. +47 810 30 123
kundeservice@wulffsupplies.no
www.wulffsupplies.no

Wulff Supplies AS
Kirkebjerg Parkvej 12
2605 Brøndby, Denmark
tel. +46 372 775 600
kundeservice@wulffsupplies.dk
www.wulffsupplies.dk

Wulff Supplies AB
Näsvägen 2 B
341 34 Ljungby, Sweden
tel. +46 372 775 600
kundservice@wulffsupplies.se
www.wulffsupplies.se

Wulff Beltton AB
Box 561 (Åkerbärsvägen 26)
611 10 Nyköping, Sweden
tel. +46 155 29 26 00
info@beltton.se
www.wulffbeltton.se

Wulff Solutions AB
Box 575 (Åkerbärsvägen 26)
611 10 Nyköping, Sweden
tel. +46 155 20 51 70
info@wulffsolutions.se
www.wulffsolutions.se

WULFF STORES

Wulffinkulma & Outlet Helsinki
Ristipellontie 23
00390 Helsinki
tel. +358 300 870 412
helsinki@wulffinkulma.fi

Wulffinkulma & Outlet Turku
Läntinen Pitkäkatu 21-23
20100 Turku
tel. +358 300 870 413
turku@wulffinkulma.fi  

Wulff Torkkeli
Kauppakeskus Maili
Ajokatu 55
15500 Lahti
tel. +358 300 870 410 
asiakaspalvelu@wulff.fi
www.wulfftorkkeli.fi

SHOWROOMS/OFFICES

Wulff Turku
Läntinen Pitkäkatu 21-23
20100 Turku
tel. +358 300 870 413

Wulff Åland
Storagatan 15
22100 Mariehamn
tel. +358 40 757 0859

Online store
www.wulffinkulma.fi



 124  Annual Report 2019

WULFF GROUP PLC  |  Kilonkartanontie 3  |  02610 Espoo  |  tel. +358 300 870 410  |  Business ID 1454963-5  |  wulff.fi

A better world – one workplace at a time. 


